# Standard Format and Content

of a license application for a Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility

Safety Analysis Report

# U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards

January 1988



#### NOTICE

#### Availability of Reference Materials Cited in NRC Publications

Most documents cited in NRC publications will be available from one of the following sources:

- The NRC Public Document Room, 1717 H Street, N.W.;
   Washington, DC 20555
- The Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Post Office Box 37082, Washington, DC 20013-7082
- 3. The National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161

Although the listing that follows represents the majority of documents cited in NRC publications, it is not intended to be exhaustive.

Referenced documents available for inspection and copying for a fee from the NRC Public Document Room include NRC correspondence and internal NRC memoranda; NRC Office of Inspection and Enforcement bulletins, circulars, information notices, inspection and investigation notices; Licensee Event Reports; vendor reports and correspondence; Commission papers; and applicant and licensee documents and correspondence.

The following documents in the NUREG series are available for purchase from the GPO Sales Program: formal NRC staff and contractor reports, NRC-sponsored conference proceedings, and NRC booklets and brochures. Also available are Regulatory Guides, NRC regulations in the Code of Federal Regulations, and Nuclear Regulatory Commission Issuances.

Documents available from the National Technical Information Service include NUREG series reports and technical reports prepared by other federal agencies and reports prepared by the Atomic Energy Commission, forerunner agency to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

Documents available from public and special technical libraries include all open literature items, such as books, journal and periodical articles, and transactions. *Federal Register* notices, federal and state legislation, and congressional reports can usually be obtained from these libraries.

Documents such as theses, dissertations, foreign reports and translations, and non-NRC conference proceedings are available for purchase from the organization sponsoring the publication cited.

Single copies of NRC draft reports are available free, to the extent of supply, upon written request to the Division of Information Support Services, Distribution Section, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555.

Copies of industry codes and standards used in a substantive manner in the NRC regulatory process are maintained at the NRC Library, 7920 Norfolk Avenue, Bethesda, Maryland, and are available there for reference use by the public. Codes and standards are usually copyrighted and may be purchased from the originating organization or, if they are American National Standards, from the American National Standards Institute, 1430 Broadway, New York, NY 10018.

#### ABSTRACT

This document discusses the information that should be provided in the Safety Analysis Report and establishes a uniform format for presenting the information necessary to fulfill the licensing requirements for land disposal of radioactive waste called for in 10 CFR 61.

The uniform format will (1) help ensure that the Safety Analysis Report contains the information required by 10 CFR 61, (2) aid the applicant and NRC staff in ensuring that the information is complete, (3) help persons reading the Safety Analysis Report to locate information, and (4) contribute to shortening the time needed for the review process.

## CONTENTS

			Page	
ACKN	OWLED	GMENTSION	iii ix xi	
1	GENERAL INFORMATION			
	1.1 1.2 1.3 1.4 1.5 1.6	Introduction  General Facility Description  Schedules  Institutional Information  Material Incorporated by Reference  Conformance to Regulatory Guides  Summary of Principal Review Matters	1-1 1-1 1-4 1-4 1-5 1-5	
2	SITE	CHARACTERISTICS	2-1	
	2.1	Geography, Demography, and Future Developments	2-1	
		2.1.1 Site Location and Description	2-1 2-1	
	2.2	Meteorology and Climatology	2-2 2-3	
		2.3.1 Geologic Site Characterization	2-3 2-5	
	2.4	Hydrology	2-7	
		2.4.1 Surface Water Hydrology	2-7 2-8	
	2.5 2.6 2.7	Geotechnical Characteristics	2-10 2-12 2-13	
		2.7.1 Geologic Resources	2-14 2-15	
	2.8	Biotic Features Preoperational Environmental Monitoring	2-16 2-17	
3	DESI	GN AND CONSTRUCTION	3-1	
	3.1	Principal Design Features	3-1	

# CONTENTS (Continued)

			Page
		Conditions	3-2
		Structural Design for Below-Ground Vaults and Earth- Mounded Concrete Bunkers	3-6 3-7
	3.3		-
		3.3.1 Construction Methods and Features	3-7 3-9
	3.3A 3.4	Construction and Operation Considerations for Below-Ground Vaults and Earth-Mounded Concrete Bunkers	3-10 3-11
		3.4.1 Utility Systems	3-11 3-11 3-12 3-12
4	FACI	LITY OPERATIONS	4-1
	4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	Receipt and Inspection of Waste	4-1 4-1 4-2 4-4
5	SITE	CLOSURE PLAN AND INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS	5-1
	5.1	Site Stabilization	5-1
		5.1.1 Surface Drainage and Erosion Protection 5.1.2 Geotechnical Stability	5-1 5-1
	5 2	Site Closure and Stabilization Considerations for Below-Ground Vaults and Earth-Mounded Concrete Bunkers  Decontamination and Decommissioning  Postoperational Environmental Monitoring and Surveillance	5-3 5-5 5-6
6	SAFE	TY ASSESSMENT	6-1
	6.1	Release of Radioactivity	6-1
		6.1.1 Determination of Types, Kinds, and Quantities of Waste	6-1 6-2 6-3
		Operational Conditions	6-6 6-6

# CONTENTS (Continued)

		Page
	6.1.5.1 Transfer Mechanism - Groundwater	6-7 6-9 6-10 6-10
	6.1.6 Assessment of Impacts and Regulatory Compliance	6-11
	6.2 Intruder Protection	6-16 6-17
	6.3.1 Surface Drainage and Erosion Protection	6-17 6-18 6-22
7	OCCUPATIONAL RADIATION PROTECTION	7-1
	7.1 Occupational Radiation Exposures 7.2 Radiation Sources 7.3 Radiation Protection Design Features 7.4 Radiation Protection Program	7-1 7-2 7-2 7-4
8	CONDUCT OF OPERATIONS	8-1
	8.1 Organizational Structure 8.2 Qualifications of Applicant 8.3 Training Program 8.4 Emergency Planning 8.5 Review and Audit 8.6 Facility Administrative and Operating Procedures 8.7 Physical Security	8-1 8-3 8-4 8-5 8-5 8-5 8-6
9	QUALITY ASSURANCE	9-1
	9.1 Quality Assurance During Design, Construction, and Operation	9-2
10	FINANCIAL ASSURANCE	10-1
	10.1 Financial Qualifications of Applicant 10.2 Funding Assurances 10.3 Corporate Guarantees 10.4 Assets Held by a Third Party Such as in a State Fund 10.5 Trusts and Standby Trusts 10.6 Other Financial Assurances 10.7 Adjustments to Surety Amounts	10-1 10-4 10-8 10-12 10-13 10-16 10-16
	APPENDICES	10-17
11	REFERENCES	11-1

## CONTENTS (Continued)

## Tables

		Page
6.1	Typical Scenarios - Offsite Impacts on Individuals Resulting	
	From Normal Conditions	6-4
6.2	Typical Scenarios - Impacts on Onsite Individuals During	
	the Active Institutional Control Period	6-5
6.3	Typical Receptor Points (Access Locations) and Exposure Media	6. 12
	Typical Uptake Pathways Considered	6-13
	Descriptions of Typical Uptake Pathways	6-14

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This document was prepared under the supervision of Clayton Pittiglio, who acted as project manager, and is based on contributions from the staff of the Division of Low-Level Waste Management and Decommissioning.

Special thanks are due also to the Editorial Section; the Electronics Text Processing Branch; and the secretarial staff of the Division of Waste Management.

#### INTRODUCTION

A U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) license is required to receive, possess, and dispose of low-level radioactive waste. The requirements for a license are contained in Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 61 (10 CFR 61), "Licensing Requirements for Land Disposal of Radioactive Waste." 10 CFR 61.10 through 10 CFR 61.16 specify in general terms the information to be supplied in an application for a license to construct and operate a land disposal facility for the purpose of disposing of low-level radioactive waste. The application must contain sufficient information and analyses to provide reasonable assurance that the performance objectives in Subpart C of the regulation will be met.

The application will consist of both a Safety Analysis Report (SAR) and an Environmental Report (ER). This document provides guidance on the type of information that should be included in the SAR, specifically that specified in 10 CFR 61.11 through 10 CFR 61.16.

The ER accompanying the license application should be prepared in accordance with Subpart A of 10 CFR 51. Guidance for the preparation of the ER is contained in Regulatory Guide 4.18, "Standard Format and Content of Environmental Reports for Near-Surface Disposal of Radioactive Waste." Information included in the ER may be referenced in the SAR.

The purpose of this document, "Standard Format and Content of a License Application for a Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility" (hereinafter referred to as NUREG-1199), is to explain in more detail the information to be provided in the SAR and to establish a standard format for presenting the information. Use of the standard format will (1) help ensure that the SAR contains the information required by 10 CFR 61, (2) aid the applicant and NRC staff in ensuring that the information is complete, (3) help persons reading the SAR to locate information, and (4) contribute to shortening the time needed for the review process.

This version of NUREG-1199 applies to SARs for near-surface low-level radio-active waste disposal. Near-surface disposal encompasses the full range of technology that can be applied to low-level waste disposal near the earth's surface, that is, shallow land burial, deeper burial at depths up to 30 m, and the use of engineered structures, barriers, and other types of structures, some of which may protrude partially above the surface.

NUREG-1199 presents a format for SARs that is acceptable to the NRC staff. However, conformance is not required. The staff will accept SARs with different formats if they provide an adequate basis for the findings requisite to issuing a license. Staff review of SARs with different formats may take longer because the staff is familiar with, and its review procedures are based on, NUREG-1199.

8

#### FILING OF THE APPLICATION

The applicant initially will file one original and two copies of the SAR and ER so the staff can determine if they are acceptable for docketing. The documents will be treated initially as tendered documents until the determination is made. A copy of the tendered documents will be available in the NRC Public Document Room, 1717 H Street N.W., Washington, DC. The applicant will be notified of the results of the determination. Requirements for the filing and distribution of the application are given in 10 CFR 61.20 and the Commission's procedures for handling the application are given in 10 CFR 2.101, 2.102, and 2.103.

#### PROPRIETARY INFORMATION

Proprietary information must be submitted separately. It should be clearly identified and should be accompanied by the applicant's detailed reasons and justifications for requesting that the information be withheld from public disclosure, as specified by 10 CFR 2.790.

#### STYLE AND COMPOSITION

#### General Format

The applicant should present the information in the SAR as clearly as possible. Technical bases should support the applicant's claims of the adequacy of the designs or design methods.

The applicant should follow the numbering system and headings of NUREG-1199.

Appendices should be used to provide supplementary information not specifically identified in NUREG-1199.

## Abbreviations

Abbreviations should be consistent throughout the SAR and consistent with generally accepted use. Any abbreviations, symbols, or special terms should be defined where they first appear.

## Numerical Values

Where appropriate, estimated limits of errors or uncertainty should be given.

# Graphics

Graphic presentations—such as drawings, maps, diagrams, sketches, and tables—should be used when they present information more adequately or conveniently than would just a text description. The applicant should ensure that graphic material is legible and that the physical scales are sufficiently large so that the details and notations can be read. Symbols should be clearly defined. A figure or table should be placed within the section of the SAR in which the primary discussion of its contents appears.

### Physical Specifications

All material submitted as part of the SAR should conform to the following physical standards:

### (1) Paper Size

The size of text pages should be  $8\frac{1}{2} \times 11$  inches; a larger size, where required for legibility, is acceptable if the bound size does not exceed 11 inches, and the finished copy, when folded, does not exceed  $8\frac{1}{2} \times 11$  inches.

### (2) Ink

The color of the ink must be sufficiently dense to record on microfilm or image-copying equipment.

### (3) Printing and Binding

The text pages should be single spaced and printed on two sides. The pages should be punched for a standard three-hole looseleaf binder.

### (4) Revisions

Updated or revised data and text should be provided on pages that will replace the original pages. "Pen-and-ink" or "cut-and-paste" changes should not be used. The changed or revised portion on each page should be indicated by a change line, which is a vertical line in the outside margin, next to each line actually changed. The date of change and change number should appear at the bottom outside margin of each page that has been changed. Each change submittal should include a listing of all pages changed in that submittal.

#### 1 GENERAL INFORMATION

#### 1.1 Introduction

The applicant should provide general information that should include the applicant's identity, qualifications, and organizational structure; an overview of the purpose and scope of the proposed project; and general information on the applicant's financial and technical qualifications. The applicant also should indicate its level of understanding of the nature and complexity of low-level radioactive waste disposal, as required by 10 CFR 61.23.

## 1.2 General Facility Description

The applicant should present an overall introduction to the SAR and a general description of the facility and its location. This section should enable the reader to obtain a basic overall understanding of the proposed disposal operation and facility without having to refer to other sections. The information in the other sections can then be reviewed from a better perspective.

### Facility Description

The applicant should describe the facilities, land, buildings, and equipment to be used in the operation of the facility. Where appropriate, scaled engineering drawings should be used. The description should also include the purpose of each feature and the interrelationships of the features. The applicant also should generally describe the movement of personnel, material, and equipment during facility operations.

#### Land Use

The applicant should provide a land-use survey based on local land-use plans, aerial photography, topographic maps, or other sources. The survey should include land-use patterns within approximately 10 km of the site. Trends in land us in the vicinity should be identified.

## Principal Features

The applicant should describe the following principal features of the disposal facility:

# (1) Restricted Areas

The applicant should describe and display the areas to be restricted as defined in  $10 \, \text{CFR} \, 20.3(a)(14)$ .

# (2) Site Boundary and Buffer Zone

The applicant should describe and display the boundary that encompasses the area owned and controlled by the applicant and indicate the existing and proposed fenced areas and the location and extent of the buffer zone.

#### (3) Groundwater Users

The applicant should identify groundwater users within a 10-km radius of the disposal site and give the location, source (hydrogeologic unit), rates of use, and type of use (such as industrial, agricultural, livestock, domestic, or municipal). Point-of-use water quality should be described.

### (4) Utility Supplies and Systems

The applicant should identify and describe the utility supplies and systems and the sources of water to be used at the facility, including the location and purpose of supply wells and utility lines, if appropriate.

### (5) Disposal Units

The applicant should describe the design of the disposal units, including types of materials, dimensions, shapes, and sections through the disposal unit that show the characteristics of the disposal unit.

#### (6) Covers

The applicant should describe the cover design, including thickness, type of materials to be used, slopes, and sections through the disposal units that show the characteristics of the covers.

### (7) Surface Water Control Features

The applicant should describe (a) the features of the disposal facility designed to control the velocity, direction, and overland flow and infiltration of surface water and (b) the disposal site drainage design and how the design will prevent erosion and inundation of the disposal site as a result of large floods up to and including the probable maximum flood (PMF).

## (8) Intruder Barriers

The applicant should describe the design of the intruder barrier to be used at the facility, including the types of materials to be used, the dimensions of the barrier, and the method of construction or emplacement of the intruder barriers.

## (9) Markers

The applicant should describe the design of the permanent disposal unit and facility boundary markers to be placed at the disposal facility, including the materials to be used and the dimensions of the unit.

## (10) Boundaries and Markers

The applicant should demonstrate that the disposal units are accurately located and marked in such a way that the boundaries of each unit can be defined easily and should include considerations of marker durability.

### (11) Survey Control Program

The applicant should describe the survey used to accurately locate and map the boundaries of each disposal unit and the survey control program. This program should include at least three permanent survey marker control points referenced to United States Geologic Survey (USGS) or National Geologic Survey (NGS) survey control stations. The USGS or NGS control stations must provide horizontal and vertical controls as verified against USGS or NGS record files.

### (12) Site Utilization Plan

The applicant should describe the types of disposal units and their configurations, layout facilities, land features, roadways, buildings, and equipment. The information should include the planned order of the development of the disposal units. Where appropriate, engineering drawings and sectional drawings should be used.

## (13) Support Facilities

The applicant should describe the facilities necessary to support the disposal facility operations.

### (14) Administration Buildings

The applicant should describe the functional features of the administration buildings, including laboratories, record storage areas, dining areas, showers, and decontamination and change rooms.

## (15) Storage and Waste Handling Area

The applicant should describe the functional features of the storage and waste handling area, using engineering drawings as appropriate. The features described should include the capabilities for waste reception, offloading, storage, handling, repackaging of damaged containers, and decontamination of transport equipment.

# (16) Decontamination Areas

The applicant should describe, using engineering drawings as necessary, the facilities to be used for decontaminating, transporting, and handling waste, and other equipment. The vehicle maintenance area, if appropriate, should be described briefly.

# (17) Physical Security

The applicant should describe the physical security measures, including barriers to entry and exit points from the disposal site (including controlled access points) and systems for the positive identification of individuals entering and leaving the disposal site.

### (18) Equipment and Equipment Storage

The applicant should describe (a) the equipment to be used for off-loading, handling, and transporting waste within the disposal facility; (b) the equipment to be used for preparing the disposal units; and (c) the facilities to be used for equipment maintenance and storage. Engineering drawings and photos should be included as necessary.

### (19) Excavated Materials Area

The applicant should (a) describe the facilities for surface storage and protection of excavated materials and discuss wind erosion, water runoff, and siltation of the facility water control features; (b) describe the use of the excavated material for backfill and the planned disposal of excess material; and (c) discuss the potential effect of storing the excavated material in the immediate vicinity of the facility on the stability of the facility.

### 1.3 Schedules

The applicant should provide the proposed schedules for (1) construction, (2) receipt of waste, (3) the first emplacement of waste at the proposed land disposal facility, (4) operations, and (5) closure.

The schedules should show that the applicant has considered the time needed for regulatory reviews and for hearings by regulatory and public interest groups.

## 1.4 Institutional Information

The applicant should explain the coordination with, or participation by, a State or States in developing the proposed disposal facility. The relationship of the proposed site to compacts should be presented. The discussions should meet the requirements of 10 CFR 61.14 and the demonstrations required by 10 CFR 61.59.

## Land Ownership

The applicant should provide or reference information to confirm that radioactive waste under the proposed license will only be disposed of on land owned in fee by the Federal or State Government, including certification by the Federal or State Government that owns the disposal site property that (1) the Federal or State Government is prepared to accept transfer of the license when the provisions of 10 CFR 61.30 are met and (2) the Federal or State Government will assume responsibility for custodial care after site closure and observation and maintenance following closure.

If the proposed disposal site is land not owned by the Federal or State Government, the applicant must submit evidence that arrangements have been made for assumption of ownership in fee by the Federal or State Government.

## Institutional Control

The applicant should describe the institutional program to physically control access to the disposal site following transfer of the disposal site from the

disposal site operator. The institutional control program should include, but not be limited to, descriptions of plans and programs for carrying out environmental monitoring, periodic surveillance, and minor custodial care at the disposal site, as well as procedures and mechanisms for the administration of funds to cover the costs of these activities.

#### Institutional Arrangements

The applicant should describe the records to be transferred to the custodial agency and the arrangements for the transfer. (Guidance on closure of a near-surface disposal facility is given in NRC Technical Position Paper, "Low-Level Waste Burial Ground Site Closure and Stabilization.")

### 1.5 Material Incorporated by Reference

Duplication of information should be avoided. Similar or identical information may be requested in various sections of NUREG-1199 because it is relevant to more than one portion of the facility or the staff's evaluation. The information should be presented in the principal section of the SAR and appropriately referenced in the other applicable sections.

Reports or other documents that are referenced in the text should be listed at the end of the section in which they are referenced. Where proprietary documents are referenced, a nonproprietary summary of the document should also be referenced. Where appropriate, referenced information may be included as an appendix to the SAR.

### 1.6 Conformance to Regulatory Guides

The applicant should note the area and degree of conformance and/or nonconformance to applicable NRC regulatory guides. The reasons for the nonconformance should be given. Included in the explanation should be the alternatives that have been incorporated that support the acceptability of the application.

# 1.7 Summary of Principal Review Matters

The applicant should include a summary of principal review matters, which should contain documented evidence of efforts to identify major licensing issues during the preparation of the SAR and objective assessments of licensing issues.

The applicant also should document interactions with government bodies, technical experts, public interest groups, environmental groups, and affected tribes and provide summaries of their positions on review matters as identified during the development of the SAR.

The applicant also should identify specific areas in the SAR where the principal review matters have been dealt with and resolved.

#### 2 SITE CHARACTERISTICS

The applicant should provide information on the natural and demographic charac teristics of the site and vicinity. The information should include descriptions of the geologic, geotechnical, hydrologic, meteorologic, climatologic, and biotic features of the disposal site and vicinity; present and projected population distribution and land use; and site activities and controls. The applicant should explain how these site characteristics have influenced facility design and operating criteria and should show the adequacy of the site characteristics with respect to the long-term performance of the waste disposa system.

### 2.1 Geography, Demography, and Future Developments

### 2.1.1 Site Location and Description

### Location of Facility

The applicant should describe the disposal site location by specifying the lat itude and longitude as well as the universal transverse mercator (UTM) coordinates. The applicant should indicate what land is owned, as well as potential expansion areas and the legal status of the expansion areas. The State and county in which the disposal site is located should be identified, along with nearby towns and cities, and the location of the disposal site relative to prominent features such as rivers and lakes. To facilitate presentation of this information, U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) 7½- or 15-minute topographic maps should be provided. Contiguous maps should be provided that show the upstream and downstream drainage areas and an approximate 10-km radius around the disposal site. A map also should be provided that shows the detailed topography of the disposal site. The detailed map should use a contour interval such as 2 feet or 1 meter and should include plot plans, the locations of characterization borings any monitoring wells, and the positions and types of geologic characterization activities.

# Nearby Facilities

The applicant should identify the significant facilities or activities near th site and provide a justification for siting near these features. The applican should show that these features have not created baseline environmental conditions that would make the monitoring program being proposed ineffective. (The guidance on meeting these requirements is contained in the NUREG-0902.

## 2.1.2 Population Distribution

Population data should be based on the most recent U.S. census data and State and local population projections available. Residential population should be shown on a map that identifies places of significant population grouping, such as cities and towns within a 10-km radius. Concentric circles should be drawn (with the site at the center point) at distances of 2, 4, 6, 8, and 10 km. Th

circles should be divided into 22-1/2-degree sectors, and each sector should be centered on one of the 16 compass points (with reference to true north, e.g., north-northeast, northeast). A table appropriately keyed to the map should provide the current residential and transient populations within each area of the map formed by the concentric circles and radial lines. The same table or separate tables should provide the projected resident and transient populations within each area for (1) the expected first year of facility operation and (2) for census years through the operational lifetime of the facility. The table should provide population totals for each sector and annular ring and a total for the population within 10 km of the site. The basis for population projections should be described. The distance to the nearest residence should be noted, and the basis for population projections should be described. The populations of any towns within 50 km of the site that exceed 10,000 persons should also be given.

The applicant should describe the effect (if any) on the disposal facility of the current and projected population and land use (see Section 2.1.1). The applicant should present the analyses used to determine these effects and provide the information that demonstrates how the facility would not be inhibited from meeting the performance objectives.

### 2.2 Meteorology and Climatology

The applicant should provide a general description of regional climatological conditions and a site-specific description of meteorology and microclimate. The applicant should provide a general description, including regional averages and extremes, of the following parameters: air masses, high- and low-pressure systems, frontal movement, airflow patterns, temperature, humidity, and various forms of precipitation. To the extent feasible, the applicant should correlate the relationship between regional atmospheric conditions and local meteorological conditions. The applicant should also provide the seasonal and annual frequencies of regional severe weather phenomena such as tornadoes, convective storms, hail, and waterspouts.

In the discussion of local meteorological parameters, the applicant should include those used as a design basis and those used for performance assessment, including

- (1) maximum snow, ice, and wind loads to which structures may be subjected
- (2) weather- and climate-related radionuclide transmission parameters including average and extreme wind vectors and average and extreme duration and intensity of precipitation events
- (3) routine, chronic weather-related site deterioration parameters
- (4) extreme site deterioration parameters such as tornadoes, waterspouts, thunderstorms, and extreme forms of air pollution

The applicant should also provide a general characterization of the local meteorology considering airflow vectors, temperature, precipitation, water vapor, atmospheric stability, evapotranspiration potential, and general air quality. Description and characterization of local meteorology should be based on at least 12 continuous months of site-specific data.

### 2.3 Geology and Seismology

#### 2.3.1 Geologic Site Characterization

The applicant should provide information on the geologic characteristics of the site and the region around the site. 10 CFR 61, Subpart D, "Technical Requirements for Land Disposal Facilities," provides the principal requirements to be considered by the staff in its geologic evaluation of proposed low-level waste disposal facilities. The information should include the geologic illustrations, data, and analyses that demonstrate that the geologic and tectonic processes affecting the site do not inhibit its ability to isolate radioactive waste. These processes would include the effects of fault displacement, uplift, collapse, subsidence, tilting, and volcanic and seismic activity. The basic geologic information required to provide a basis for evaluation is discussed below.

A literature search should be made by the applicant for geologic studies of the site by government agencies, academic institutions, or commercial companies; and any published reports, maps, or other geologic information on the site should be referenced. Such information as geologic or geophysical surveys, borings, excavations, or remote-sensing studies should be documented. The applicant's investigators should be identified, the investigatory techniques described, and any field or laboratory data included in the documentation. The effects on the site of man's activities in the area, such as subsurface addition or withdrawal of fluids or mineral extractions, should be evaluated, including maps showing the location and depths of these activities.

## Regional Geology

The applicant should describe and discuss the tectonic history of the region, regional geomorphology, physiography, stratigraphy, and geochronology. All tectonic structures should be identified, in particular folds and faults in the region around the site, and their geologic and structural history should be discussed. The relationship between seismicity and tectonic structures and the earthquake-generating potential of any active structures should be determined. A regional tectonic map showing the site location and its proximity to tectonic structures should be provided. Appropriate references of supporting documents should be provided with regional physiographic and topographic maps, geologic and structure maps, fault maps, stratigraphic sections, boring logs, and aerial photographs.

The applicant should discuss the relationship between the regional and site physiography. The structural geology of the region should be described, and its relationship to the site geologic structure should be discussed. Any faults, folds, open jointing, fractures, and shear zones in the region must be identified, and their significance to the facility should be discussed. Also, the applicant should investigate the possible existence of crustal tilting, subsidence, karst terrain, landsliding, and erosion.

When a low-level waste disposal site is to be located within a region of active plate tectonics characterized by volcanism, the applicant should collect all

available data resulting from geophysical and geodetic monitoring in the region. The sequence and ages of the volcanic flows should be described, and the potential for renewed volcanic activity and the effect on the site should be determined.

### Site Geology

The applicant should identify any existing or potential site conditions that could compromise the ability of the site to fulfill the performance objectives of 10 CFR 61. The applicant should describe the surface and subsurface geologic characteristics of the disposal site and its vicinity. The description should include local stratigraphic units and their accepted names, ages, genetic relationships, and lithologies. To facilitate the presentation, these descriptions should be accompanied by appropriately scaled geologic maps. Descriptions of mineralogy, particle size, organic materials, degree of cementation, zones of alteration, and depositional environment of unconsolidated strata should be included.

Stratigraphic columns and cross-sections illustrating the strata receiving the waste (candidate horizon) and the surrounding units should accompany and be noted on the geologic map. Isopach maps of near-surface stratigraphic units, the candidate horizon, the bedrock surface, and other units that are part of the disposal system should also be provided.

The applicant should describe the geomorphology of the disposal site, and should include USGS topographic maps that emphasize local geomorphic features pertinent to the disposal site. The applicant should describe the geomorphic processes affecting the present-day topography of the disposal site and vicinity. Information should include descriptions of processes such as mass wasting, erosion, slumping, landsliding, and weathering where appropriate. The discussion of relevant geomorphic processes should include their rates, frequencies of occurrence, and controlling mechanisms or factors.

The applicant should describe the location, attitude, and geometry of all known or inferred faults in the disposal site and vicinity. Those faults that can reasonably be expected to affect waste isolation should receive special emphasis. The applicant should discuss the relationship of these faults to the present-day local stress field. Fault displacements should be identified and potential recurrence intervals addressed. The applicant should identify any potential effects on the disposal site as a result of deformation during fault displacement.

The applicant should discuss the nature and rates of deformation such as folding within the disposal site and relate these to the local stress regime. Any joint sets within the disposal site including their densities and orientations should be described, and their relative ages discussed. Remineralization and mineralization history of the various joint sets should also be discussed. Solution cavities and crevices in the bedrock should be described and discussed if applicable.

The applicant should perform an evaluation, from an engineering-geology standpoint, of the geologic features that affect the waste disposal facilities, trenches, and borrow areas. Profile and cross-sectional illustrations should be provided through these areas, and descriptions of zones of alteration or weathering, zones of structural weakness, and all potentially unstable strata or soils should be discussed.

#### 2.3.2 Seismic Investigation

The applicant should provide information on the seismological and geophysical investigations to be carried out at the site and the region surrounding the site. The principal regulation used in determining the scope and adequacy of the submitted information and analysis is 10 CFR 61, "Licensing Requirements for Land Disposal of Radioactive Waste." This and additional guidance (10 CFR 100, NUREG-0902, and "Standard Review Plan for UMTRCA Title 1 Milling Tail Remedial Action Plans") will aid the staff in its evaluation of the acceptability of the site for granting a license.

Information about the following should be provided: seismicity, tectonic characteristics of the site and region, correlation of earthquake activity with geologic structures and tectonic provinces, maximum earthquake potential, seismic wave transmission characteristics of the site, design earthquake, settlement and liquefaction, and geophysical methods for site characterization.

This section should include, but not necessarily be limited to, the information mentioned above. The outline mentioned here is mainly intended to provide guidance to the applicants and licensees regarding the information that is necessary to complete an acceptable Safety Evaluation Report.

#### Seismicity

The applicant should provide a complete list of all historical earthquakes that have a magnitude of 3 or more or a modified Mercalli intensity of IV or more within 200 miles of the site. The listing should include all available information about the earthquakes such as epicenter coordinates, depth of focus, origin time, intensity, and magnitude, augmented by a map showing the locations of these earthquakes. The references from which the information was obtained should be indicated.

In addition, any earthquake that induced geologic hazard (e.g., landsliding or liquefaction) should be identified, and the acceleration that caused the hazard should be provided.

## Tectonic Characteristics of Site and Region

The applicant should identify all the regional and local geologic structures and tectonic activity that may contribute to earthquake generation or affect the suitability of the site as a repository. A map of all tectonic provinces within 200 miles of the site should be provided. The criteria used to delineate the tectonic provinces should be discussed. When capable faults are identified in the vicinity of the site, a regional scale map showing the location of the faults, their characteristics, and the earthquakes associated with them should be presented.

# Correlation of Earthquake Activity With Geologic Structures or Tectonic Provinces

The applicant should provide a correlation between the earthquakes and the geological structures or tectonic provinces within 200 miles of the site. Whenever an earthquake can be reasonably correlated with a geologic structure, the rationale should be presented. When an earthquake cannot be correlated with a geologic structure, the earthquake should be discussed in relation to the tectonic province.

#### Maximum Earthquake Potential

The applicant should identify the largest earthquake associated with each geologic structure (maximum credible earthquake) or tectonic province (maximum historical earthquake) within 200 miles of the site. Isoseismal maps should be presented for these earthquakes. On the basis of these largest earthquakes, ground motion should be estimated using the appropriate attenuation model applicable to the site. For floating earthquakes in tectonic provinces other than the site, the ground motion should be estimated on the basis of the distance of the tectonic province closest to the site. For floating earthquake in the same tectonic province as the site, appropriate distance should be used to estimate the ground motion.

#### Seismic Wave Transmission Characteristics of the Site

The applicant should provide a detailed description of the material overlying the bed rock at the site. The description should include velocities, densities, and elastic modulus of the material.

## Design Earthquake

The applicant should determine the acceleration resulting from the largest earthquake at the free surface and at the depth of concern for the location of the facility. Where the earthquake is associated with a geologic structure, the magnitude should be determined using appropriate relationships between magnitude, type of fault, and fault length and the acceleration should be estimated using the appropriate attenuation relationship applicable to the site (NUREG/CR-3756). Potential for amplifications of vibratory ground motion in the overburden should be addressed. In some instances site-specific response spectra may have to be compared with the design of the structures.

## Settlement and Liquefaction Potential

The applicant should provide information on areas of actual or potential surface or subsurface settlement or liquefaction affecting the stability of the cover materials in Sections 5.1.2 and 6.3. The water table elevation and its variation should be provided.

## Geophysical Methods

The applicant should discuss all the geophysical methods used to support the geological characterization of the site. A map showing all site exploration work (such as track lines and shot points) and locations of collected data should be provided.

#### 2.4 Hydrology

#### 2.4.1 Surface Water Hydrology

The applicant should provide sufficient data and technical analyses to describe the surface water hydrology characteristics of the site and to demonstrate that the site suitability requirements of 10 CFR 61.50(a) are met. The information should be sufficiently complete to allow an independent evaluation to be made.

### Hydrologic Description

Sufficient graphical and quantitative data and information to fully characterize the site drainage and surrounding watershed fluvial features, including important water users, should be provided. Water resource data including maps, hydrographs, and stream records from other agencies (e.g., U.S. Geological Survey and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers) should be cited and related to the site conditions.

#### Disposal Site and Facilities

The disposal site and the elevations of all structures, equipment, and systems should be described. The applicant should provide topographic maps of the disposal site that show natural drainages and man-made features (and any proposed changes to them), and should provide cross-sections that show the proposed location of waste material and trench covers as related to streams, drainage channels, erosion protection, and other hydraulic features. In accordance with 10 CFR 61.50(a)(5), the information should indicate that the site is generally well-drained and free of areas of frequent ponding.

## Description of Surface Hydrology

The applicant should describe the surface water bodies of the disposal site and surrounding areas, including the location, size, shape, and other hydrologic characteristics of all streams, lakes, or coastal areas. A description of existing and proposed water control structures and diversions (both upstream and downstream that may influence the site) should be included. Flow-duration data that indicate minimum, maximum, and average historical observations for surface water bodies in the site areas should be included. The applicant should provide aerial photography and maps of the site and adjacent drainage areas and should identify features such as drainage areas, surface gradients, and areas of flooding.

## Surface Water Users

The applicant should provide an inventory of all existing and planned surface water users, whose intakes could be adversely affected by accidental releases of contaminants. The inventory should include the owner, location, type, and amount of use; source of supply; type of intake; and surface water quality data.

## Flooding and Flood History

The applicant should provide data and information used to determine the capability of the site to withstand floods (both water levels and velocities) and

flood waves. The date, level, peak discharge, and related information for major historical flood events in the site region, including stream floods, surges, seiches, tsunamis, dam failures, ice jams, floods induced by landslides, and similar events, should be included. In accordance with 10 CFR 61.50(a)(5), the information should demonstrate that the site is not located in an area of frequent flooding.

Using the guidance in Executive Order 11988, the information and analyses used to delineate the 100-year floodplain should be provided. Topographic and/or aerial photographs that delineate the 100-year floodplain at the disposal site should be included. The information should be sufficiently complete to allow determinations to be made that waste disposal will not take place in a 100-year floodplain, coastal high-hazard area, or wetland, in accordance with 10 CFR 61.50(a)(5).

The applicant should discuss the flood potential from streams, reservoirs, and adjacent watersheds. The probable maximum water level at the site (see Regulatory Guide 1.59, "Design Basis Floods For Nuclear Power Plants," for guidance) should be provided.

The applicant should describe any man-made changes to the surface water hydrologic system that may influence the potential for flooding at the site. (Such changes may include construction of reservoirs, urban development, strip mining, lumbering, etc.). The description of these changes should include the proximity of the affected area to the site, the surface water bodies affected, the size of the area affected, and the potential effects at the site.

### Upstream Drainage Areas

In accordance with 10 CFR 61.50(a)(6), the applicant should provide information that demonstrates that upstream drainage areas have been or will be minimized to decrease the amount of runoff that could erode or inundate disposal units. The applicant should provide maps and should describe how the minimization of upstream areas was incorporated into the site selection process.

#### 2.4.2 Groundwater Characterization

The applicant should provide sufficient information to (1) describe the hydrogeology of the disposal site (10 CFR 61.12(a)), (2) demonstrate that the disposal site is capable of being characterized, modeled, analyzed, and monitored (10 CFR 61.50(a)(2)), (3) demonstrate whether the disposal site can provide sufficient depth to the water table so that groundwater intrusion, perennial or otherwise, into the waste will not occur (10 CFR 61.50(a)(7)), and (4) demonstrate that the hydrogeologic unit used for disposal will not discharge groundwater to the surface within the disposal site (10 CFR 61.50(a)(8)). To support these findings and conclusions, the site must be monitored for at least 1 year to ascertain the type and magnitude of seasonal fluctuations. Further, the data and detailed descriptions of the methodology used to collect the data should be included or referenced.

#### Saturated Zone

Data on the saturated zone should demonstrate that seasonal fluctuations of the water table will not result in groundwater interactions with the waste material

and that groundwater discharge at the surface will not occur within the disposal site. The information presented pertaining to the saturated regime should describe all potentially affected aquifers, including the lateral extent, thickness, water-transmitting properties, recharge and discharge zones, groundwater flow directions and velocities, and other information that can be used to create an adequate conceptual model of the saturated zone.

Detailed descriptions should be included for all monitor wells, including location, elevation, screened intervals, depths, construction and completion details, and hydrogeologic units monitored. The description should include domestic, industrial and/or municipal wells or other monitoring devices, if applicable, and any construction and completion details for these devices, when available. Descriptions of all aquifer tests should also be provided, including test data and a discussion of the assumptions, analysis, and test procedures used.

Physical parameters such as storage coefficients, transmissivities, hydraulic conductivities, parosities, and intrinsic permeabilities should be included. The applicant should provide an accurate description, to the extent practicable, of groundwater flow directions and velocities (horizontal and vertical) for each potentially affected aquifer. When applicable, the groundwater hydrology should be described by making use of hydrogeologic columns, cross-sections, and water table and/or potentiometric maps.

#### Unsaturated Zone

Information on and descriptions of the unsaturated zone should be adequate so that a conceptual model of the unsaturated flow regime on site and in the vicinity can be obtained. To support these findings, the applicant should describe the lateral extent and thickness of permeable and impermeable zones, potential conduits of anomalously high flux, and direction and velocity of unsaturated flow. Information on all monitor stations including location and depth should be provided. Investigation of physical parameters includes, but is not limited to, the spatial and stratigraphic distribution of the total and effective porosity; water content variations with time; saturated hydraulic conductivity; characteristic relationships between water content, pressure head, and hydraulic conductivity; and hysteretic behavior during wetting and drying cycles, especially during extreme conditions. When appropriate in describing the unsaturated zone, the applicant should use cross-sections, columnar sections and maps representing spatial variability of physical parameters, lateral extent of affected strata, and flow paths of water movement.

## Numerical Analyses

The description of the numerical analyses techniques used to characterize the unsaturated and saturated zones should include the model type, justification, documentation, verification, calibration and other associated information. The description should include the input data, data generation or reduction techniques, and any modifications to these data. To the extent practicable, the applicant should demonstrate that the results of the model adequately represent the physical system to determine if compliance with the applicable requirements of 10 CFR 61.12(a) and 61.50(a)(2),(a)(7), and (a)(8) is reasonably ensured.

#### 2.5 Geotechnical Characteristics

The applicant should provide information on the geotechnical characteristics of the waste disposal facility site in accordance with 10 CFR 6.12(a), 10 CFR 61.23(f), and 10 CFR 61.50(a). Information should be presented that thoroughly defines the conditions and engineering properties of both soil and/or rock at the facility. Information on the geotechnical characteristics of the disposal site should include (1) the scope and results of geotechnical and geophysical investigations conducted at the site, (2) the scope and results of field and laboratory tests conducted to determine the engineering properties of various materials at the site, (3) the groundwater conditions at the site, (4) the fill borrow materials proposed for the facility, and (5) interpretation of the site stratigraphy and selection of the design parameters on the basis of the data in the SAR. If any of the information relevant to the geotechnical characteristics of the disposal site is presented elsewhere in the SAR, such information need not be repeated here but should be appropriately cross referenced.

### Field Investigations

Field investigations should consist of the following:

### (1) Geological, Geochemical, and Seismological Investigations

The scope and format for the information to be provided in these areas are initially identified in Sections 2.3 and 2.6 of this document. However, the following specific information is required under this section:

- (a) Definition of the geologic features including discussions, geologic maps, profiles of the site stratigraphy, structural geology, geologic history, and engineering geology of the site. The geologic features to be addressed for the site and its immediate vicinity are (i) areas of actual or potential surface or subsurface subsidence, solution cavities, uplift, collapse and/or swell, (ii) zones of alteration or irregular weathering profiles and zones of structural weakness, (iii) unrelieved stresses in bedrock and their potential for creep and rebound effects, (iy) rocks or soils that might be unstable because of their mineralogical, physical, or chemical properties, and (v) history of deposition and erosion including glacial and other preloading influence on soil deposit
- (b) Geochemical conditions at the site that address the long-term effects of the environment (weather conditions, rain, etc.) on the physical and engineering properties of the soils and rocks at the disposal facility.
- (c) The design-basis seismic event including details on magnitude of the earthquake, the elevation or level at which the design-basis earthquake is defined at the site, the maximum value of the horizontal component of the acceleration, the maximum particle velocity, the duration of the earthquake, and the potential for amplifications of ground motion as a result of soil conditions at the site.

## (2) Geotechnical and Geophysical Investigations

The scope and results of the geotechnical and geophysical investigations performed to define the occurrence and properties of the underlying materials at both the site and proposed borrow areas should be presented. Regulatory Guide 1.132, "Site Investigations for Foundations of Nuclear Power Plants," provides general guidance and recommendations for developing investigation programs and for conducting subsurface investigations, including guidance on the spacing and depth of boring and sampling. This should be used as a general guide in developing the field investigations program for a low-level waste disposal facility. The information in the SAR should include the following:

- (a) a plot plan(s) clearly showing the outline of the facility and the locations of all borings, probes, pits, trenches, seismic lines, piezometers, and geologic profiles
- (b) profiles and adequate number of cross-sections of the site showing the subsoil and rock layering and illustrating in appropriate detail the relationship of the proposed facility to the subsurface materials
- (c) logs of borings, probes, pits, trenches, and geophysical investigations in sufficient detail as described in Regulatory Guide 1.132 and the results of the seismic refraction and reflection surveys in detail including tabulation of the dynamic characteristics of the soil and rock materials which were encountered

## Field and Laboratory Testing and Engineering Properties

The applicant should provide a detailed and quantitative discussion of the criteria used to determine that the samples were properly taken in accordance with the guidance of Regulatory Guide 1.132 and tested in sufficient number to define all the soil and rock parameters needed for characterizing the site in accordance with the general guidance of Regulatory Guide 1.138. For sites underlain by saturated cohesionless soils and/or sensitive clays, the applicant should show that all zones that could become unstable because of liquefaction or strain-softening phenomena have been sampled and tested to evaluate their liquefaction potential. Methods and procedures currently accepted in the geotechnical engineering profession for testing and determining the engineering properties of soils and rocks should be used. Test methods should be appropriately referenced, and the preparation of laboratory samples should be discussed, when appropriate because of unusual conditions or deviations from standard practice. The information should show that the static and dynamic engineering properties of soils and rocks were properly determined and that reasonable and conservative values were adopted for design. This should include an explanation of how the developed data were used in the analyses, how the test data were enveloped for design, and why the design envelope is conservative. A table indicating the values of the parameters used in design should be presented.

## Groundwater Conditions

The scope and format for the information to be submitted on the groundwater conditions at the site are initially given in Section 2.4.2 of this document. However, the following specific information is required under this section:

- (1) the location of the groundwater table and the elevation range of seasonal fluctuations in the groundwater level
- (2) the presence of perched, aquifer, and artesian conditions; groundwater movement; hydraulic conductivity and infiltration characteristics of site and borrow materials; hydraulic gradients; and installation details and monitoring records for piezometers and observation wells
- (3) design water level as determined by severe design-basis events such as a probable maximum flood

#### Borrow Materials

Information or fill borrow materials should include the following:

- (1) plan showing the limits, grades, and slopes of the area proposed for borrow materials location of borings drilled and test pits dug to determine the y and type of fill material available
- (2) the physical at engineering properties of soil and rock borrow materials, to be used in the construction of the facility, based on adequate explorations and testing; engineering properties should be based on laboratory tests performed on representative samples of borrow material compacted to the same range of density and moisture contents as that to be specified during construction

## Stratigraphy and Design Parameters

Information on the stratigraphy and design parameters should include the following:

- (1) plot plans, adequate number of cross-sections, and profiles showing subsurface soil and rock layering at the site; the cross-sections should show the location of the borings and data from borings used in developing the soil and rock layering; the stratigraphy should be developed using all the data collected, particularly zones of soft/loose conditions encountered in the explorations
- (2) the recommended design parameters based on a reasonable and conservative interpretation of the test data for the soil and rock materials at the site; the recommended design parameters may be presented in a tabular form and also in a graphical form, where appropriate, to demonstrate the conservatism of the recommended values of the design parameters

# 2.6 Geochemical Characteristics

# Water Chemistry

The applicant should provide information on the background and anticipated changes in water chemistry for groundwater and surface water systems that may be affected by site construction and waste disposal and local precipitation. Data on and descriptions of the following parameters should be included:

- concentrations of inorganic constituents (including important trace elements), complexing ligands, dissolved gases, organic constituents (including total organic carbon and total organic halogens, stable isotopes (or concentration ratios), and background radionclides
- (2) pH, oxidation/reduction conditions determined by various methods, alkalinity, ionic strength, total disolved solids, and density
- (3) temperature
- (4) nature of colloidal-sized materials
- (5) observations of degassing

Data that assess seasonal variations should be provided. The applicant should also provide information on sampling, preservation, storage, and analytical procedures, including details on filter sizes used during sampling and analysis of water samples and analytical detection levels. Information on quality assurance and quality control procedures used during sampling, preservation, storage, and analysis, such as split, spiked, standard, blank samples, and ion balance calculations should also be provided.

## Geochemistry of Soils and Rock Units

The applicant should provide information on the classification, identification of the mineralogy, and chemical characterization of the soils and rock units. The applicant should provide information describing sampling, preservation, storage, analytical, and experimental procedures. Information on solubility, ion excharge, and sorption experiments should be provided, including the range of chemical and physical conditions used to bound the results. Information on quality assurance and quality control procedures used during sampling, preservation, storage, analysis, and experimentation should be provided.

## Geochemical Modeling

The applicant should provide information on the conceptual models and documentation of codes used to model site geochemistry. Information on validation exercises, data bases (e.g., thermodynamic constraints for aqueous complexation, mineral solubility, and gas solubility reactions and binding constants or distribution coefficients for sorption models), input and output data, and interpretation of results should also be provided.

# 2.7 Natural Resources

The applicant should provide an analysis (or analyses) demonstrating that there will be no effect on the site that would cause the site to fail to meet the performance objectives in 10 CFR 61 if natural resources were exploited during construction, operation, and closure, after closure, or after the removal of active institutional control.

In addition, the applicant should describe the known natural resources at or near the site, the exploitation of which could result in inadvertent intrusion into the wastes after removal of active institutional control. The applicant

should consider resources such as minerals and hydrocarbons, geothermal energy sources, sand and gravel, timber, and water. The description should include information such as the types of resources, their location, and current and projected uses. (Some or all of this information may be referenced in the Environmental Report.)

#### 2.7.1 Geologic Resources

The applicant should document the information required by the NRC staff to review SAR sections on known natural resources at the proposed disposal site. The applicant should be able to show compliance with 10 CFR 61.12(h) and 61.50(a)(4).

The applicant should demonstrate that there will be no natural resources at the proposed site which, if exploited, would result in inadvertent intrusion into the disposal site after removal of active institutional control. The applicant must further show that if known natural resources in the site area are exploited during construction, operation, and closure, or after closure, the site will not be compromised. License requirements apply to resources that may occur near or at the ground surface, in hydrologic units used for disposal or isolation, and at depths that require excavation or drilling through the disposal units.

"Known resources" are those resources designated in U.S. Geological Survey Circular 831 as "identified resources." Identified resources would include measured, indicated, and inferred resources whose location, grade, quality, and quantity are known or estimated from specific geologic evidence. Geologic evidence includes, but is not limited to, assays, geologic maps, geophysical and geochemical surveys, and core logs.

#### Information Needs

The applicant should describe natural resources occurring at or near the site. Resources include metallic and nonmetallic minerals and ores; fuels, such as peat, lignite, and coal; hydrocarbons, including gas, oil, tar sands, and asphalt; geothermal resources; industrial mineral deposits, such as sand and gravel, clays, aggregate sources, shales, and building stone; timber; agricultural lands; and waters in the form of brines. Potable, agricultural, or industrial ground or surface waters are addressed in Section 2.4. Description of these resources should include information on resource type, occurrence, location, extent, net worth, recoverability, and current and projected use. The applicant should address economic, marginally economic, or subeconomic known or identified natural resources as defined in U.S. Geological Survey Circular 831.

The identification of mineral, fuel, and hydrocarbon resources should not be limited to the site and should include areas of known resources near and surrounding the site which, if exploited, would compromise the safety of the site. The applicant should identify known resources through field observations as well as through research of published and unpublished reports and records. The SAR should include maps showing all active and abandoned wells, boreholes, and excavations at the site. Those wells, boreholes, and excavations that preceded site characterization should be distinguished from those that were part of site characterization. Borehole logs should accompany maps. Maps depicting areal geology - including lithologic units, structure, and stratigraphic relationships; current land use; and locations of all active or abandoned mines, quarries,

borrow pits, and prospects - should be included with the SAR. The applicant should also provide reasonable assurance that indirect effects (such as erosion or alteration of surface water pathways) of the exploitation of nearby natural resources will not compromise the suitability of the site.

#### Information Sources

The identification of resources should include a literature search of Federal, State, academic, and local published and unpublished records. Federal sources include, but are not limited to, U.S. Geological Survey, Bureau of Mines, Department of Agriculture, and Bureau of Land Management reports and maps.

State geologic survey publications and files provide a good source for geologic and economic mineral studies, assays, maps, and borehole logs. Academic (college and university) records may include useful theses and other studies of specific areas. Local courthouse records may provide information on leases granted for exploratory work, which would include drilling, geologic mapping, and trenching at and in the vicinity of the site. Discussions with local landowners in the site vicinity may also provide useful information.

Conventional methods such as drilling and trenching to identify resources may compromise the site; therefore, when possible, borings and other excavations done as part of site preparation studies should be used in resource assessment and evaluation. Other useful methods of natural resource assessment include surface sampling, geologic mapping, and geochemical and geophysical surveys.

The applicant should notify the NRC early in the site characterization process if any resources of economic value are encountered. Additional information may be requested if the applicant is unable to demonstrate that the performance objectives of Subpart C, 10 CFR 61, can be met. The acceptability of the site characterization will be based on whether all known natural resources have been adequately identified and whether the presence of identified resources will result in intrusion into low-level wastes after removal of active institutional controls.

#### 2.7.2 Water Resources

The applicant should provide a description of water resources and a demonstration that exploitation of these resources will not result in failure to meet the performance objectives in 10 CFR 61, Subpart C, as required by 10 CFR 61.50(a)(4). Water resource information should be sufficient to be able to determine whether or not the disposal area contains any known natural resources which if exploited would result in failure to meet the performance objectives in 10 CFR 61.41 through 61.44. A description of present and projected local and regional use of ground and surface waters should be included.

The applicant should provide a description of historical, present, and potential future local and regional groundwater use. Information pertinent to this section includes, to the extent practicable, location of points of groundwater withdrawal, discharge rates, and use of the groundwater. The description of water resources should also include information and perched aquifer water use.

The applicant should describe the historical, present, and potential future uses of surface water in the vicinity of the proposed facility, including present and potential rates of withdrawal, point of withdrawal, percentage of stream

flow withdrawn, and the use of the resource whether it be for livestock, municipal, residential, or industrial uses. Recreational activities should also be described including swimming, fishing, boating, and other foreseeable activities.

The applicant should describe any mathematical methods used to estimate effects on potential water users, including assumptions, verification, calibration, and other ancillary information. All input data should be described, including data associated with potential future uses and information obtained by Federal, State, and local agencies and private firms. If conservative assumptions were used in place of rigorous analyses, the rationale and defensibility used in the determination of exploitable resources should be described.

The applicant should present the results in a format that facilitates NRC staff review, such as future water table or piezometric surface maps, changes to groundwater flow direction and velocities (from those determined in previous investigations), and changes to the groundwater/surface water relationship. In summary, all conclusions should be supported by adequately conservative or realistic procedures that demonstrate that the exploitation of water resources will not result in failure to meet the performance objectives of 10 CFR 61, Subpart C.

### 2.8 Biotic Features

The applicant should provide the following:

#### Onsite Areas

- (1) A map of the site and vicinity showing the boundaries of major plant communities, the locations of minor communities, special habitats (e.g., spring seeps, bogs, sink holes, and cliff faces), and any habitats used by species that affect facility performance. The site boundary, the construction zone, other areas to be cleared, and the buffer zone should be shown on this map. A map showing habitats used by "important" species in the vicinity of the site that are expected to be affected by facility construction and operation should be provided. These maps should be supplemented when available with recent aerial photographs showing the site and adjacent land areas (from the Environmental Report (ER)).
- (2) Area occupied by each natural and man-made habitat type identified in item (1) above (from the ER).
- (3) Onsite data on the botanical species composition of, and relative abundance in, the major vegetation layers (e.g., overstory and inderstory), in enough detail to identify the communities as to dominant species (from the ER).
- (4) Summary of onsite natural and human-induced effects (e.g., farming, fishing, logging, grazing, and burning) and the successional state (i.e., weed, brush, pole, and mature states) (from the ER).
- (5) List of vertebrate species important to facility performance known to occur (from the ER and consultation with local, State, and Federal agencies).

- (6) List of invertebrate species of local importance or concern as disease vectors or pests. Detailed field surveys of all insect populations are not required (from the ER and consultation with local, State, and Federal agencies).
- (7) Estimates of the relative abundance of both commercially and recreationally important game and nongame vertebrates (from the ER and consultation with local, State, and Federal agencies).

### Offsite Areas

- (1) Major vegetation types hydraulically or eolically downgradient (from the ER and site visit and through consultation with local, State, and Federal agencies).
- (2) List of commercially or recreationally important vertebrate animals known to occur eolically and hydraulically downgradient of the facility to a distance of 5 km.
- (3) List of other vertebrate species important to facility performance known to occur within 25 km or migratory distance, whichever is less, from the facility.
- (4) List of invertebrate species of local importance or concern as disease vectors or pests. Detailed field surveys of insect populations are not needed (from the ER and consultation with local, State, and Federal agencies).

# 2.9 Preoperational Environmental Monitoring

The applicant's development of the preoperational environmental monitoring program will draw on information about the ecology, meteorology, climate, hydrology, geology, geochemistry, and seismology of the disposal site, which will be provided under other sections of the SAR.

In this section, the applicant should describe the organizational structure of the environmental monitoring program as required by 10 CFR 61.11(b)(1); the technical qualifications of the monitoring staff, including training and experience as required by 10 CFR 61.11(b)(2); and the training program for the applicant's staff as required by 10 CFR 61.11(b)(3).

This environmental monitoring and surveillance plan should consider both onsite and offsite measurements in air, water, soil, vegetation, local fauna, and local sources of food. The applicant should provide the rationale for

- (1) the location of the monitoring points
- (2) the media to be sampled at each location
- (3) the frequency of sample collection at each location
- (4) the selection of the radiological and nonradiological constituents of the samples taken from each media that are to be sampled and analyzed

- (5) the instrumentation and methods selected for field sampling, surveys, and laboratory analysis
- (6) the processing of the sample, including the types and frequencies of analyses (e.g., gamma spectroscopy and chemical oxygen demand) and the minimum detectable amounts and lower limits of detection for each constituent that is to be analyzed
- (7) the statistical basis to be used for comparing the baseline measurements to the corresponding measurements in the operational and postclosure periods of site operation, that is, a definition of a significant difference in measurement results as required by 10 CFR 61.80(vi)
- (8) the format proposed for annual reports of environmental monitoring results to be submitted to the NRC as required by 10 CFR 61.80(i)(1)

The applicant should describe the quality assurance measures and the quality control procedures for all aspects of the environmental monitoring program (e.g., testing, maintenance, and calibration of instruments; checks on sampling procedures; and laboratory analysis).

#### 3 DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION

### 3.1 Principal Design Features

The applicant should describe the principal design features of the facility that are designed to provide long-term isolation of disposed waste, minimize the need for continued active maintenance after site closure, and improve the site's natural characteristic in order to protect public health and safety. Principal design features should be identified and described for each of the following 11 functional requirements: (1) minimizing the infiltration of water into disposal units; (2) ensuring the integrity of disposal unit covers; (3) providing for the structural stability of backfill, waste, and covers; (4) minimizing contact of waste with standing water; (5) providing adequate site drainage during operations and after closure; (6) facilitating site closure and stabilization; (7) minimizing the need for long-term maintenance; (8) providing a barrier against inadvertent intrusion; (9) maintaining occupational exposure as low as is reasonably achievable (ALARA); (10) providing adequate disposal site monitoring; and (11) providing an adequate buffer zone for monitoring and potential mitigative action.

The principal design features are to be clearly described in relationship to each other to demonstrate that all of the features have been carefully considered in a coherent low-level waste disposal facility (LLWDF) plan. Specific design details (validity of assumptions, methods employed, results of studies and calculations, etc.) and principal design criteria for the 11 principal design features are to be provided by the applicant in other appropriate sections where this information is identified. The applicant should supply the following minimum descriptive information for each of the principal design features.

## Water Infiltration

The applicant should provide information on (1) the covers over the waste that are designed to direct onsite precipitation away from the disposal units, (2) the onsite drainage systems that are designed to direct flow from offsite precipitation and groundwater away from the disposal units, and (3) the onsite drainage system that is designed to perform for the required period of time with minimum maintenance after site closure.

# Disposal Unit Cover Integrity

The applicant should provide information on (1) the covers' ability to perform for the required period of time and to avoid the need for continuing active maintenance and (2) the covers' ability to resist degradation by surface geologic processes and biotic activity.

# Structural Stability

The applicant should provide information on the structural stability of the backfill, waste, and covers that is directed toward long-term isolation of the waste and the avoidance of the need for active maintenance.

### Contact With Standing Water

The applicant should provide information on measures to minimize contact of waste with standing water during periods of temporary storage and disposal operations and before and after site closure.

### Site Drainage

The applicant should provide information on adequate site surface drainage provisions both during and after operations which would include direction of surfac water away from the disposed waste and control of surface drainage to velocities and gradients that will not result in erosion.

#### Site Closure and Stabilization

The applicant should provide information on (1) the provisions for ensuring long-term isolation of the waste and avoiding the need for active maintenance and the compatiblity of these provisions with the disposal site closure and stabilization plan and (2) complementary features that have improved the site's natural characteristics.

### Long-Term Maintenance

The applicant should provide information on how the need for long-term maintenance after site closure is to be avoided.

#### Inadvertent Intruder Barrier

The applicant should provide information on barriers to be installed to protect individuals from inadvertent intrusion.

# Occupational Exposure

The applicant should provide information on measures to be taken to maintain occupational exposures as low as is reasonably achievable.

# Site Monitoring

The applicant should provide information on the operational and postoperational environmental monitoring and surveillance programs to be conducted at the disposal site.

## Buffer Zone

The applicant should submit information on measures that provide adequate site dimensions to carry out environmental monitoring activities and to take mitigative measures, if needed.

# 3.2 Design Considerations for Normal and Abnormal/Accident Conditions

The applicant should present the principal design criteria for the proposed facility. These design criteria should ensure that the principal design features under normal, abnormal, and accident conditions are designed to (1) provide long-term isolation of the disposed waste, (2) minimize the need for

continued active maintenance after site closure, and (3) improve the site's natural characteristics in order to protect public health and safety.

Design criteria should be identified for the structures, systems, and components providing the following 11 functions related to the principal design features: (1) minimizing the infiltration of water into disposal units; (2) ensuring the integrity of disposal unit covers; (3) providing for structural stability of backfill, waste, and covers; (4) minimizing contact of waste with standing water; (5) providing adequate site surface drainage during operations and after closure; (6) facilitating site closure and stabilization; (7) minimizing the need for long-term maintenance; (8) providing a barrier against inadvertent intrusion; (9) maintaining occupational exposures ALARA; (10) providing adequate disposal site monitoring; and (11) providing an adequate buffer zone for monitoring and potential mitigative action.

For each function of the principal design features, the applicant should (1) identify and describe the principal design criteria; (2) identify the normal conditions or anticipated occurrences used in design; (3) identify the abnormal conditions used in design; (4) identify any accident scenarios used in design; (5) identify the contribution to meeting the performance objectives for each structure, system, and component on the basis of the analyses and assessments in Sections 6 and 7 of the SAR; and (6) show that the relationship between the principal design criteria and the normal, abnormal, and accident conditions will reasonably ensure that the structures, systems, and components will contribute to performance as expected. Principal design criteria for each functional structure, system, and component under normal, abnormal, and accident conditions are discussed in the following paragraphs. Other relevant information on design bases, design limits, and design details (assumptions, methods, calculations, and results) may either be presented in this section or in other sections, depending on where the applicant chooses to provide the required design information.

As appropriate, the short- and long-term stability of the 11 principal design features should be analyzed for both static and dynamic loading conditions. For long-term stability considerations, the design-basis abnormal events would include (1) the maximum earthquake (Section 2.3.2), (2) the probable maximum flood (PMF) and the probable maximum precipitation (PMP) (Section 6.3.1), and (3) the extreme meteorological conditions (Section 2.2). For short-term normal operational stability considerations, the loading from the above events would meet with staff approval; however, less severe natural events would be acceptable, provided the applicant submits information that supports the adoption of the less severe event.

## Water Infiltration

Principal design criteria applicable to minimizing the infiltration of water through disposal unit covers should identify the fraction of precipitation that can be allowed to infiltrate the cover. This fraction should be expressed in terms of (1) a severe snowmelt condition, where applicable at a given site, or the 10-year, 24-hour rainfall with high antecedent moisture conditions for the normal hydrologic event and (2) the worst condition resulting from snowmelt or PMP as the abnormal design-basis event. Analyses of increased infiltration resulting from cracking of the cover surface and accidents are not required,

but possible changes in infiltration rates through covers resulting from unanticipated degradation should be identified. Remedial measures should be described, allowing for the event of increased infiltration.

Principal design criteria for directing and controlling onsite precipitation or seasonal perch groundwater away from disposal units should identify the flow rates and groundwater levels that subsurface drainage system components are expected to handle. These flow rates or groundwater levels at a minimum should be based on (1) severe snowmelt conditions, where applicable, or the 100-year, 6-hour rainfall with high antecedent moisture or frozen ground conditions as the normal operational event; (2) the worst conditions resulting from maximum snowmelt or the PMP as the abnormal design-basis event; (3) accidental blockage of single drainage components as an accident condition.

## Disposal Unit Cover Integrity

Principal design criteria applicable to ensuring the integrity of disposal unitovers and for providing erosion protection, at a minimum, should identify (1) surface water and wind velocities used for normal operating conditions and (2) abnormal surface water and wind velocities and water levels used for long-term stability considerations. Analyses of increased cover erosion resulting from accidents are not required.

Principal design criteria to ensure that settlement/subsidence does not affect the integrity of disposal unit covers, at a minimum, should identify (1) estimated total and differential settlements and anticipated densifications of waste and fill materials, (2) anticipated strength and durability of cover materials for the period that buried waste would be hazardous, and (3) abnormal ground motion associated with the maximum earthquake. Analyses of increased settlement/subsidence resulting from accidents are not required.

## Structural Stability

Principal design criteria to ensure the structural stability of the fill, waste, and waste covering, at a minimum, should identify (1) the volume of anticipated voids within waste containers and within the backfill around the containers, (2) the effect of voids that might result from operational occurrences, (3) the effects of the design-basis abnormal events on structural stability, and (4) anticipated degradation of fill, waste forms, and waste cover materials for the period that the waste remains hazardous and in recognition of the geochemical environment. Analyses of reduced structural stability associated with accidents are not required.

## Contact With Standing Water

Principal design criteria to prevent the contact of waste with standing water during interim storage and operations and after closure, at a minimum, should cover (1) subsurface and surface water drainage away from disposal units and temporary storage areas, (2) relative permeability of disposal unit floor natural materials to placed drain materials, (3) slopes and drainage collection features on disposal unit floors, (4) temporary platforms and covers for stored waste exposed to the atmosphere, (5) accidental failure of active drainage system components during operations, and (6) accidental failure of any passive drainage system component after closure. The design-basis hydrologic and meteorologic

events would be identical to the events identified in the section entitled "Water Infiltration."

#### Site Surface Drainage

Principal design criteria to ensure the safe handling of site surface drainage should identify (1) site surface drainage features, diversionary structures, and surface drainage slopes and (2) the possible effects of upstream dam failures or downstream drainage blockages as accident conditions. The design-basis hydrologic and meteorologic events would be identical to the events identified in the section entitled "Water Infiltration."

#### Site Closure and Stabilization

Principal design criteria applicable to site closure and stabilization should identify (1) items in the final site closure plan requiring contribution from design and (2) the effects of design-basis abnormal events on closure and potential active maintenance requirements. Analyses of the effects of accidents after site closure are not required.

#### Long-Term Maintenance

Principal design criteria should identify the provisions to be incorporated that will support the avoidance of the need for long-term maintenance by addressing (1) anticipated material durability, (2) anticipated erosional effects, (3) the effects of anticipated drainage system degradation, (4) anticipated monitoring system degradation, and (5) the potential effects of design-basis abnormal events on long-term maintenance requirements. Analyses of the effects of accidents on long-term maintenance are not required.

## Inadvertent Intruder Barrier

Principal design criteria applicable to barriers against inadvertent intruders should identify the potential range of degradation rates for markers, engineered barriers, and the materials separating the stable and unstable wastes. Analyses of the effects of accidents on intruder barriers may be required at sites where the top of Class C wastes is placed at depths less than 5 m below the top surface of the disposal unit cover.

## Occupational Exposure

Principal design criteria to limit occupation exposure, at a minimum, should identify on the basis of Section 7.3 of the SAR (1) ALARA requirements for receiving, inspection, handling, storage, and the disposal excavation areas; (2) required shielding for anticipated higher activity wastes; and (3) provisions for handling the accidental rupture of nonstable waste containers.

## Site Monitoring

Principal design criteria applicable to site environmental monitoring and surveillance systems should identify (1) the anticipated life of monitoring system equipment and components, (2) potential rate of degradation and action to be

taken in the event of loss of the various types of monitoring equipment, and (3) the effects of design-basis abnormal events. Analyses of the effects of accidents on the monitoring system are not required.

#### Buffer Zone

Principal design criteria applicable to the buffer zone should identify (1) the required dimensions of that part of the buffer zone that will be available for monitoring and (2) the required dimensions of that part of the buffer zone that will be available for taking corrective measures, if unacceptable migration of radionuclides is indicated. Analyses of the effects of accidents on the buffer zone are not required.

# 3.2A Structural Design for Below-Ground Vaults and Earth-Mounded Concrete Bunkers

The applicant should provide information on the structural design of the below-ground vault (BGV) (or earth-mounded concrete bunker (EMCB)), including the description of the loads and load combinations to be imposed in the design of the engineered structures; the codes, standards, and specifications to be used by the applicant in the structural design; the design analytical procedures to be used and the supporting bases for their selection; the results of the design calculations; the applicant's principal design criteria and the bases for their acceptance; and an assessment of the potential adverse impacts from site factors (e.g., geology, hydrology, and geotechnical characteristics).

#### Loads and Load Combinations

The information on loads and load combinations should include the types of loads considered in the design, the load combinations used with selected load factors, the choice of design method (e.g., strength design or elastic working stress method), and the important assumptions and factors that affect the allowable limit (U for concrete and S for steel) used as the basis for acceptance of the structures.

# Applicable Codes, Standards, and Regulatory Guidance

The applicant should identify the codes, standards, and regulatory guides used in the structural design of the BGV or EMCB, including specific chapters or sections of the codes and standards where full compliance with the provisions have been followed. The applicant also should identify and describe any deviations and the bases for their acceptance.

## Design and Analytical Procedures

The information on design and analytical procedures should include a description of important structures and their foundations with plans and sectional views, design assumptions including boundary conditions and the bases for the assumptions, analytical procedures including computer programs and the method for validating the computer programs, the method for determining the forces resulting from the design-basis earthquake, and the results of design calculations and the applicant's procedures for verifying the results.

A design report containing design assumptions and calculations should be separately maintained by the applicant in case a structural audit is needed to resolve safety review questions.

## Principal Design Criteria

The applicant should identify the principal design criteria and the bases for their acceptance for the structural design aspects that provide reasonable assurance of their contribution to the long-term stability of the disposal facility. Where appropriate, the applicant may elect to establish principal design criteria by demonstrating compliance with acceptable codes, standards, and regulatory guidance as identified in NUREG/CR-5041. The applicant should describe any deviations from the acceptable codes and standards and provide the technical bases for their acceptance.

## Impact of Site Factors

The applicant should describe how specific site factors, that would include geology, seismology, meteorology, climatology, hydrology, and geotechnical and geochemical characteristics, have been considered and addressed in the structural design. The applicant may choose to address the impacts from these site factors in other sections where the siting features are discussed in greater detail, but the applicant would need to cross-reference in this section the section(s) where the impact of site factors on structural design are addressed.

#### 3.3 Construction Considerations

#### 3.3.1 Construction Methods and Features

The applicant should provide information on the construction methods and features of the disposal site and its facilities. Site plans, engineering drawings, and construction specifications, as necessary, should be supplied for staff review. The applicant should ensure that site plans, engineering drawings, and construction specifications are legible and that the physical scales of the drawings are sufficiently large so that the details and notations in the drawings are readable.

The applicant should include information on the following:

## (1) Site Preparation

The applicant should discuss the construction operations needed to prepare the site for disposal of low-level radioactive waste and describe the special features unique to a specific site such as the procedures for backfilling existing wells or open boreholes.

## (2) Control and Diversion of Water

The applicant should provide plans for controlling surface water and ground-water in the proposed excavations and fill areas and should discuss the construction methods for completing the control and diversion features (temporary or permanent dikes, diversion ditches, etc.) and the time schedule for completing this work.

## (3) Construction of Disposal Units

The applicant should describe the construction of individual disposal units, including the sequence for the completion of these units. This information should cover conditions up to the actual placement of waste into the individual disposal unit and should include the following:

- (a) excavations types of soil and rock materials to be removed; limits, slopes, and depths or bottom elevations shown in plan and on sectional views; requirements on final surface preparation, including identification of any unsuitable materials, and excavated surfaces where concrete is to be placed; disposition of excavated material
- (b) fill areas limits, slopes, and heights or top elevations; requirements on surfaces to receive fill such as no placement over frozen ground, scarifying to promote bonding, and proof rolling; types of fill materials; requirements for spreading and moisture conditioning fill layers, the removal of oversize particles, and field procedures to obtain the required degree of compaction
- (c) preplacement details provisions for directing and controlling precipitation and surface water runoff in the disposal unit excavations (thickness of permeable base or blanket layer, slopes for drainage, sump locations etc.)
- (d) quality control testing requirements (e.g., field density, fill moisture, laboratory compaction, gradation, and plasticity) including identification of test standard and test frequency

## (4) Concrete and Steel Construction

The applicant should provide information on disposal facility construction where concrete and structural steel materials are used. For concrete, this information should include the design, manufacture, mixing, reinforcement, forming, transporting, placing, finishing, and curing of concrete. For structural steel, this information should include the design, fabrication, and erection of buildings and components.

## (5) Backfilling

The information on backfilling should address the technical requirements applicable to the emplacement of waste packages in the disposal units, as well as the requirement that void spaces between the waste packages be filled in order to reduce future subsidence within the excavations. The information should include the following:

- (a) the planned stacking arrangement of the waste containers
- (b) the provisions that restrict the placement of decomposable materials in the excavation in order to minimize future long-term subsidence
- (c) the construction controls to be required to ensure proper gradation and moisture condition of the cohesionless backfill materials that are placed around the containers

(d) the construction operations, and their sequence, that are planned for the actual placement of the waste containers and the backfill materials

## (6) Closure of Individual Disposal Units

The information on closure should include the various construction features of materials to be placed in the cover above the backfilled waste. For many of the types of material to be placed in the exavation cover, the applicant should provide information that is similar to that previously identified for fill areas and quality control testing in this section for the construction of disposal units. Any unique consideration for these materials such as using specific construction methods that will prevent undesirable mixing or contamination of the different materials in the excavation cover should be discussed by the applicant. Special manufacturing, handling, or placement requirements for intruder barrier materials or geotechnical fabric should be identified and discussed.

## (7) Applicable Codes, Standards, and Specifications

The applicant should provide information on design and construction codes, standards, and specifications that were applied in the design and that will be applied in the construction of the facility.

## (8) Construction Materials and Quality Assurance

The applicant should provide information on the materials that will be used in the construction of the disposal facility. Among the major materials of construction that may be used are the disposal unit excavation and fill materials, concrete and grouting ingredients, reinforcing bars, and structural steel. If any material not used previously in NRC-licensed facilities is proposed, the applicant is required to provide sufficient testing and user data to establish the acceptability of the material. The applicant's quality control procedures and construction techniques directed at ensuring that there will not be degradation in material quality are also reviewed.

## (9) Site Plans, Engineering Drawings, and Construction Specifications

The applicant should provide site plans and engineering drawings that clearly convey the design features. The engineering drawings should show dimensions, sections, and relative locations of the various facilities within the disposal site boundary. All plans and drawings should be drawn to a scale large enough to convey the design information adequately and should be signed by a licensed engineer. As-built condition should ultimately be documented by the applicant as a permanent record for the constructed disposal facility. Construction specifications should be compatible and consistent with the design and operation requirements. The contents and procedures specified in the specifications should conform to the applicable industry codes and standards.

#### 3.3.2 Construction Equipment

The applicant should provide information on equipment to be used for construction and off-loading, handling, transporting, and placing waste at the disposal

facility. The information should include the equipment types, manufacturer's specifications, and the capabilities of selected equipment to safely handle the waste. Provisions for storage, maintenance, replacement, and inspection of equipment should also be provided. The applicant also should describe the quality assurance and quality control programs for purchasing, handling, replacing, and maintaining equipment to ensure that the equipment will perform reliably and will not impair the quality and proper functioning of the waste disposal facility.

# 3.3A Construction and Operation Considerations for Below-Ground Vaults and Earth-Mounded Concrete Bunkers

The applicant should describe the construction materials and construction methods and disposal operations for the engineered BGV or EMCB structures where low-level waste is to be placed. The major considerations and features to be described include the properties of the construction materials, particularly its quality and durability, and the major construction and operational procedures to be followed, including the measures to avoid long-term adverse impacts on adjacent filled and closed disposal vaults.

## Construction Materials Quality and Durability

The information on the construction materials quality and durability characteristics should include the types of materials to be used with a description of their properties and engineering characteristics. The applicant should provide supporting data and test results on the proposed materials that are based on either proven inservice performance records, where applicable, or testing of representative samples using accepted and recognized codes and standards. The quality and durability considerations that would need to be discussed include the resistance of the materials to (1) freezing and thawing; (2) humidity; (3) aging; (4) fatigue; (5) sulfate; chloride, and acid attack; (6) toxic material attack; (7) abrasion; (8) temperature changes; (9) wetting and drying; (10) radiation; (11) biodegradation; (12) electrolysis; and (13) shrinkage and cracking.

NUREG/CR-5041, Section 2.3, provides guidance on the information that would need to be provided for the various types of material (Portland cement concrete, steel, moisture barriers, and geosynthetics) likely to be used in the construction of a BGV or EMCB. For example, the information on Portland cement concrete would include the type of cement, mixing water, coarse and fine aggregates and admixtures. The applicant should identify the engineering properties of the materials to be required in construction, such as the minimum unconfined compressive strength of concrete at 28 days of age. The applicant also should identify any deviations from the accepted and recognized codes and test standards and the basis for the deviation.

## Construction Methods and Disposal Operations

The applicant should describe the major construction methods and operational procedures to be completed, including (1) site preparations for the proposed structure (surveying, clearing, draining, excavation, and foundation surface

preparation); (2) installation of the permanent drainage system (drainage blanket, perimeter drains and pipes, and collector sumps); (3) installation of monitoring wells; (4) vault construction (formwork; steel reinforcement placement; formation of joints in concrete; concrete mix proportioning, batching, mixing, and casting operations; form removal; and placement of moisture barriers); (5) waste disposal operations (placement of packages, filling voids around waste packages, closing of vault openings, placing and compacting of fill, and measures to protect facility workers); and (6) closure of individual disposal units (method for sealing access openings, method for placing materials over the completed vaults, identification of time period permitted to expire before placing sufficient cover materials over the closed units with proper drainage) including measures to avoid damage to or disturbance of adjacent completed units. Further quidance is provided in Section 2.4 of NUREG/CR-5041.

## 3.4 Design of Auxiliary Systems and Facilities

#### 3.4.1 Utility Systems

The applicant should describe the utility systems of the proposed facility, how each system provides support required by the operational needs of the proposed facility, and any adverse affects that the utility system design or potential failure could have on overall facility performance in meeting 10 CFR 61 requirements.

The applicant should describe all utility systems including communication, electric, water, lighting, sanitary waste disposal, fuel delivery, and any other utility system installed at the facility. The following information should be provided for each system: (1) an accurate description of system components; (2) an identification of which functional requirements of the principal design features in Section 3.1, if any, are supported; (3) design bases, criteria, codes, and standards used for design; and (4) any potential adverse effects on principal design features or overall facility performance that might result from failure of the utility system.

## 3.4.2 Auxiliary Facilities

The applicant should describe the auxiliary facilities of the proposed facility, how the auxiliary facilities support the operational needs or construction requirements of the facility, and any adverse effects that the auxiliary facility design or failure could have on overall facility performance.

The applicant should describe the auxiliary buildings required to support construction or operation of the facility and should present (1) the overall layout and design of auxiliary buildings; (2) the purpose for each building; (3) design criteria, codes, and standards used in design; and (4) potential adverse effects of building design or building failure on the overall waste disposal facility performance.

The applicant also should describe the traffic systems required to support construction or operation of the facility, and should include (1) the overall traffic system design including layouts of roadways and/or railways, (2) the purpose of the traffic system components, (3) the materials used in construction, (4) traffic controls, and (5) potential adverse effects of traffic system design or component failure on overall facility performance.

The applicant should describe any auxiliary facility that is in addition to buildings and traffic systems and identify any potential adverse effects that its design or failure could have on overall facility performance.

#### 3.4.3 Fire Protection System

The applicant should describe the fire protection system and the system's capability to safely protect the disposal facility and workers from radiation and fire hazards if an accidental fire should occur. The fire protection system includes the equipment, procedures, training, management, and emergency planning required for fire protection at the facility.

The applicant needs to postulate accidental fire scenarios and describe the potential consequences of the accidental fires where the postulated fires could occur in areas important to radiological safety such as the waste receipt area, the waste handling area, the waste storage area, and the disposal unit areas. Both normal operating and abnormal and/or accident conditions should be considered in the postulation and analysis of accidental fires. The fire analysis should include the locations of the fire assumed to produce the severest conditions, the construction arrangement of affected structures, the materials likel to be consumed, and the safety and health effects of the smoke and heat associated with the fire.

The applicant should describe (1) the management's plan for responding to a fire emergency; (2) the procedures, materials, and equipment that will be in place for use during a fire emergency; (3) the procedures and equipment for providing offsite alarms, if required; and (4) the training programs for facility personnel both for the prevention of fires and for esponding to fire emergencies. The applicant should show how the prescribed provisions and recommendations of National Fire Protection Association Codes, NFPA 801-1986, "Recommended Fire Protection Practice for Facilities Handling Radioactive Materials," and NFPA 901-1981, "Uniform Coding for Fire Protection," have been implemented in the fire protection system proposed for the waste disposal facility.

The applicant should describe the equipment to be used in preventing and responding to fires and should include building materials; fire detection equipment; sprinklers; onsite and offsite alarm systems; wet, dry, and chemical fire extinguishers; and foam extinguishing systems.

The applicant should describe the emergency response to a fire by facility personnel, the provisions for notification of the public of potential radiological hazards, and the evacuation measures for facility personnel and nearby residents, if these measures are required.

## 3.4.4 Erosion and Flood Control System

The applicant should provide hydrologic analyses and design details of the site flood control system to demonstrate that the requirements of 10 CFR 61.51(a) are met. Those features that will provide protection against erosion and flooding during the operational period should be fully described. The information and analyses should conclusively document that, in accordance with 10 CFR 61.51(a)(4), (a)(5), and (a)(6), surface features have been designed to direct surface drainage away from disposal units at velocities and gradients that will not result in flooding or erosion.

The applicant should provide detailed descriptions (plans, maps, and cross-sections) of the site drainage system, including channels, erosion protection, and diversion structures. The applicant should also provide detailed computations of peak flood flows, depths of flow, and velocities that constitute the bases for the design of protective features. Estimates of rainfall intensity, infiltration rates, times of concentration, hydrographs, etc., should be provided in sufficient detail to allow independent evaluations to be made of the design criteria and technical analyses.

#### 4 FACILITY OPERATIONS

## 4.1 Receipt and Inspection of Waste

The applicant should describe the procedures or contracts in place that will ensure that arriving shipments comply with applicable Federal regulations and waste acceptance criteria that might be incorporated into the disposal facility license as conditions. These regulations and acceptance criteria should govern the acceptability of waste packages for routine handling operations and for long-term disposal.

Specifically, information on the following procedures should be provided:

- (1) Procedures for visual examination of the shipping documents, including any required compliance certificates and the waste manifest required by 10 CFR 20.311.
- (2) Procedures for visual examination of the waste package to ascertain if there are any irregularities in markings, labels, or probable waste contents and if the package is correctly described on the waste manifest as to its size, type, and waste contents; visual procedures in place to ensure that the "routine determinations" required by 10 CFR 71.87 are met.
- (3) Procedures to ensure verification surveys of the non-fixed (removable) radioactive contamination on the external surfaces of packages as required by 10 CFR 71.87 and 49 CFR 173.443 and procedures to verify that the external radiation levels around waste packages and transporting vehicles are within the limits of 10 CFR 71.47 and 49 CFR 173.441.
- (4) Procedures and information on testing and test equipment to be used to verify the accuracy of the waste class reported on the waste manifest. These procedures should include a proposed frequency for performing waste classification testing.
- (5) Procedures and information on testing and test equipment to be used to analytically verify that waste characteristics and waste form requirements are met and that the waste contains no hazardous constituents as determined by U.S. Environmental Protection Agency regulations 49 CFR 261. These procedures should include a proposed frequency for performing waste form testing.
- (6) Other procedures required to ensure that all waste acceptance criteria are met.

## 4.2 Waste Handling and Interim Storage

The applicant should provide information on the waste handling and interim waste storage operations to be performed at the disposal facility following acceptance and receipt of the waste packages. The applicant should describe the operations in sufficient detail to demonstrate that the waste will be handled

safely and stored in a manner that will prevent contact of water with the stored waste. Waste handling information to be provided should include the procedures and equipment that will be used to move the waste from the area of receipt to the permanent location of the disposal unit or, alternatively, to a location of interim storage. The applicant's description of the waste handling operations should include the procedures and equipment to be used in properly identifying and segregating the Class A, Class B, and Class C wastes for disposal. Interim waste storage information to be provided should include the buildings, restricted areas, procedures, and equipment that will be used to store waste after receipt for a short period of time before permanent disposal.

The information on waste handling should include procedures to protect facility workers during handling (training to ensure safe radiological control, decontamination provisions, use of protective clothing, etc.) and a description of the handling operations (off-loading procedures, anticipated rigging for the various types and sizes of containers, unloading equipment, etc.). The description of handling procedures should cover contingency plans for damaged waste packages and proposed procedures for repackaging.

The information on interim storage should include (1) a description of the conditions that would warrant temporary storage of the waste packages, (2) the maximum time that storage would be permitted, and (3) the applicant's procedures for maintaining a storage log and inventory with appropriate radiological monitoring provisions to ensure that above-ground storage limits were not exceeded. The applicant should describe the storage locations and facilities and the measures to be used to to protect the waste from precipitation and adverse weather conditions, including surface water runoff that might come in contact with temporarily stored waste.

## 4.3 Waste Disposal Operations

The applicant should present information on all the waste disposal operations and procedures beyond waste handling and interim storage (if storage is required) from the actual emplacement of the waste into the individual disposal units up to closure and stabilization operations in the individual units. The applicant should discuss site closure operations pertaining to, for example, final site grading across several disposal units to ensure the proper handling of surface water runoff and long-term settlement/subsidence in other sections of the SAR.

The major operations for waste disposal to be described by the applicant in this section include waste emplacement in the individual units while maintaining the integrity of waste packages, minimizing void spaces between waste packages by controlling placement and stacking arrangements, filling the void spaces between packages to minimize future settlements, covering the emplaced wastes to ensure that surface radiation doses will meet regulatory limits, locating the individual units including permanent mapping and marking of unit boundaries and contents, closure and stabilization of individual disposal units, and allowance for a buffer zone around and beneath the disposal facility.

## Waste Emplacement

The information on waste emplacement should include the operations and procedures for actually placing unstable Class A wastes and stable Class A, Class B,

and Class C wastes in the respective disposal units to be identified by the applicant. This information should identify the specific equipment to be used to place the waste while maintaining the integrity of waste packages including the use of slings, pallets, or special unhooking mechanisms to minimize worker exposure during placement. A description of the procedures for controlled placement and stacking should be provided along with a description of the shape and volume of voids that the applicant anticipates will remain between waste packages after placement. The methods to protect facility workers from exposure (shielding, protective clothing, etc.) during emplacement should be described. Information on the operations for placing Class C waste (at depths to ensure minimum cover requirements, etc.) is of special importance and should be coordinated with the information in Section 6.2, "Intruder Protection."

## Filling of Void Spaces

The information on filling void spaces between waste containers should include a description of (1) the methods that will be used to minimize future subsidence (e.g., placing fill before additional layers of waste would reach elevations that would prevent optimum filling or voids); (2) the engineering properties of the fill material, gradation, ability of the material to conform around variable shapes and sizes without bridging between containers, placement moisture and density condition, permeability, and compressibility; and (3) the measures to prevent placement of decomposable materials. The applicant should provide information on the compatibility and durability of the proposed fill material in recognition of the chemical environment in which it will be placed (e.g., maintaining desired permeability characteristics) and the long-term performance required of the materials. Materials placed for subsurface and surface drainage (e.g., permeable blanket placed on excavation bottom with slope graded to sumps) to safely handle percolation and surface runoff should be described along with a discussion of the design details of the pervicus blanket.

## Waste Covering

The applicant should provide information on the shielding materials to be placed over the waste up to the top of the individual disposal unit. This information should include type of material, thickness and engineering characteristics (strength, compaction moisture and compacted density requirements, compressibility, and erosion resistance and radiation attenuation properties). The procedures for placement of material and the equipment to be used should also be described.

## Locating Disposal Units and Boundary Markers

Information for locating, mapping, and marking disposal units and facility boundaries by field surveys and installing markers should be provided. This should include (1) the level of horizontal and vertical field survey control to be required, (2) the qualifications of survey personnel (e.g., under the direction of registered professional land surveyor), (3) the times the field surveys are to be performed (e.g., after excavation of disposal unit and before placement of waste and after the placement of the waste covering), (4) the procedures and documentation for developing a permanent office record on location of disposal units and boundary markers that will be made available before the period of institutional control. (5) the types and location of durable markers and monuments to be installed, and (6) the information to be inscribed or placed on

each boundary and disposal unit marker and monument. The information that will be visible in the field on disposal unit monuments that are to serve as permanent markers during the institutional control period should include the total activity of radioactive material in curies, the total amount of source material in kilograms, the total amount of special nuclear material in grams, the disposal unit excavation number, the dates the excavation was opened and closed by completing the covering, and the volume of waste in the disposal unit excavation.

## Disposal Unit Closure and Stabilization

The information on closure and stabilization of individual disposal units should include a description of (1) the operations and procedures that will be required to prevent disturbance of completed units by ongoing waste disposal operations, (2) the design and construction features of completed units to ensure compatibility with final closure and stabilization plans (e.g., compatibility of final cover and grading with surface water management plan and erosion control measures), (3) provisions for regular inspections and monitoring of completed units for subsidence, ponding of water and infiltration, or unsuccessful growth of vegetation with resulting erosion, and (4) construction operations to be completed if problems are identified during the regular inspections.

#### Buffer Zone

The information on the buffer zone should include (1) the identification of buffer zone areas and dimensions on site plans for carrying out proposed operational and postoperational environmental monitoring and surveillance activities; (2) a discussion on the adequacy of these areas to permit construction and mitigative measures to be taken if the results of monitoring show remedial measures are required; and (3) a discussion of how site geology and topography, natural soil and rock characteristics, direction, depth, and velocity of groundwater, and location of wells and water users were considered in the development of buffer zone dimensions.

## 4.4 Operational Environmental Monitoring and Surveillance

The information in this section should demonstrate how the applicant meets the environmental and surveillance requirements in 10 CFR 61.53(b) and (c), the performance objectives of 10 CFR 61.41, the exposure limits in 10 CFR 20.105(b), and other sections of 10 CFR 20 as they apply to a low-level radioactive waste disposal facility. For the construction and operational environmental monitoring and surveillance periods, the applicant should

- (1) Submit monitoring plans that will provide adequate data for evaluation of the potential long-term health and environmental effects resulting from accidental or routine exposure conditions. Any modifications to the preoperational plan for onsite or offsite environmental monitoring, including a disposal unit monitoring program, should be thoroughly discussed and justified.
- (2) Describe the extent of its participation in an environmental laboratory intercomparison program (such as that administered by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency). This will provide the staff with some measure of both the precision and accuracy of the laboratory measurements of radioactivity. If these analyses are to be performed by an outside contractor.

- a description of the contractor's quality assurance program and the extent of the contractor's participation in a nationally recognized laboratory measurements intercomparison program should also be included.
- (3) Describe how the monitoring system is capable of providing early warning for releases of radionuclides from the disposal site before they leave the site boundary. The rationale for the selection of recording levels, action levels, and the concentrations in each medium that lead to mitigative action should be discussed in detail.
- (4) Describe and document the mathematical/computer models to be used for calculation of dose to workers on site and the public off site (annual dose and 50-year dose commitment) when the measured concentrations of pollutants are below the limits of detection by state-of-the-art instrumentation.
- (5) Define those protective and restorative actions to be taken if an unplanned release of pollutant were to occur from the site. The plan should be based on the protective action guides developed by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA-520/1-75-001, June 1980).
- (6) Describe any changes in the technical personnel, equipment, instrumentation, or facilities from those selected in the site characterization monitoring phase. Any changes in the training program for environmental monitoring should also be included.

#### 5 SITE CLOSURE PLAN AND INSTITUTIONAL CONTROLS

The applicant should describe the facility closure and stabilization plan and the design features that are intended to facilitate disposal site closure and to eliminate the need for ongoing active maintenance. Information in other sections should be referenced as appropriate.

The applicant should explain the coordination with or participation by a State or States in the development of the proposed disposal facility. The relationship of the proposed site to compacts formed under the Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Act of 1980 should be presented. The discussions should meet the requirements of 10 CFR 61.14 and the demonstrations required by 10 CFR 61.59.

#### 5.1 Site Stabilization

The applicant should demonstrate that disposal unit covers are designed to minimize infiltration of water into the disposal unit, to direct percolating or surface water away from disposed waste, and to resist degradation by surface geologic processes and biotic activity. Supporting information should include the results of field tests of prototype and model covers.

#### 5.1.1 Surface Drainage and Erosion Protection

The applicant should provide hydrologic analyses and design details of the site flood control system to demonstrate that the requirements of 10 CFR 61.12(g), 61.13, 61.51, and 61.52 are met. Those features and institutional procedures that will provide protection against erosion and flooding during the closure period should be fully described. The information and analyses should conclusively document that, in accordance with 10 CFR 61.51 and 61.52, site features have been designed and constructed in such a manner that erosion and flooding of disposal units will be prevented and active maintenance will not be required.

The applicant should provide detailed descriptions (plans, maps and cross-sections) of the site drainage system, including channels, erosion protection, trench covers, and diversion structures. The applicant should also provide detailed computations of peak flood flows, depths of flow, and velocities which constitute the bases for the design of protective features. Estimates of rainfall intensity, infiltration rates, times of concentration, hydrographs, etc., should be provided in sufficient detail to allow independent evaluations to be made of the design criteria and technical analyses.

## 5.1.2 Geotechnical Stability

The applicant should provide information on the geotechnical stability aspects of the site closure plan for a low-level waste disposal facility in accordance with 10 CFR 61 performance objectives and technical requirements. Information on the design and construction of the disposal unit excavation covers, overall site cover, and related monitoring program should be detailed enough to enable an evaluation of the geotechnical stability aspects of the proposed site closure

plan. The applicant should include the following information on the geotechnical stability aspects: (1) design and construction details for the disposal unit excavation cover; (2) program to monitor and analyze the performance of the backfilled disposal unit excavations with a commitment to carry out remedial measures, if warranted; and (3) design and construction details of the overall site cover, site grading, permanent slopes of embankments, and drainage features (e.g., diversion ditches).

## Disposal Unit Excavation Cover

Regarding the disposal unit excavation cover, the applicant should include the following:

- (1) Information on the sequence of placing the soil cover over the disposed waste containers and constructing the initial cap for each backfilled disposal unit excavation. If the proposal calls for an initial cover on individual disposal unit excavations to be followed at final closure by the placement of a second cover as an infiltration barrier for all the disposal unit excavations at the site, then the details of this proposal should be presented including the time of placement for each cover.
- (2) Information on the drainage system designed to handle the surface water during the operation phase for the portion of the system that is to function during the institutional control period. This information should include size, lateral and longitudinal slope, filter and bedding materials, and demonstration of compliance with filter requirements for long-term performance.
- (3) Information on the settlement and infiltration monitoring program. This information should include details on the location, type, and typical installation details of the monitoring devices, discussion of the adequacy of the number of devices required to yield reliable data, allowing for some of the devices to fail to perform; and the interval for monitoring the data. The applicant's proposal for analyzing and evaluating the information gathered should be provided along with a commitment to initiate remedial actions, if excessive settlement of disposal unit excavation cover or infiltration into the closed excavations were to be observed.

The information should be adequate so that the staff can independently determine that the applicant intends to ensure that each of the filled disposal unit excavations will be performing as designed before starting the period of institutional control.

## Overall Site Cover

Information on the geotechnical aspects of the overall site cover should include the following:

(1) Engineering details on the several components of the overall site cover and site grading for the closure phase. This should include information on materials, thicknesses, and placement specification for the various materials proposed for the site cover; information on final grading to verify that all the surface water will be drained away from the disposal excavations; and information to show that all the permanent drains are adequately

protected with properly designed and durable filter materials to prevent clogging of drains in the long term. The final grading of the site cover should accommodate without any adverse effects the long-term settlement and/or subsidence expected at the site.

- (2) The proposed monitoring of the settlement of the disposal unit excavation cover and infiltration into the disposal unit excavations during the site-closure phase and the initial 5 years during the observation and surveil-lance period. This monitoring program should be similar in scope to that provided for the pre-site-closure phase. The scope or the extent of monitoring may be ultimately modified on the basis of the observations recorded and the evaluation of the preclosure monitoring data to fulfill long-term monitoring requirements.
- (3) The evaluation of the long-term stability (static and dynamic stability) of all permanent slopes at the site and the long-term settlement and/or subsidence at the site, as it applies to the geotechnical aspects of site closure phase. Sections 6.3.2 and 6.3.3 provide information on long-term stability and settlement evaluations.

The information on the geotechnical a pects of site closure should be adequate for the staff to judge the applicant's conclusions on the performance requirement of reasonable assurance that the disposal site will not experience instability of slopes, excessive settlement and/or subsidence, and infiltration of water into the backfilled disposal unit excavations and will not require active maintenance during the institutional control period.

# 5.1A <u>Site Closure and Stabilization Considerations for Below-Ground Vaults and Earth-Mounded Concrete Bunkers</u>

The applicant should provide information on site closure and stabilization at facilities where below-ground vaults (BGVs) or earth-mounded concrete bunkers (EMCBs) are to be constructed. This information should include (1) the provisions of a structural performance monitoring program that will verify important structural design assumptions and confirm structural performance and stability after site closure, (2) the design and construction features of the filter and drainage systems that are to be installed around and below the disposal vaults to safely control conservatively estimated flow quantities, and (3) the design and construction features of the waste cover system that will demonstrate that the cover will provide protection against radiation and protection for inadvertent intruders and will minimize infiltration and ensure long-term stability without the need for active maintenance.

NUREG/CR-5041, Sections 2.6, 2.7, and 2.8, provides guidance on the information to be provided on structural performance monitoring, filter and drainage systems, and the waste cover system.

## Structural Performance Monitoring

The information on structural performance monitoring should include a description of the types and locations of instruments to be installed and the scope of the monitoring program. This information should include the specific parameters to be monitored (loads, stresses, deformations, strains, water levels, and flow

5-3

quantities in the drainage collector sumps), typical installation details and installation procedures for each type of instrument including plans for replacing inoperative instruments, the frequency and duration of proposed monitoring, the procedures for evaluating the recorded data and observations including identification of the experience and qualification requirements for pertinent personnel, the limiting values of a passured structural parameters and the bases for establishing these values, and the procedures to be followed for remedial action if the limiting values are approached.

## Filter and Drainage Systems

The information on filter and drainage systems to be installed around and below concrete disposal vaults should include a description of (1) the features to be installed; (2) the type and size of drainage pipes, filter and drainage materials; and (3) other features along with the results of design computations supporting the established drainage rates and capacities. The information on filters should describe (1) how the materials selected fulfill the filter criteria (prevent internal erosion and piping and provide required perviousness); (2) the provisions for ensuring proper controls on gradation, placement, and compaction, and (3) how the properties of the selected materials were considered in addressing long-term performance and compatibility in the anticipated disposal environment. The applicant would also need to describe the type of fill material and the method of placement for fill around the waste packages within the vaults.

Additional information on features of the drainage system to be provided by the applicant would include (1) the capability of the drainage features to resist corrosion, encrustation, and clogging and measures that would be taken to restore clogged or ineffective drains; (2) internal drainage provisions (slope of concrete vaul\* floor, size and shape of drain openings, and method for acceptance testing); (3) the location and configuration of collector sumps with procedures for determining inflow quantities and the chemical constituents in the collected flows; and (4) the procedures for ensuring proper controls on gradation, placement, and compaction of drainage materials.

## Waste Cover System

The information on the waste cover system to be constructed over the completed engineered BGV or EMCB structure should include details on (1) the vault roof (materials, provisions for supporting the roof and minimizing void spaces over the waste and beneath the roof slab, measures for sloping to promote drainage and for sealing and controlling racks to prevent infiltration, and reliance as an intruder barrier, if assumed, with supporting basis); (2) low-permeability cover materials (e.g., geomembranes, bentonite panels, and clay soils) including appropriate industrial standards and pertinent engineering characteristics (e.g., maximum coefficient of permeability to be permitted); (3) placement methods (e.g. for soils, the lift thicknesses, specified degree of compaction, and controls for placement moisture content); and (4) the acceptance testing methods and frequency.

The applicant should provide information on the outermost cover material (topsoil and vegetation or rock protection) to resist erosional forces along with

the engineering basis for the selection of the material type. If topsoil and vegetation are proposed, the information should include the soil type and the expected depth of the root system. If rock protection is proposed for the outer layer, the information identified in SRP 5.1.1 would need to be provided.

## 5.2 Decontamination and Decommissioning

The information provided in this section should be sufficiently detailed to allow a thorough assessment of the applicant's decommissioning plan. The plan should focus on the actions necessary to return the low-level waste disposal facility to a condition that will not require active maintenance. The procedures contained in the applicant's decommissioning plan should eventually become part of the closure plan required by 10 CFR 61.28.

At a minimum the following information should be supplied by the applicant and should be discussed in the context of the decommissioning of the proposed low-level waste disposal facility:

- (1) The applicant should provide information on the facility radiation protection design features, including the methods and approach used to ensure that occupational exposures will be maintained as low as is reasonably achievable during decommissioning activities.
- (2) The applicant should include a detailed discussion of the survey methods that will be used to enable decontamination of all structures and equipment remaining on site or released off site after the operating stage of the license has been terminated. In the event that equipment is released for unrestricted use, the anticipated use should be specified. This description should include details of radiation profiles of equipment and structures. Details on survey instrumentation and sensitivity, competency of personnel conducting the survey, and radiation profiles that clearly delineate anticipated survey locations should be provided.
- (3) The applicant should provide information on the quantities, types, and physical, chemical, and radiological characteristics of waste that will be generated during decontamination activities. This information should include details on how waste will be classified, packaged, or stored before final disposal.
- (4) The applicant should include a thorough discussion of each alternative it has considered for decontamination, including dismantlement and final disposal of the generated waste. Cost-benefit considerations must be generated for each of the investigated alternatives, although the applicant does not have to specify an alternative choice based on the "best" cost-effective alternative.
- (5) The applicant should provide a discussion of the measured values of residual contamination for equipment, structures, and soils remaining on the site. These values should be compared with current applicable regulatory standards and guidelines (NRC Regulatory Guide 1.86, "Termination of Operating Licenses for Nuclear Power Reactors," and Draft Regulatory Guide, "Guidelines for Site Closure and Stabilization for LLW Disposal Sites").

- (6) The applicant should describe in detail the methodology for radiologically characterizing the site grounds. The site survey, as part of the methodology, will become a portion of the permanent decommissioning record and will be used to judge compliance with applicable radiation standards.
- (7) The applicant should provide all information on reports and studies on site maintenance, engineering designs and specifications, as-built plans, operational surveys, vehicle surveys, monitoring equipment calibration records, including quality assurance documentation, and any other information necessary to assess the adequacy of decontamination and decommissioning operations.

## 5.3 Postoperational Environmental Monitoring and Surveillance

The applicant should describe how the environmental and surveillance program will be used to demonstrate that the disposal site is stable and ready for institutional control. To explain how the monitoring system will provide an early warning of releases of radionuclides from the disposal site before they reach the site boundary, the applicant should postulate a number of hypothetical accident scenarios, report action levels (concentrations of radiological and non-radiological pollutants in the media) that will trigger mitigative activities, and discuss the reason for the selection of these levels. This section should explain how the environmental monitoring program for the postclosure observation period raflects the history of the disposal site in its earlier operational, closure, and stabilization periods.

The applicant should include the following important information: (1) how the physical and chemical characteristics of the waste inventory are reflected in the design of the monitoring program; (2) how well the predictions of the mathematical models used to estimate concentrations of contaminants in the various media are confirmed by the results of the monitoring measurements; (3) the rationale behind any modifications to the monitoring plan used in the operational phase, such as changes of location of the monitoring stations and the frequency of sampling; (4) the statistical basis to be used to define a significant difference between the measured and background concentrations; (5) the emphasis of the program on the monitoring for long-lived nuclides that are poorly retained by soils, e.g., carbon-14, technetium-99, and iodine-129; (6) to what extent the monitoring program will involve the use of highly sensitive and specific in situ sensors that telemeter the monitoring information to a central facility for analysis; and (7) the qualifications and training of the persons who will conduct the monitoring program in this period if they are different from those employed in the operational period.

- 6 SAFETY ASSESSMENT
- 6.1 Release of Radioactivity
- 6.1.1 Determination of Types, Kinds, and Quantities of Waste

The applicant should supply detailed projections of the quantities and physical, chemical, and radiological characteristics of the low-level wastes to be disposed of at the disposal facility. Waste projections under consideration include (1) waste delivered to the disposal facility during the operational period and (2) waste generated as part of closure activities. The applicant should provide sufficient information on the wastes projected to be disposed of at the disposal facility to allow for defendable modeling of potential radiological impacts associated with waste disposal and also to allow for determination of the applicant's plans to ensure sufficient availability of funds for closure.

## Waste During Operational Life

At a minimum, the following information on waste characteristics should be provided:

- An identification of the region of concern, that is, the States forming the compact.
- (2) A discussion of the potential for receipt of waste from outside the region of concern, as well as the conditions for such waste receipt.
- (3) An identification of the major individual waste streams that constitute the majority of the waste volume and activity. These waste streams should furthermore be identified in terms of specific waste-generating facilities (e.g., activated metals from a particular nuclear power plant).
- (4) An identification of the waste streams that constitute the remaining waste volume and activity. These waste streams may be identified in terms of typical waste streams generated by a number of generators (e.g., a waste stream consisting of low-activity trash generated by all hospitals in the region of concern).
- (5) Information on the physical, chemical, and radiological characteristics of each waste stream so identified in items 3 and 4 above. At a minimum this information should include (a) annual volumes, (b) waste class, (c) average concentrations of the principal radionuclides constituting the waste stream (including those listed in 10 CFR 61.55), (d) the chemical and physical form, (e) the presence of chelating agents, (f) packaging characteristics (e.g., whether the waste will be disposed in a high-integrity container), and (g) solidification agent. Descriptions of the chemical and physical form should provide information important to an estimation of release rates (e.g., whether the waste stream consists of activated metals, sealed sources, and ion-exchange resins).

- (6) For the information discussed above on waste volumes, an estimate of trends, for example, whether the waste stream will be generated at a constant annual rate, or only occasionally. Waste streams only expected to be generated at a future time (e.g., waste streams associated with decommissioning of a nuclear power plant) should be specifically identified.
- (7) For major generators, any plans to alter waste generation rates (e.g., changes in volume reduction, decommissioning plans) over the first 5 years of the operational life of the disposal facility.
- (8) A presentation and discussion of any limitations that will be imposed on waste receipt, form, packaging, or other characteristics that would influence assessments of disposal facility performance. Such limitations could potentially include limitations on total site inventories of radionuclides of concern (e.g., C-14, H-3, Tc-99, or I-129), or requirements on the structural stability of certain Class A wastes. These proposed limitations will be incorporated into disposal facility licenses as conditions of operation.
- (9) A summary of the total projected waste volume and activity for each year of the operational life.

## Waste During Closure Period

The description of waste anticipated to be generated during closure operations should be sufficient to enable an independent staff assessment of potential closure costs and impacts. The waste description should thus provide information similar to that discussed in item 5 above.

#### 6.1.2 Infiltration

The applicant should provide hydrologic infiltration values for input into the description of how disposal site covers will be designed to minimize, to the extent practicable, water infiltration and to direct percolating or surfact water away from the waste (10 CFR 61.51(a)(4)). Furthermore, the applicant should provide infiltration values for input into the analyses of the long-term stability of the disposal site and the need for ongoing active maintenance after closure (10 CFR 61.13(d)). All data used to generate infiltration estimates should also be included. The applicant should also provide information for input into the projected groundwater mass transport of radionuclides from the waste disposal site.

The basis for the infiltration values should be described. For example, if no analysis was performed, and a value was simply chosen (for instance, a percentage of total rainfall), the applicant should defend the decision. If analyses were performed, the applicant should present a description of the conceptual model and the analytical or numerical methods used, including a discussion of the assumptions, boundary conditions, governing equations, documentation, verification, calibration, and justification that the analysis is adequately conservative or realistic. If a numerical code was chosen, but is described elsewhere in the SAR, it should be referenced. Results from the analyses should be in a format of volume of flux entering the system per annum, length of time between deep percolation events, and zones of potentially high percolation.

## 6.1.3 Radionuclide Release - Normal Conditions

The applicant should provide a reasonable, yet conservative, assessment of radioactivity release into each of the most significant radioactivity transport mechanisms for each of the five periods of concern in the life of the disposal facility. The most significant radioactivity mechanisms include groundwater, air, surface water, direct radiation, and biotic pathways. The five periods of concern include the operational, closure, observation and surveillance, active institutional control, and passive institutional control periods. The information must be sufficient to enable an independent evaluation of the releases anticipated from the disposal facility. The information provided herein provides a source term for calculations of impacts (1) on offsite individuals based on normal facility conditions, and (2) on onsite individuals (custodial personnel) conducting normal activities during the active institutional control period.

Typical scenarios by which radioactivity may be released are listed in Tables 6.1 and 6.2. These scenarios are only for illustration, however, and the applicant should provide an analysis that identifies and quantifies the most significant scenarios based on the specific details of the site environment, the facility waste acceptance criteria, and the facility design and operating practices. Significant scenarios should include those that contribute at least 5% of the calculated impacts to an individual at the critical receptor point (see Section 6.1.6).

To the extent that calculations of radioactivity release are based on waste stream specific models, the applicant's assumptions and analyses for each individual waste stream should be defensible. Should the applicant propose to assume similar release models or parameter values for groups of waste streams, then an acceptable approach would be to assume the most conservative radioactivity release model or parameter values for all waste streams in the group. Use of other than the most conservative release model or parameter values should be justified by the expected distribution of the characteristics of individual waste streams forming the group.

In addition, if credit is taken for inhibition of radioactivity release due to special waste form, waste packaging (e.g., disposal within high-integrity containers), or disposal techniques, those waste streams that will be disposed of pursuant to these techniques should be identified. The influence of these special waste form, waste packaging, or disposal techniques should be quantified.

Relevant data for this section may be referenced in other sections of the SAR, such as:

- (1) Section 2.2, "Meteorology and Climatology", as it applies to the amount and temporal distribution of rainfall and design-basis events
- (2) Section 2.4.2, "Groundwater Characterization", as it applies to the characterization of the natural, unsaturated regime
- (3) Section 3.1, "Principal Design Features," as it applies to the engineered design of the cover system, including physical parameter quantification

Table 6.1 Typical scenarios - offsite impacts on individuals resulting from normal conditions

Scen	nario	Radiation*	Transport mechanism	Theoretical periods of concern**
(1)	Doses to individuals near disposal site from parked waste delivery vehicles	g	None	0
(2)	Doses to individuals near disposal site from site operations (e.g., hoisting liners using cranes)	g	None	0
(3)	Airborne releases from contaminated surfaces such as buildings and grounds	a,b,g	Air	0,C,S,I,P
(4)	Airborne releases from decomposing waste (e.g., methane gas, CO <sub>2</sub> )	b	Air	0,C,S,I,P
(5)	Airborne dispersion of contamination unearthed by plants and animals	a,b,g	Air	0,C,S,I,P
(6)	Airborne discharges from disposal cells (e.g.,evaporate water collected in trenches or sumps)	b	Air	0,0,5,1
(7)	Airborne dispersion of contamination associated with demolition activities	a,b,g	Air	С
(8)	Waterborne releases from contaminated surfaces such as buildings and grounds	a,b,g	Surface water	0,C,S,I,P
(9)	Waterborne dispersion of contamination unearthed by plants and animals	a,b,g	Surface water	0,C,S,I,P

See footnotes at end of table.

Table 6.1 (Continued)

-				
Scenario		Radiation*	Transport mechanism	Theoretical periods of concern**
(10)	Waterborne discharges from disposal cells (e.g., from trench sumps)	a,b,g	Surface Water	0,C,S,I,P
(11)	Waterborne dispersion of contamination associated with demolition activities	a,b,g	Surface water	С
(12)	Radionuclide leaching and migration	a,b,g	Groundwater	0,C,S,I,P
(13)	Release through biotic pathways	a,b,g	Biota	0,C,S,I,P

<sup>\*</sup>a = alpha, b = beta; g = gamma.

Table 6.2 Typical scenarios - impacts on onsite individuals during the active institutional control period

Scenario		Radiation*	Transport mechanism	Human access location
(1)	Direct radiation impacts on individuals maintaining site during institutional control period	g*	None	Site surfaces
(2)	Impacts on individuals due to dispersal of residual contamination	a,b,g	Air	Air above site surfaces
(3)	Airborne releases from waste decomposition gases (e.g., methane gas, CO <sub>2</sub> )	b	Air	Air above site surfaces

<sup>\*</sup>a = alpha; b = beta, g = gamma.

<sup>\*\*0 =</sup> operational period;  $C = closure\ period$ ;  $S = observation\ and\ surveillance\ period$ ;  $I = active\ institutional\ control\ period$ ;  $P = passive\ institutional\ control\ period$ .

# 6.1.4 Radionuclide Release - Accidents or Unusual Operational Conditions

The applicant should provide information regarding the types, significance, and magnitudes of radioactivity release associated with accidents or unusual operational conditions. The information should be sufficient to enable an independent staff analysis of projected radiological impacts.

## Identification of Accidents or Abnormal Operating Conditions

At a minimum, the applicant should provide the following information:

- (1) Identification and discussion of the principal accidental or unusual operational scenarios by which radioactivity may be released and result in impacts on offsite individuals. This discussion should first identify a complete spectrum of possible release scenarios, and then eliminate those that are bounded by other scenarios. This discussion should include justification as to the choice and ranking of possible scenarios. The intent is to go from a complete list of scenarios to those that are representative and bounding.
- (2) In the above discussion, the applicant may reference (a) generic information and analyses, (b) regulatory requirements that preclude certain scenarios from occurring or otherwise limit the release of radioactivity (e.g., in terms of the rate at which radioactivity is released or the period of time that the release rate occurs), and (c) proposed conditions of waste acceptance or facility design and operation that preclude certain scenarios from occurring or otherwise limit the release of activity.

## Evaluation of Release

At a minimum, the applicant should provide the following information:

(1) For each of the principal scenarios identified above, estimates of radioactivity release and event frequency that are reasonable, yet conservative.
In so doing, the applicant may reference (a) generic information and
analyses, (b) regulatory requirements that limit or bound the possible
event frequency or magnitude of release, and (c) proposed conditions of
waste acceptance or disposal facility design and operation that limit or
bound the possible event frequency or magnitude of release.

Experience at other disposal facilities may also be referenced provided the relationship between other and proposed disposal operations is clear.

(2) Information that enables quantification of the source term for the principal mechanisms by which radioactivity, once released, may be transferred from the disposal facility. These transfer mechanisms may include air and surface water pathways.

6.1.5 Radionuclide Transfer to Human Access Location

In these sections, the applicant should provide a reasonable, yet conservative, assessment of each of the most significant radioactivity transport mechanisms for each of the five periods of concern in the life of the disposal facility.

The most significant radioactivity transport mechanisms include groundwater, air, surface water, direct radiation, and biotic pathways. The five periods of concern include the operational, closure, observation and surveillance, active institutional control, and passive institutional control periods. The information provided herein provides an analysis of the mechanisms by which releases reach human access locations, so that radiological im acts on individuals can be assessed (Section 6.1.6). The information must be sufficient to enable an independent evaluation of these transfer mechanisms. Both offsite individuals under normal facility conditions, and onsite individuals (custodial personnel) conducting normal activities during the active institutional control period need to be considered. Typical scenarios and their associated transfer mechanisms are listed in Tables 6.1 and 6.2.

#### 6.1.5.1 Transfer Mechanism - Groundwater

Using previously cited hydrologic and geochemical information (Sections 2.4.2, 2.6, and 6.1.1 of the SAR), the applicant should calculate potential radionuclide concentrations transferred to human access locations, including real and hypothetical groundwater discharge points such as streams, wells, springs, and seeps located downgradient from the site. To allow for an independent assessment of the groundwater transfer, the applicant should provide all information needed to calculate radionuclide concentrations and groundwater travel time at appropriate distances downgradient from the site. This information should include a description of the conceptual model of the site groundwater flow system in relationship to the planned engineered design, physical and chemical input parameters used in the contaminant transport analyses, the mathematical models and methods used to calculate radionuclide concentrations, and the calculated results, including associated uncertainties in the methods and data. The following detailed information should be provided:

# Conceptual Model of Groundwater Flow and Pathways

The applicant should provide a description of the conceptual model(s) of the physical environment and transport medium that describes the occurrence of groundwater movement in the saturated and unsaturated zones, and delineates all significant pathways for groundwater transport of radionuclides from the disposal units to the accessible environment (human access locations). The applicant should identify the nearest downgradient water users and the nearest municipal water supply relying on groundwater and describe the design features of the disposal site.

To conceptualize existing groundwater pathways, the applicant should summarize the regional groundwater flow system and its relationship to the site using the hydrologic characteristics and boundary conditions previously described in Section 2.4.2. The applicant should identify major hydrogeologic units and their stratigraphic relationships. For each hydrogeologic unit, the applicant should list hydrologic properties, radionuclide transport characteristics, flow directions and volumes of flow, hydraulic gradients, principal zones of recharge and discharge, all known groundwater-surface water interactions, known leakage between units, water table fluctuation zones, and known groundwater residence times.

The applicant's conceptual model should describe (narratively and pictorially) the principal saturated flow paths to the accessible environment. The applicant should use cross-sections and maps to indicate the principal flow paths and to include the saturated and unsaturated zones. Vertical and horizontal pathways should be discussed. The conceptual model should include a discussion of preferential pathways such as solution features, fault zones, or joint systems, if present. In addition, the conceptual model should include natural flow barriers, if present, such as fault zones or dikes, and engineered features designed to impede or disperse radionuclide migration.

The applicant should discuss the potential for significant changes in flow directions and fluxes under various hypothetical pumping schemes described in Section 2.7 of the SAR, and the site-specific conditions that could induce change.

## Mathematical Models Used To Predict Radionuclide Migration

The applicant should describe the numerical and/or analytical model(s) used to simulate flow and transport through the saturated and unsaturated zones at the site and predict radionuclide concentrations transferred to appropriate access locations downgradient from the site. The applicant should describe and justify the type of model(s) used, the theoretical basis of each model, including underlying assumptions and physical and/or chemical laws considered, and model uncertainties and limitations. The procedures used to verify the codes and the methods for and results of model calibration should be described, including model validation techniques and sensitivity analyses. The applicant should provide information on the modeling procedures (strategies and methods) used in the analyses, and provide complete documentation of the computer code using NUREG-0856 as a guide.

## Input Parameters Used for the Contaminant Transport Analyses

The applicant should list and support (justify) all input parameters used in the contaminant transport analyses, which include hydrologic, geochemical, and radionuclide release data presented in Sections 2.4.2, 2.6, and 6.1.1 of the SAR. Spatial and temporal variabilities of the parameters should be provided. Hydrologic parameters should include, but not be limited to, initial concentration distributions, saturated and unsaturated hydraulic conductivities, calculated groundwater velocities, hydraulic gradients, permeabilities, effective and total porosities, soil moisture characteristics, and dispersion and distribution coefficients for radionuclides of interest. The degree of reliance placed on hydrodynamic dispersion (based on dispersion coefficient) and retardation (based on distribution coefficient) to demonstrate acceptable dose limits should dictate the method needed to quantify these values (i.e., site-specific data vs data from literature) (see Section 2.6).

## Results of the Contaminant Transport Analyses

The applicant should provide the results of the transport analyses (calculated radionuclide concentrations at real and hypothetical groundwater user locations and discharge points) in map and tabular form. The results of analyses should identify the maximum and minimum ranges and discuss the likelihood of predicted

concentrations because uncertainties in the data and analyses may preclude determining single concentration values. The applicant should perform a sensitivity analysis and provide the results in tabular or graphical form. The uncertainties of the result and any anomalous behavior of the modeling analyses and model outputs should be discussed.

#### 6.1.5.2 Transfer Mechanism - Air

The applicant should describe the models, computer codes, and computational methods used to estimate the downwind atmospheric and surface concentrations of gaseous and particulate contaminants released from a low-level waste disposal site for both routine and accident conditions. These methods should be capable of calculations for waste geometries commonly found at low-level disposal sites (point, area, and volume sources, etc.). The applicant should clearly identify the computational methods used to quantify removal mechanisms and the wet/dry deposition rates used in the calculation of the surface area concentrations. This section should also contain an estimate of the airborne disperson of contamination unearthed by invasive flora and fauna. The demographic information requested in Section 2.1.2 should be included to enable the staff to calculate values of the concentrations used in the estimation of population doses in the Environmental Report.

Airborne and surface concentrations should be reported (in graphical or tabular form) as normalized, time-integrated, annual-average concentrations for both radiological and nonradiological contaminants. For accident conditions, the models and assumptions used to estimate downwind concentrations that result from a puff release (such as during a fire) should be explicitly identified.

The meteorological parameters used in the models should be based on site-specific data collected from at least 1 year of air-quality monitoring. A discussion of the limitations and accuracy of these parameters for these calculations should be included. The kinds of meterological data to be used for these calculations are given in Draft Regulatory Guide Task ES 401-4, "Onsite Meterological Measurement Program for Uranium Recovery Facilities - Data Acquisition and Reporting," September 1985.

The projected concentrations for airborne pollutants and the surface depositions should be calculated

- at the site boundary points for each of the 22.5° radial sectors centered on the 16 cardinal compass directions
- (2) at the location of the maximally exposed individual (off site)
- (3) at the nearest present and known future offsite receptors (i.e., residence, milk cow, milk goat, meat animal, and farm or vegetable garden larger than  $50~\text{m}^2$ ) for each of the 22.5° radial sectors
- (4) for offsite individuals during the operational, closure, observation and surveillance, active institutional control, and passive institutional control periods

- (5) for offsite individuals, which are the result of operational accidents or abnormal conditions during the operational period
- (6) for onsite individuals during the active institutional control period

#### 6.1.5.3 Transfer Mechanism - Surface Water

Using previously cited hydrologic information (Section 2.4.1 of the SAR), the applicant should calculate potential radionuclide concentrations at human access locations (including surface water intakes, fishing areas, shorelines, and other water recreation areas) located in water bodies that could receive contamination from the site. To allow for an independent assessment of surface water concentrations, the applicant should provide all information needed to calculate radionuclide concentrations in surface water bodies. This information should include a description of the surface water flow system in relationship to the planned engineered design, physical and chemical input parameters used in the contaminant transport analyses for both the surface water and the source of contamination (e.g., contaminated site runoff), the mathematical models and methods used to calculate radionuclide concentrations, and the calculated results (including associated uncertainties in the methods and data).

The applicant should describe the conceptual model, addressing all significant pathways for surface water transport of radionuclides to the accessible environment. The applicant should identify the nearest use of surface water that could become contaminated and should describe any site features that could mitigate radionuclide releases to the surface water environment. Detailed maps and cross-sections should be provided.

The applicant should describe the numerical and/or analytical model(s) used to simulate flow and transport at the site and to predict radionuclide concentrations at affected surface water locations.

The applicant should describe and justify the type of model(s) used, the theoretical basis for each model, and the uncertainties and limitations of the model. The procedures used to verify the codes, and the results of model calibration should be described, including model validation techniques and sensitivity. The applicant should provide information on the modeling procedures (strategies and methods) used in the analyses and provide complete documentation of the computer code(s).

The applicant should list and justify all input parameters used in the contaminant transport analyses. Results of the transport analyses and radionuclide concentrations at surface water user locations and discharge points should be provided in map and tabular form. The results of analyses should represent the range of possible values and should discuss the likelihood of the predicted concentrations with regard to uncertainties in the data and analyses. The applicant should perform a sensitivity analysis and provide the results in tabular or graphical form. The uncertainties of the results and any anomalous behavior of the modeling analyses and model outputs should be discussed.

#### 6.1.5.4 Other Transfer Mechanisms

The applicant should fully describe the transfer mechanisms in addition to groundwater, air, and surface water that contribute to scenarios having radiological impacts on individuals. These transfer mechanisms may include

attenuation of gamma radiation through air and offsite transfer of radioactivity through biotic pathways. An explanation of why transfer mechanisms were incorporated as part of the overall analyses should be included. If gamma attenuation or biotic pathways are not included, the applicant should explain why these transfer mechanisms were not included. The explanation should include simple, basic calculations to demonstrate that these transfer mechanisms contribute less than 5% of the total potential dose rate.

For all transfer mechanisms covered in this section, the applicant should fully describe and justify the mathematical models or analytical methods and data used. Data used from other parts of the SAR can be referenced.

Specific information that should be provided for gamma attenuation includes the description and validity of the mathematical methods used to describe buildup, shielding, and absorption effects; the model used to calculate external exposure to electrons; and the analytical methods used to simulate various source geometries (points, planar, volume).

## 6.1.6 Assessment of Impacts and Regulatory Compliance

This section provides a culmination of the analyses and information presented in Sections 6.1.1 through 6.1.5. In this section, the applicant should provide information that demonstrates compliance with regulatory limits for potential radiological impacts associated with the disposal facility. Specific impacts to be determined include those associated with (1) releases under normal conditions, (2) releases due to accidents or unusual operational conditions, and (3) normal activities by site custodial personnel during the active institutional control period.

An acceptable way to organize the information in this section is to first address calculations of radiological impacts on individuals and then address compliance with regulatory criteria.

# Calculation of Radiological Impacts on Individuals

Calculations of radiological impacts on individuals have the potential for considerable complexity. Given this fact, it is recommended that the applicant organize the information presented herein so that it first addresses the overall scope of the analyses and then addresses the specific details of the analyses.

Analyses Scope. An acceptable way to organize the required information is to first identify the principal receptor points of concern (i.e., the principal human access locations), then identify the particular exposure media in which radioactivity is projected to be present, and finally to identify and confirm the principal uptake pathways. Rationale and discussion should be provided for assumed changes in receptor points, exposure media, and uptake pathways as a function of time.

The above three-stage hierarchy is illustrated in Tables 6.3 through 6.5 for releases resulting from normal operations. It should be noted, however, that the particular receptor points, exposure media, and uptake pathways that would be considered for a particular facility would be entirely dependent on the proposed design and operation of the facility, as well as on site environmental conditions. The examples illustrated in Tables 6.3 through 6.5 may therefore be incomplete or inapplicable.

Table 6.3 Typical receptor points (access locations) and exposure media

Receptor points	Possible exposure media	Comments	
Site boundary	Air	a	
	Well water	b	
	Surface water (possibly)	c d	
	Gamma radiation	d	
Nearest user of groundwater	Air		
downgradient of site	Well water	e	
	Surface water (possibly)	е	
Nearest community user of	Air		
groundwater downgradient	Well water	e	
of site	Surface water (possibly)	е	
Nearest surface discharge	Air		
point (e.g., stream) for groundwater in downgradient direction from site	Surface water		
Nearest surface discharge	Air		
point (e.g., stream) for site runoff	Surface water		
Nearest resident <sup>f</sup>	Air		
	Well water (possibly)		
	Surface water (possibly)		
	Contaminated biota		

- a. Determined for each of the 22.5° radial sectors centered on the 16 cardinal compass directions.
- b. Possibly not applicable until active and passive institutional control periods. See comment f.
- c. In the event that a surface water access location is at or near the site boundary.
- d. Determined during operational period at the site boundary near major onsite source of gamma radiation.
- Depending on site-specific conditions, the access location could be well water, surface water, or both.
- f. For the active and passive institutional control periods, the nearest resident should be assumed to be at the site boundary. Access locations to be considered should, at a minimum, include air, well water, and contaminated biota. Surface water use depends on site-specific conditions.

Table 6.4 Typical uptake pathways considered

	thways		
Exposure media	Primary	Secondary	
(1) Offsite air*	Inhalation (air) Direct radiation (air)	Inhalation (soil) Direct radiation (area) Direct radiation (air)	
(2) Offsite air	Inhalation (air) Direct radiation (air) Ingestion (air)	Inhalation (soil) Direct radiation (area) Direct radiation (air)	
(3) Offsite location	Direct radiation (operations)		
(4) Onsite air	Inhalation (air) Direct radiation (air)		
(5) Well water	Ingestion (water)	Inhalation (soil) Direct radiation (area) Direct radiation (air)	
(6) Open water	Ingestion (water) Ingestion (fish) Direct radiation (immersion)	Inhalation (soil) Direct radiation (area) Direct radiation (air)	
(7) Onsite soil during active institutional period	Direct radiation (volume)		
(8) Contaminated biota	Ingestion (specific)		

<sup>\*</sup>Note that dose assessment models based on the presence of contaminated air at a human access location would differ somewhat on the basis of whether one is addressing a chronic or a temporary exposure (e.g., as in a puff release of radioactivity).

Table 6.5 Descriptions of typical uptake pathways

Pathway	Description		
Inhalation (air,	Uptake of radionuclides resulting from breathing contaminated air.		
Inhalation (soil) Uptake of radionuclides resulting from contaminated from suspension and volati contaminated surfaces.			
Direct radiation (air)	Direct exposure to ionizing radiation based on immersion in a cloud of contaminated air.		
Direct radiation (area)	Direct exposure to ionizing radiation based on standing on a contaminated surface.		
Direct radiation (operations)	Direct exposure to ionizing radiation based on proximity to disposal facility during operations.		
Direct radiation (volume)	Direct exposure to ionizing radiation from disposed waste as attenuated through disposal unit covers.		
Direct radiation (immersion)	Direct exposure to ionizing radiation resulting from immersion in contaminated water.		
Ingestion (air)	Uptake of contaminated plant food resulting from deposition of airborne contamination. This pathway could include consumption of deposited contamination (e.g., leafy vegetables) plus consumption of contamination resulting from root uptake pathways. In either case, radionuclide transfer to humans could occur via the following mechanisms: plant-to-human, plan to-animal-to-human, and plant-to-animal-to-product-to-human.		
Ingestion (water)	Uptake of contamination resulting from consumption and use of contaminated water. Water may be consumed directly, used for watering livestock, or used to irrigate plants. Transfer to humans via livestock mechanisms could include the following mechanisms: water-to-animal-to-human, and water-to-animal-to-product-to-human. Transfer to humans via clant irrigation could occur by mechanisms similar to those for the above ingestion (air) pathway.		
Ingestion (fish)	Uptake of contamination resulting from consumption of fish and shellfish caught in open water.		
Ingestion (specific)	Consumption of food in food chain initiated by contaminated biota.		

For abnormal or unusual operational releases, at least two receptor points may be considered: the site boundary and the nearest surface discharge point (e.g., a stream) for site runoff. The exposure media of concern would at a minimum include air for the first receptor point and surface water for the second. For normal activities by the site owner during the active institutional control period, the receptor point is essentially the surface of the disposal facility. Exposure media of concern would at a minimum include contaminated onsite air and direct radiation.

<u>Details of Analyses</u>. Information addressed herein should at a minimum include the following:

- (1) Computational models and analytical methods for transfer of radioactivity through uptake pathways. Transfer models generally based on the methodology in Regulatory Guide 1.109 are acceptable, although specific parameters for inclusion in the model should be reviewed and replaced with updated or site-specific parameters as appropriate.
- (2) Assumptions for occupancy times, exposure periods, growing season, usage parameters, and physiological and metabolic parameters. In this regard, Regulatory Guide 1.109 may be used as a general reference. Updated or site-specific information should be used as appropriate.
- (3) Dose conversion factors for direct exposures to beta and gamma radiation as well as acceptable dose conversion factors for exposure to internal organs due to ingestion and inhalation pathways. External beta/gamma exposures due to proximity to uniformly contaminated surfaces may be based on the methodology presented in NUREG/CR-1918, or methodology of equivalent sophistication, as may external beta/gamma exposures due to immersion in contaminated air. Exposures to internal organs due to ingestion or inhalation pathways should be based on the methodology in International Commission or Radiological Protection, Publication 30, or its equivalent.
- (4) Conceptual models and exposure scenarios.
- (5) A comparison of the compilation of site-specific data pertinent to pathways analyses with data obtained during the site characterization program.
- (6) Details of computer codes to determine impacts. (Such codes may be referenced.)
- (7) Information sufficient to ensure that the analysis includes all pathways of interest, that is, pathways that contribute at least 5% of the total potential dose rate at each receptor point of interest.

## Compliance With Regulatory Criteria

The information presented herein should provide a comparison of the potential radiological impacts determined above with applicable regulatory criteria. At a minimum reasonable assurance should be provided regarding the following:

(1) Potential normal offsite releases will be controlled so that impacts on individuals through the particular combination of pathways inherent at the access location of concern are within the limits specified in 10 CFR 61.41

and are furthermore reduced to levels as low as reasonably achievable. This should be shown to be valid during the operational, closure, observation and surveillance, active institutional control, and passive institutional control periods.

- (2) Potential impacts on offsite individuals as a result of operational accidents and abnormal occurrences will be controlled to levels as low as reasonably achievable, where the term "as low as reasonably achievable" is defined in 10 CFR 20.
- (3) Potential impacts on onsite individuals carrying out routine activities during the active institutional control period will be controlled so that they will not exceed the limits specified in 10 CFR 61.41 and are furthermore reduced to levels as low as reasonably achievable.

The applicant's assessments of compliance with the above criteria are not limited to numerical assessments of potential dose rates but may also include the applicant's commitments and proposed limiting conditions of operations, the applicant's proposed environmental monitoring and survey program, the ease in which operations can be adjusted to eliminate or mitigate potential releases of radioactivity, past environmental monitoring and disposal history at other disposal facilities, and the applicant's training and experience.

#### 6.2 Intruder Protection

The applicant should provide information on the intruder protection measures that would be used to prevent an intruder from coming into contact with Class C waste after the institutional control period. The applicant should clearly identify the specific measures that will be used to provide the required protection. This protection may be provided by (1) placing the waste a minimum of 5 m below the top surface of the waste cover or (2) if the waste is placed at higher levels within the disposal unit, by designing and constructing an intruder barrier system with material that will provide protection against inadvertent intrusion for at least 500 years following site closure. The locations of the disposal unit excavations where Class C wastes are to be placed should be clearly identified on the site drawings, and the applicant should include sufficient details (configuration, depths) of waste placement and intruder protection measures on the engineering drawings.

The information on the intruder protection system should include (1) a discussion on waste handling and placement that is cross-referenced to Section 4.2, "Waste Handling and Interim Storage," with respect to the proper segregation procedures for Class C waste, and to Section 4.3, "Waste Disposal Operations," regarding waste emplacement, backfill, and covering operations, and (2) when Class C waste will be placed at depths less than 5 m below the top surface, an irtruder protection analysis that will demonstrate with reasonable assurance that the proposed measures and materials will safely protect against inadvertent intrusion for the required period following institutional control. Information to be provided in the analysis should include the assumptions, data, and methodology used in the analysis, with particular emphasis on the long-term quality and durability aspects of the materials to be placed over the wastes. The basis for the results and conclusions of the analysis should be clearly identified, and the information should include supporting documentation (e.g., historical examples of longevity for similarly proposed materials) and important references.

The analysis should address the development of any potential adverse effects resulting from the occurrence of abnormal and/or accident events during the required 500-year period of performance.

The applicant should provide information on placement, backfill, and covers where Class C waste is to be placed in a disposal unit at depths at least 5 m below the top surface of the cover. This information should include the type of materials to be placed over the Class C waste and the field controls to be required for its placement. The information should indicate whether the materials above the Class C waste are to consist entirely of soil materials or a combination of Class B and stable Class A wastes overlain by a soil material cover.

### 6.3 Long-Term Stability

The applicant should present discussion, data, and stability analyses that provide reasonable assurance that there will be no need for ongoing active maintenance of the disposal site following closure. This demonstration should be based on quantitative analyses of active natural processes such as erosion, mass wasting, slope failure, settlement of wastes and backfill, infiltration through covers over the disposal areas and adjacent soils, and surface drainage of the disposal site.

In the stability analyses, the applicant should identify (1) the method, input data, and assumptions used for each process analyzed and (2) the assumed contributions of siting, design, use, operation, and closure if they affect long-term stability. The applicant should discuss the uncertainties of the results and any anomalous model behavior and analysis output.

## 6.3.1 Surface Drainage and Erosion Protection

The applicant should provide hydrologic analyses and design details of the site flood control system to demonstrate that the requirements of 10 CFR 61.23(e) and 61.44 are met. Those features that will provide protection against erosion and flooding during the postclosure period should be described in detail. The information and analyses presented should conclusively document that, in accordance with 10 CFR 61.44, the facility has been designed and sited and will be closed in such a manner that long-term stability can be achieved without the need for ongoing, active maintenance.

The applicant should provide detailed descriptions (plans, maps and cross-sections) of the site draining system, including channels, erosion protection, trench caps, and diversion structures. The applicant should also provide detailed computations of peak flood flows, depths of flow, and velocities that constitute the bases for the design of protective features. Estimates of rainfall intensity, infiltration rates, times of concentration, hydrographs, etc., should be provided in sufficient detail to allow independent evaluations to be made of the design criteria and technical analyses.

Where applicable, results of testing of rock durability (to demonstrate the ability of the erosion protection to endure for long periods) should be provided.

#### 6.3.2 Stability of Slopes

The applicant should provide information on the long-term stability aspects of the slopes of the proposed facility in accordance with the performance objectives and technical requirements of 10 CFR 61. The applicant should provide information on the long-term stability of all earth and rock slopes, both man-made and natural, whose failure under any of the conditions to which they could be exposed during the 500-year stability period of the facility could adversely affect the facility's meeting the performance objectives in Subpart C of 10 CFR 61. Slope stability evaluations should include information on (1) slope area characterization -- investigations (borings, test pits, trenches, etc.); results of laboratory tests; design properties of fill borrow materials; and compaction criteria; and (2) slope stability--slope characteristics, design criteria, and stability analysis and results. If any of the information that should be presented in this section of the SAR is presented in other sections, it does not have to be repeated here, but the appropriate sections should be referenced. The scope and results of any additional investigations carried out for the slope stability evaluations should be presented in this section. The scope of such presentation for these additional investigations should be similar to that in Section 2.5.

### Site and/or Slope Area Characterization

Information on the geotechnical characteristics of the site (Section 2.5) and information from any additional investigations at the slope areas should be the data base for the characterization of the slope areas. The information should include the following:

## (1) Geology, Geochemistry, and Seismology of the Area

Information on these items presented in Sections 2.3 and 2.5 and applicable to the slope areas should be appropriately referenced. If additional investigations were carried out for the slope areas, they should be presented here. The scope of information on the above items for the slope areas should be similar to that in Section 2.5.

## (2) Field Investigations

The information presented for the slope areas, either in this section or in other sections and appropriately referenced, should include the following:

- (a) plot plan(s) clearly showing the outline of the facility and the locations of all site explorations such as borings, probes, pits, trenches, seismic lines, and piezometers, and geologic profiles, with identification of the location of the slope areas selected for stability evaluation
- (b) an adequate number of profiles and cross-sections of the slopes showing the soil and rock layering
- (c) logs of borings, probes, pits, trenches, and geophysical investigations from the slope area in sufficient detail as described in Regulatory Guide 1.132.

### (3) Testing and Soil Parameters

The information on both test results and soil parameters used in the slope stability evaluation, either in this section or in other sections and appropriately referenced, should include the following:

- (a) Description of test results and engineering properties of natural materials occurring in the slope areas and for the fill borrow materials proposed to be used in the stability analysis of the slope areas.
- (b) For slopes that are underlaid by saturated cohesionless soils and/or sensitive clay, a description of sampling procedures and test results for all zones that could become unstable because of liquefaction or strain-softening phenomena.
- (c) Static and dynamic engineering properties of the soils with a demonstration that reasonable and conservative values were used in the design. This demonstration should explain how the developed data were selected for use in the stability analyses, how the test data are enveloped for design, and why the design envelope is conservative.

### (4) Groundwater Conditions

Information on the groundwater conditions should include the following:

- (a) discussion of the range in groundwater conditions having an effect on the stability of the slopes of the proposed facility and the margins of safety against failure
- (b) analyses and evaluation of the potential for piping conditions
- (c) history of seasonal groundwater fluctuations and levels resulting from occurrences of design-basis events

## (5) Borrow Materials

Information on the proposed fill borrow materials for the slope areas should include the following:

- (a) data and discussion supporting the suitability of the material for its intended use
- (b) adequate demonstration that the physical and shear strength soil and rock parameters recommended to be used in the slope stability analyses were based on appropriate tests performed on samples representative of the as-compacted condition
- (c) plans for restoration of the borrow area(s) to address any potential for adversely affecting the long-term performance of the disposal facility because of the borrow excavations

### (6) Compaction and Quality Control

Information on compaction and quality control of fill materials should include detailed specifications on material selection, compaction criteria, placement moisture content, gradation of materials, and frequency of quality control tests.

### Slope Stability

The information on slope stability (slope characteristics, design criteria, and design analyses) should be sufficient and appropriate to demonstrate the long-term stability of the facility slopes and any other slopes at the site whose failure could adversely affect the long-term performance of the disposal facility. The information should include the following:

### (1) Slope Characteristics

- (a) a presentation of the characteristics of any excavation slope, natural slope, and/or embankment slope, including details on slope angles and foundation conditions
- (b) description and table summary of the static and dynamic engineering properties of the soil and rock that constitute the slope and foundation materials
- (c) a description of the groundwater and seepage conditions used in the stability analyses

## (2) Stability Analyses

The presentation of the method of analyses and design criteria for the short-term and long-term stability of the slopes should show that representative and valid static and dynamic analyses were performed and that the factors of safety resulting from these methods of analyses are not less than 1.3 for short-term static stability conditions and 1.5 for long-term static stability conditions. The information presented should also include the following:

## (a) Static Stability

For the static stability analyses, the following features should be described and assessed:

- the uncertainties with regard to the boundaries and properties of the several types of soil in the foundation and within the slope, the forces acting on the slope, and the pore pressures acting within the slope
- failure surfaces (slip circle, sliding wedge, etc.) corresponding to the lowest factor of safety obtained in the stability analyses for the anticipated conditions of loading (e.g., long-term, seismic, and flooding)

 the effects of the assumptions inherent in the method of analysis that was used on the resulting margins of safety

### (b) Dynamic Stability

For the dynamic stability analyses, the following features should be described and assessed:

- The appropriateness of the typical cross-section of the slope analyzed and the soil parameters used in the analysis.
- The appropriateness of the method of dynamic stability analysis used. This may be decided on a case-by-case basis depending on the level of earthquake shaking, the types of soils in the slope, and the consequences of a seismically induced failure of the slope. The selection of the method of dynamic stability analysis should be adequately justified.
- Failure surfaces (slip circle, sliding plane, etc.) corresponding to the lowest factor of safety obtained in the analyses for the anticipated conditions of loading (e.g., long-term, seismic, and flooding).
- The effect of the assumptions inherent in the method of analysis that was used on the resulting margins of safety. The factors of safety calculated should be identified and will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis by the staff depending on the conservatisms in the data base, design assumption, and method of analysis that was used.

## (c) Liquefaction Potential

If the slope or foundation materials at the site of the facility are saturated, loose, cohesionless soils, then an analysis of the lique-faction potential of these materials is required for long-term stability considerations. The information should include the following:

- The method of analysis selected and the basis for its selection. The need for a detailed liquefaction analysis should be determined on a case-by-case basis and should consider the level of earthquake shaking, site stratigraphy, critical soil parameters (relative density, standard penetration test (SPT), percent fines, etc.), and the consequences of a liquefaction-induced failure.
- For the method of analysis used, the appropriateness of the soil parameters used in the liquefaction potential analysis should be adequately justified.
- The appropriateness of the computed factor of safety and its physical significance in the context of the method of analysis used should be explained.

#### 6.3.3 Settlement and Subsidence

The applicant should address the long-term settlement and/or subsidence aspects of the proposed facility design in accordance with the performance objectives and technical requirements of 10 CFR 61. The settlement and/or subsidence of the individual disposal unit excavation cover and the disposal site should be evaluated to determine if the settlement and/or subsidence would adversely affect the facility's meeting the performance objectives in Subpart C of 10 CFR 61. Information on settlement and/or subsidence should include (1) the results of site characterization, details of disposal unit excavation and waste emplacement and backfilling during the operations phase, and details of disposal unit excavation cover design and construction; (2) modeling for the settlement analysis; (3) the uncertainties in the settlement analysis; and (4) commitments for remedial actions if settlement would adversely affect the facility's meeting its performance objectives. If any information that should be presented in this section of the SAR is presented in other sections, it does not have to be repeated here, but the appropriate sections should be referenced.

#### Site Data

### (1) Site Characteristics

Information required to identify the areas potentially susceptible to settlement and the engineering properties of various materials needed for the evaluation of settlement should be presented in this section. The information on site characteristics, either by reference to appropriate sections of Sections 2.3, 2.4, 2.5, and 2.6 or by presentation of additional data in this section, should include the following:

- (a) Plot plan(s) clearly showing the outline of the facility and the locations of all site explorations with the location of the areas selected for settlement investigation.
- (b) Profiles and cross-sections of the areas selected for settlement evaluation, illustrating in appropriate detail the relationship of the proposed facility structures and components to the subsurface materials.
- (c) Logs of borings, probes, pits, and trenches considered in developing the stratigraphy used in the settlement analysis.
- (d) The description and test results for the engineering properties of materials underlying the site. Guidance is provided in Regulatory Guide 1.138 for soil testing. The properties of these materials must be supported by field and laboratory test records. The applicant should demonstrate that the parameters required for the settlement analyses were properly determined and that reasonable and conservative values were used in the analyses. The applicant should explain how the developed data were used in the analyses, how the test data are enveloped in design, and why the design envelope is conservative. A table indicating the values of the parameters used in the settlement analyses should be provided.

(e) The groundwater conditions, as they relate to the settlement aspects of the proposed facility. This information should include discussion of critical cases of groundwater conditions and the range of fluctuation that were considered at the proposed facility; the presence of perched, artesian, or aquifer conditions and other significant hydrological conditions, if any; and the design-basis events that were addressed in the settlement analyses.

### (2) Construction and Operations Phase Data

Construction and operations phase data that are relevant to the evaluation of settlement should include the following:

- (a) information and analyses to justify whether construction dewatering would be required and, if needed, information on the dewatering criteria (levels of water to exist, changes in pore pressures, and monitoring details)
- (b) information on the use of the materials excavated from the disposal area as either backfill in the disposal unit excavations or as a general fill at the site and information on where the materials will be stockpiled
- (c) detailed information on the proposed method for placing the waste containers in the disposal unit excavation and an estimation of the intercontainer voids
- (d) specifications on the fill materials and their placement in the intercontainer voids and details on how the fill materials will be placed to comply with the staff recommendations in Appendix A of SRP 4.3
- (e) design and construction details of the soil fill and the disposal unit excavation cover to be placed above the waste containers including detailed specifications and placement technique

### Modeling

Information on modeling (characterization for the settlement analyses) should include the following:

- (1) Areas or locations (disposal unit excavation cover and the general area within the disposal site) selected for the evaluation of settlement. This should include the best, average, and worst conditions (from point of concern with settlement) at the site to enable an evaluation of the range of total and differential settlements at the selected locations. This selection should be based on representative site data.
- (2) Typical cross-sections, soil and rock layering, groundwater conditions, and the timing and sequence of loading (excavation/placement of fill, etc.) to be used in the analyses which should be representative of the site conditions and the applicant's plans for operating the disposal facility.

(3) Proper justification for the design parameters for various materials (soil, rock, waste containers, backfill, disposal unit excavation cover materials, site fill, etc.) used in the settlement analyses. Analytical representation or modeling of items such as disposed waste (waste and containers degraded with time), partially saturated fill (because of assumed infiltration from the sides and top of the excavation or from leaching), and layered system cover/cap should be provided.

#### Settlement Evaluation

Information on the evaluation of settlement should include the following:

- (1) Discussions of the problem and appropriate details of the method of analyses so that the staff can judge whether the method of analyses is applicable and commonly used in the engineering profession. The settlement evaluation should consider the sequence of loading and normal and abnormal design conditions. If a commercially marketed computer code for estimating settlement is used, the staff will likely accept its validity. If a new code or a proprietary code is used, the documentation supporting the validity of the code should be presented for staff review. The analyses should determine both instantaneous and time-dependent deformations to enable a determination of both total and differential settlements at various locations of the facility.
- (2) A detailed discussion should be provided on how the magnitudes of settlements calculated at the various specific locations have been used to estimate the magnitudes of differential settlement (on both a short- and long-term basis) and the potential for cracking of the disposal unit excavation cover and possible water infiltration. Estimation of the magnitude of the cracking or the area of openings or pathways for water infiltration should be presented with adequate justification. If the differential settlement is judged minimal and not severe enough to result in cracking of the disposal unit excavation cover, then the basis for this conclusion should be clearly given. A discussion on the conservatism in the settlement analyses and how the uncertainties in the various parameters are considered should be presented. The settlement evaluation should provide the necessary information so that the staff can evaluate the extent and effects of long-term settlement and infiltration, and the SAR should contain definitive statements with adequate justification that are supported by the analyses.

### Remedial Action

Any proposal for future remedial actions at the facility to rectify the conditions and problems associated with unacceptable settlements, if necessary, should include a plan and a commitment to monitor the settlement. If excessive (more than that predicted or assumed in the design) settlements are observed, a commitment to conduct a study to determine the causes and prescribe remedial actions would be required. The commitment by the applicant to perform the required remedial action should be provided in the SAR.

#### 7 OCCUPATIONAL RADIATION PROTECTION

The applicant should provide information on the methods to be used for radiation protection and on estimated occupational radiation exposures to operating and construction personnel during normal operation and anticipated operational occurrences (including disposal, maintenance, routine operational surveillance, inservice inspection, and calibration). The applicant should provide information on facility and equipment design, the planning and procedures programs, and the techniques and practices that will be used to meet the standards for protection against radiation of 10 CFR 20 and the guidance given in the appropriate regulatory guides, where the practices set forth in such guides will be used to implement NRC regulations. Reference to other sections for information needed in this section should be specifically made where required.

#### 7.1 Occupational Radiation Exposures

#### Policy Considerations

The applicant should describe the management policy and organizational structure related to ensuring that occupational radiation exposures will be as low as is reasonably achievable (ALARA). This should include the applicable responsibilities and the related activities to be conducted by the management individuals responsible for radiation protection and the policy of maintaining occupational exposures ALARA. Policy with respect to designing and constructing the facility the ALARA policy as it will be applied to facility operations should be described.

### Design Considerations

The applicant should describe (1) how experience with past designs and operating facilities was used to develop improved design for ensuring that occupational radiation exposures will be ALFRA, (2) how ALARA design guidance (both general and specific) was given to the individual designers, (3) how the design is directed toward reducing the need for maintenance of equipment and reducing radiation levels and time spent where maintenance and other operational activities are required, and (4) any mechanisms that provide for design review by a competent professional in radiation protection such as the utility radiation protection manager.

The detailed facility design features for radiation protection and for ensuring that occupational radiation exposures will be ALARA should be covered in Section 7.3.

## Operational Considerations

The applicant should describe the methods to be used to develop the detailed operational plans and procedures for ensuring that occupational radiation exposures will be ALARA, and how these operational plans and procedures will affect the design of the facility and how such planning has incorporated information from operating experience, other designs, etc. The applicant should describe

how operational requirements are reflected in the design considerations described in Section 7.1 and the radiation protection design features described in Section 7.3.

The applicant should provide the criteria and conditions under which various operating procedures and techniques for ensuring that occupational radiation exposures will be ALARA are implemented for all systems that will contain, collect, store, or transport radioactive liquids, pases, and solids (including, for example, handling and storage systems). The applicant should describe the means for planning and developing procedures for such radiation-exposure-related operations as maintenance and inservice inspections, in a manner that will ensure that the exposures will be ALARA, and any changes in operating procedures that would result from the ALARA operational procedures review.

### 7.2 Radiation Sources

The applicant should describe the sources of radiation that are the bases for the radiation protection design so that they can be used as input to the shield design calculation. Those sources that are contained in the equipment of the radioactive waste management systems should be described. Sources should be categorized according to isotopic composition or gamma ray energy groups, strength (curie content), and geometry, and the basis for the values should be provided. The location of the source in the facility should be specified so that all important sources of radioactivity can be located on plan layout drawings. For all the sources identified above, the models and parameters for calculating the source magnitudes should be provided. Additional details on (and any changes of) source descriptions that are used to develop the final shield design should be given.

## 7.3 Radiation Protection Design Features

## Facility Design Features

The applicant should describe equipment and facility design features used for ensuring that occupational radiation exposures will be ALARA.

The applicant should provide illustrative samples of the facility design features used in the SAR design stage. The description should include those features that reduce the need for maintenance and other operations in radiation fields, reduce radiation sources where operations must be performed, allow nuick entry and easy access, provide remote operation capability, or reduce the time required for work in radiation fields, and any other features that reduce radiation exposure of personnel. It should include the methods for reducing the production, distribution, and retention of activation products through design methods, material selection, water chemistry, decontamination procedures, etc. The location of sampling ports, instrumentation, and control panels should be provided.

The applicant should provide scaled layout and arrangement drawings of the facility showing the locations of all sources. The layout drawings should show the radiation zone designations, including zone boundaries for both normal operational and refueling outage conditions. Other sections should be referenced as appropriate. The layouts should show shield wall thicknesses; traffic patterns; and the locations of controlled access areas, personnel and equipment

decontamination areas, contamination control areas, the healtr physics facilities, airborne radioactivity and area radiation monitors, control panels for radwaste equipment and components, the onsite laboratory for analysis of chemical and radioactivity states, and the counting room. The design-basis radiation level in the counting room during normal operation and anticipated operational occurrences should be specified. The applicant should describe the facilities are equipment such as loods, glove taxes, filters, special handling equipment, and special shelds that are related to the use of sealed and unsealed special nuclear, source, and byproduct material.

### Shielding

The applicant should provide information on the shielding for each of the radiation sources including the criter a for penetrations, the materials, the method by which the shield parameters (cross-sections, buildup factors, etc.) were determined, and the assumptions, codes, and techniques used in the calculations. The applicant chould describe special protective features that use shielding, geometric arrangement (including equipment separation), or memote handling to ensure that occupational radiation exposures will be ALARA in normally occupied areas. The applicant should indicate whether and, if so, how the guidance in Regulatory Guide 1.69 on concrete radiation shields and in Regulatory Guide 8.8 on special protective features was followed; in the guidance was not followed, the applicant should describe the alternative sethods used.

#### Ventilation

The applicant should describe the personnel protection features incorporated in the design of the ventilition system. Those as ects of the design that relate to removing airbon and coactivity from equipment cubicles, corridors, and operating areas no mainly or apied by operating personnel and into effluent control systems should be described. The expects of the systems that relate to controlling the concentration of radioactivity in the areas mentioned above should be included. The applicant should provide an illustrative example of the air cleaning system design including a sample tayout of an air cleaning system housing showing filter mountings, access doors, aisle space, service galleries, and provisions for testing, isolation, and decontamination. The criteria established for the changeout of an inters and absorbers in the air cleaning system should be provided.

## Area Radiation and Airborns Padioa Civity Monitoring Instrumentation

The applicant should describe the fixed area radiation and continuous airborne radioactivity maitoring instrumentation and the criteria for its selection and placement.

The applicant should provide information on the auxiliar, and or emergency power supply and the range, sensitivity, accuracy, precision, calling allow methods and frequency, alarm setpoints, recording devices, and location of detectors, readouts, and alarms for the monitoring instrumentation. Accident considerations and other needs for high-range instrumentation should be included. The applicant should provide the location of airborne monitor sample collectors and of sampling lines and pumps.



The applicant should describe the criteria and the methods for obtaining representative in-plant airborne radioactivity concentrations, including airborne radioiodines and other radioactive materials, from the area being sampled.

The applicant should describe the experience and qualification of the personnel responsible for the health physics program and for handling and monitoring radioactive materials.

#### Equipment, Instrumentation, and Facilities

The applicant should provide the criteria for the selection of portable and laboratory technical equipment and instrumentation for performing radiation and contamination surveys, for airborne radioactivity monitoring and sampling for area radiation monitoring, and for personnel monitoring during normal optotion and anticipated operational occurrences and under accident conditions. The instrument storage, calibration, and maintenance facilities should be described. The location of the health physics facilities (including locker rooms, shower rooms, offices, and access control stations), laboratory facilities for radioactivity analyses, protective clothing, respiratory protective equipment, decontamination facilities (for equipment and personnel), and other contamination control equipment and areas that will be available should be described and identified.

The applicant (1) should give the location of the respiratory protective equipment, protective clothing, and portable and laboratory technical equipment and instrumentation and (2) should describe the type of detectors and monitors and the quantity, sensitivity, range, and frequency and methods of calibration for all the technical equipment and instrumentation mentioned above.

## 7.4 Radiation Protection Program

The applicant should describe (1) the policy, methods, frequencies, and procedures for conducting radiation surveys; (2) the procedures and methods of operation that have been developed for ensuring that occupational radiation exposures will be ALARA, including the procedures used in inservice inspections, loading and shipping, normal operation, routine maintenance, and sampling and calibration that are specifically related to ensuring that radiation exposures will be ALARA; (3) the physical and administrative measures for controlling access and stay time in radiation areas; (4) the bases and methods for monitoring and controlling contamination of personnel, equipment, and surface; and (5) the radiation protection training programs.

The applicant should describe (1) the methods and procedures for personnel monitoring (external and internal), including methods of recording, reporting, and analyzing results, and (2) the program for assessing internal radiation exposure (whole-body counting and bioassay), including the bases for selecting personnel who will be in the program, the frequency of their whole-body count and bioassay, and any nonroutine bioassay that will be performed.

## Organization

The applicant should describe the administrative organization of the health physics program, including the authority and responsibility of each position identified.

The applicant should describe the methods and procedures for evaluating and controlling potential airborne radioactivity concentrations. Any requirements for special air sampling and the issuance, selection, use, and maintenance of respiratory protective devices, including training programs and respiratory protective equipment fitting programs, should be described.

The applicant should describe the method of handling and storing sealed and unsealed byproduct, source, and special nuclear material.

#### 8 CONDUCT OF OPERATIONS

#### 8.1 Organizational Structure

#### Preoperational Phase

The applicant should discuss its experience in the design and construction of waste management facilities and experience related to activities of similar scope and complexity. The applicant's management, engineering, and technical support organization, including organizational charts reflecting the applicant's current headquarters and engineering staff structure and planned modifications of and additions to this structure to reflect the added functional responsibilities associated with the addition of the facility, should also be described. These added responsibilities should be identified and should include the items listed under items (1) and (2) below:

### (1) Design and Construction Responsibilities

The applicant should describe the implementation or delegation of the following areas of responsibility:

- (a) principal site-related technical and engineering work such as that related to meteorology, geology, soils, seismology, hydrology, demography, and environmental effects
- (b) design of facility and ancillary systems
- (c) review and approval of facility design features
- (d) site layout with respect to environmental effects and security provisions
- (e) development of sections of the SAR
- (f) review and approval of material and components specifications
- (g) procurement of materials and equipment
- (h) management of construction activities
- (i) quality assurance related to design and construction

## (2) Preoperational Responsibilities

The applicant should describe the proposed plans for the management organization in regard to the following items of the initial test program:

(a) development of plans for the preoperational testing of the facility

- (b) development and implementation of staff recruiting and training programs
- (c) development of facility maintenance programs

In regard to items (1) and (2) above, the applicant should specify how these responsibilities will be delegated and implemented within and from the head-quarters staff and should identify the working or performance level and responsible organizational unit, including an estimate of the number of persons expected to be assigned to each of the various units with responsibility for the project. In addition, the applicant should show how the management staff will interact with the architect/engineer and how the applicant's staff will conduct the required review of contractor work.

The applicant should also describe the general qualifications and requirements in terms of numbers, educational background, and experience for identified positions or classes of positions, and the specific educational background and experience for assigned management and supervisory positions relative to items 1 and 2 above.

For positions or classes of positions that will have functional responsibilities other than those specified in the SAR, the expected proportion of time assigned to the other activities should be described. In addition, the early plans for providing technical support for the operation of the facility should be described.

The information should include a description of the specific activity (including scope) to be engaged in, organizational description and charts reflecting organizational lines of authority and responsibility for the project, the number of persons assigned to the project, and the qualification requirements for principal management positions related to the project. For the organization with extensive experience, a detailed description of this experience may be provided in lieu of a description of the organization and evidence of its technical capability. However, a specific description of how this experience will be applied to the particular project should be provided.

### Operational Phase

The applicant (1) should provide organizational charts showing the corporate level management and technical support structure, including the relationship of that part of the structure responsible for waste disposal to the rest of the corporate organization, and a description of the specific provisions that have been made for technical support for operations and (2) should identify the organizational unit and any augmenting organizations, or other personnel, that will manage or execute any phases of the waste management program, including the responsibilities and authority of the principal participants.

The applicant should (1) identify in terms of numbers, the educational background and experience requirements for each identified position or class of positions providing technical support for facility operations and (2) include the specific educational background and experience for individuals in the management and supervisory positions that will provide support in the areas identified below.

The special capabilities of the support group for the operation of the facility should include

(1) engineering (materials, soil mechanics, hydraulic, and structural)

(2) engineering geology

(3) health physics and radiation protection

(4) maintenance support(5) operations support(6) quality assurance

(7) training

(8) safety review(9) fire protection

(10) outside contractual assistance

### 8.2 Qualifications of Applicant

The applicant should provide the following:

- (1) An organization chart showing the title of each position, the minimum number of persons to be assigned to common or duplicate positions, and (if appropriate) the number of operating shift crews should be submitted.
- (2) The functions, responsibilities, and authorities of facility positions corresponding to the following should be given:
  - (a) overall facility management

(b) operations supervision

(c) operating shift crew supervision

(d) technical supervision

(e) radiation protection supervision

(f) maintenance supervision

(g) emergency supervisory structure

(h) quality assurance supervision (when part of the facility staff)

For each position, where applicable, required interactions with offsite personnel or personnel in positions identified in Section 8.1 should be described. Because such interactions include defined lines of reporting responsibilities, the following should also be described: (a) the line of succession of authority and responsibility for overall facility operation if unexpected occurrences of a temporary nature should occur and (b) the authority that may be delegated to operating supervisors and to shift supervisors, including the authority to issue standing or special orders.

If the facility contains or is planned to contain facilities other than those described in the SAR, this section should also describe interactions with the organizations operating such facilities. The description should include any proposed sharing of persons between the facilities, a description of their duties, and the proportion of time each person will routinely be assigned to the other facility.

(3) The position titles of management staff members, the total number of people planned to man each shift, and the proposed means of assigning shift responsibility for implementing the radiation protection and emergency programs on a round-the-clock basis (if appropriate) should also be described.

(4) The education, training, and experience requirements (qualification requirements established by the applicant for filling each management, supervisory, or radiation safety position in the operating organization above should be described. At the application stage, it is recognized that many details of the facility organization and staffing may not have been made final. This section should eventually provide evidence, in the form of personnel résumés, that the initial selections of persons to fill management and principal supervisory positions down through the shift supervisory level are acceptable.

### 8.3 Training Program

### Scheduling and Training

The applicant should describe the training and retraining programs for the facility staff and the scheduling of these programs. The program descriptions should include the following:

- (1) the proposed subject matter of each course, the duration of the course (approximate number of weeks in terms of full-time attendance), the organization teaching the course or supervising instruction, and the position titles of the persons who will be taking the course
- (2) a commitment to conduct an onsite formal training program and on-the-job training so that the entire facility staff will be qualified before the initial receipt of radioactive waste
- (3) plans for conducting a position task analysis for all operating personnel, in which the tasks performed by the person in each position are defined and the training, in conjunction with education and experience, is identified to provide assurance that the tasks can be effectively performed
- (4) procedures for the orientation of incidental site visitors with regard to site safety and radiation protection
- (5) the proposed means for evaluating the effectiveness of the training program for all employees
- (6) any difference in the training programs for individuals on the basis of experience, which should be categorized as follows:
  - (a) no previous experience
  - (b) experience at facilities not subject to licensing
  - (c) experience at comparable facilities

The applicant should submit a chart showing the schedule for each part of the training program for each position or organizational unit identified in the SAR. The time scale should be relative to expected operation.

The applicant should show clearly to what extent the training program has been accomplished at the approximate time of the submittal of the application. Contingency plans for additional training should be described in the event operation is significantly delayed from the date indicated in the application.

The applicant should describe the plans for the retraining of facility personnel, identify the additional position categories on the facility staff for which retraining will be provided, and describe the nature, scope, and frequency of such retraining.

### 8.4 Emergency Planning

The applicant should demonstrate that plans have been established for responding to all credible accidents and emergencies of a radiological nature that are consistent with the proposed method of operations.

The applicant should demonstrate that the offsite release associated with the most credible accident that is consistent with the projected source term will yield an offsite dose equivalent of less than 0.01 rem to the whole body and 0.05 rem to the lungs.

If the maximum potential offsite releases yield dose equivalents greater than the above, the applicant should develop emergency procedures that include interaction with local and State authorities and appropriate notification of affected populations. Further, the applicant's emergency procedures should have been developed with the full knowledge, participation, and cooperation of such authorities and affected populations.

#### 8.5 Review and Audit

### Facility Operations Review

The applicant should describe the provisions for the facility operations staff's review of operational activities, the independent review of facility operations, and the independent assessment of activities pertaining to safety enhancement. Specific information should include the following:

- (1) the functioning of the onsite organization with respect to the review of proposed changes to systems or procedures and of unplanned events that have operational safety significance, including subject matter to be reviewed, organizational provisions for conducting the reviews (including personnel), and the documentation and reporting of review activities
- (2) the procedures and organization used to evaluate safety-related operational activities independent of the operating organization, including how and when such a program is to be implemented, subject matter to be reviewed, organizational provisions for conducting the review (including personnel), and the documentation and reporting of review activities
- (3) the provisions to perform independent reviews and assessments of facility activities, including the functions of the review group, organizational provisions for conducting the activities (including personnel), and the documentation and reporting of these activities

## 8.6 Facility Administrative and Operating Procedures

The applicant should describe the administrative procedures that provide control over activities that are important to the safe operation of the facility and the

procedures for operation that will ensure that routine operating, abnormal, and emergency activities are conducted in a safe manner. In general, detailed written procedures do not have to be included in the SAR; however, the applicant should provide general descriptions pertaining to the nature and control of the following procedures:

#### Administrative Procedures

- (1) procedures for review and approval
- (2) equipment control procedures
- (3) procedures pertaining to the control of maintenance and modifications
- (4) emergency planning procedures
- (5) temporary changes to procedures
- (6) procedures pertaining to standard orders to facility personnel, including authority and responsibility of key site personnel (site managers, assistant manager, and site radiological control and safety officer)
- (7) training and orientation procedures
- (8) procedures pertaining to access to control area(s)
- (9) quality assurance/quality control procedures

## Operating Procedures

- (1) procedures for systems operation
- (2) waste receipt and inspection procedures
- (3) waste handling, storage, and disposal procedures
- (4) trench design and construction procedures
- (5) vehicle survey and release procedures
- (6) abnormal, temporary, and emergency procedures
- (7) instrument calibration and test procedures
- (8) facility maintenance procedures
- (9) environmental monitoring, sampling, and testing procedures

Because most of the information in this portion of the SAR is related directly to information in other portions of the SAR, the applicant should provide cross references as appropriate.

## 8.7 Physical Security

The applicant should provide the plans for implementing security measures relating to the layout of the facility and other design features and equipment arrangements intended to provide protection of nuclear materials against theft, tampering, or radiological sabotage.

The applicant should describe the comprehensive physical security program for the facility, including the physical security organization, access controls to

the facility, means of detecting unauthorized intrusion, provisions for monitoring access to controlled areas, communication systems related to security, intrusion alarm systems, arrangements with law enforcement authorities to provide assistance in responding to security threats, and response to unusual events. The implementation schedule for the physical security program should include diagrams, to approximate scale, displaying the following:

- (1) location of alarm stations
- (2) location of access control points to controlled areas
- (3) location of relevant law enforcement agencies and their geographical jurisdictions (on separate map to approximate scale)
- (4) interaction of facility operations staff with the security staff

The response capabilities of local law enforcement agencies during nonoperational hours should also be provided.

#### 9.0 QUALITY ASSURANCE

To ensure that the performance objectives of 10CFR Part 61 will be accomplished and can be demonstrated, it is necessary that the applicant establish a quality assurance (QA) program. The QA program will provide a multi-disciplinary system of management controls backed by quality verification and overview activities that demonstrate completeness and appropriateness of achieved quality. An effectively planned and executed quality assurance program includes the participation of all organizations. The policies and procedures for implementing the program describe integrated technical and administrative activities which will ensure successful accomplishment of the performance objectives of 10CFR Part 61 and the design bases stated in the application. In this section of the application, the applicant should describe the QA program that will be established and executed in determining the characteristics of natural disposal, during design, construction and operation of the facility. The QA program will include a description of controls and verifications to be exercised during the development and use of computer codes. The applicant should describe how the QA program will be established at the earliest practical time consistent with the schedule for performing the activity to which it applies.

The applicant should provide the description of the QA program in sufficient detail to permit the NRC to determine the adequacy of the planned implementation. Insufficient detail will result in formal questions by the NRC and answers by the applicant.

The applicant should provide the description of the QA program in the application for each major participating organization. The applicant may provide the descriptions of the QA programs separately or integrally for all organizations, keeping in mind that the NRC must be able to assess the adequacy of the planned implementation.

The criteria to be addressed in the applicant's and major participant's QA programs are listed and described below. It is recommended that the descriptions of the QA programs address each criterion in the order in which they appear in this section. Should the applicant conclude that one or more criterion will not apply, the justification should be clearly stated to permit the NRC to evaluate the conclusions reached.

# 9.1 Quality Assurance During Design, Construction, and Operation

#### 9.1.1 Organization

The applicant should clearly describe the authority and responsibilities of organizations performing "quality achieving" and "quality assuring" functions. "Quality achievement" is defined as satisfactory performance of a work activity, such as drilling, designing, constructing and testing, in accordance with technical criteria, requirements and procedures. The "quality assuring" functions are those of assuring that an appropriate QA program is established and executed and verifying that activities important to the accomplishment of

the performance objectives have been correctly performed. The description should make clear the assignment of responsibility for establishing and executing the quality assurance program. The organizational responsibilities should reflect an integration of the technical, administrative and quality achieving and quality assuring functions such that the quality assurance program elements are threaded throughout the entire organizational structure and are an integral part of day-to-day operations.

The applicant should provide organizational charts and functional responsibility descriptions that denote the lines of responsibility and areas of authority within each of the major organizations in the project. These charts and descriptions should present the structure of the QA organizations as well as other functional organizations performing activities affecting quality of the design and construction of the facility. In addition, a single project organization chart should be provided showing how the major organizations or companies working directly for the applicant on the project interrelate with one another. The chart should reflect the control exercised by the applicant to ensure that the quality of work is performed by the lowest tier supplier or subcontractor is adequate to support accomplishment of the performance objectives.

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that persons and organizations performing "quality assuring" functions have sufficient authority and organizational freedom to (1) identify quality problems; (2) initiate, recommend or provide solutions; and (3) verify implementation of solutions. The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that persons and organizations assigned the responsibility for checking, auditing, inspecting or otherwise verifying correct performance of an activity report to a management level in order to provide required authority and organizational freedom, including sufficient independence from pressures of cost and schedule.

Irrespective of the organizational structure, the applicant should describe how the individual or individuals with primary responsibility for ensuring effective implementation of the QA program at any location where activities subject to the control of the QA program are being performed will have direct access to such levels of management as may be necessary to carry out this responsibility. The applicant should indicate from whom the persons performing quality assuring functions receive technical direction for performing quality assuring tasks and administrative control (salary review, hire and/or fire, position assignment). The applicant should identify those positions or organizations that have written delegated responsibility and authority to stop work or control further processing, delivery, installation or use of nonconforming items until proper disposition of the deficient item has been approved.

The applicant should describe how requirements will be imposed on contractors and subcontractors to ensure that individuals or groups within their organizations performing quality assuring functions have sufficient authority and organizational freedom to effectively implement their respective QA programs.

The applicant should describe the extent to which it will delegate to other contractors the work of establishing and executing the QA program or any part thereof. The QA functions that are implemented within the applicant's QA organization and those that are delegated to other organizations should be

clearly delineated. The method by which the applicant will retain responsibility for, and maintain control over, those portions of the QA program delegated to other organizations should be described, and the organization responsible for verifying that delegated QA functions are properly carried out should be identified. The applicant should identify major work interfaces for activities affecting quality and describe how clear and effective lines of communication exist between the applicant and principal contractors to ensure necessary coordination and control of the QA program.

#### 9.1.2 Quality Assurance Program

The applicant should plan and execute implementation of a QA program at the earliest time, consistent with the schedule for accomplishing the activities. The QA program should be documented by written policies, procedures and/or instructions and should be carried out throughout site characterization activities, design, construction and operation of the facility. The description of the QA program in the application should reflect how the QA program is to be established in advance of start of the activities to be controlled and how the program is to be implemented as the activities proceed. The QA program description should include a listing of policies, procedures and instructions, along with a brief summary of the intent of each and a schedule for their release.

The QA program should provide for the planning and accomplishment of activities affecting quality under suitably controlled conditions. Controlled conditions include the use of appropriate equipment, suitable environmental conditions for accomplishing the activity and assurance that prerequisites for the given activity have been satisfied. The program should provide for special controls, processes, test equipment, tools and skills to attain the required quality.

The program should identify the activities and items to which it applies and provide controls consistent with the importance of the activities and/or items in meeting the performance objectives. Items as used here is an all-inclusive term used in place of any of the following: structure, system, component, material, equipment, technical data, documents, computer codes and samples.

The program should provide for indectrination and training, as necessary, of personnel performing activities related to accomplishment of the performance objectives.

The applicant should describe the program that provides for adequate indoctrination and training of personnel performing activities affecting quality to ensure that suitable proficiency is achieved and maintained and how that program will ensure the following:

- Personnel performing activities affecting quality are appropriately trained in the principles and techniques of the activity being performed.
- (2) Personnel performing activities affecting quality are instructed as to the purpose, scope and implementation of governing manuals, policies and procedures.
- (3) Appropriate training procedures are established.

(4) Proficiency of personnel performing activities affecting quality is maintained.

The applicant should describe the qualification requirements for the persons responsible for ensuring effective implementation of the QA program of the applicant and of its major contractors.

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that activities affecting quality will be accomplished under suitably controlled conditions, including (1) the use of appropriate equipment, (2) a suitable environment for accomplishing the activity (e.g., adequate cleanliness), and (3) compliance with the necessary prerequisites for the given activity.

The applicant should describe (1) the measures that ensure that there is regular management review of the QA program to assess its effectiveness and the adequacy of its scope and implementation and (2) the provisions for reviews by management personnel above or outside the QA organization to ensure an objective program assessment. The description should include measures to ensure that major participating organizations regularly review and assess the effectiveness of their respective QA program implementation.

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that its QA organization will (1) review and document agreement with the QA programs of the principal contractors and (2) conduct or have conducted audits of the contractors' QA program activities.

The applicant should provide a summary description of advanced planning that demonstrates control of quality-related activities, including management and technical interactions.

The applicant should describe the provisions for maintaining the QA program description current.

## 9.1.3 Design Controls

As defined in the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, the term "design" means: (a) specifications, plans, drawings, blueprints and other items of like nature; (b) the information contained therein; and (c) the research and development data pertinent to the information contained therein. The term "research and development" means: (a) theoretical analysis, exploration or experimentation; or (b) the extension of investigative findings and theories of scientific or technical nature into practical application for experimental and demonstration purposes, including experimental production and testing of models, devices, equipment, materials and processes.

The design of a Low-Level Waste (LLW) facility includes: characterizing the geologic setting; predicting the long-term stability of the site; predicting the environmental interactions between the site and its surroundings; planning and specifying processes for handling LLW; and specifying requirements for constructing facilities for handling LLW. The design process includes developing computer codes used in modeling the characteristics of the geologic setting or

in the predicting of environmental impacts, such as groundwater travel and seismic activity. The degree of design control that management must exercise over a given element of the design is highly dependent on the importance of that element in meeting the performance objectives of the LLW facility. The ability to demonstrate the soundness of the design is a key consideration in establishing management controls.

The applicant should describe how the design control element of the QA program is to be planned, documented and implemented prior to start of design work. Measures should be described that ensure that applicable regulatory requirements, as defined in 10CFR Part 61 regulations, are correctly translated into specifications, plans, drawings, procedures and instructions. These measures should include provisions to ensure that appropriate quality standards are included in the design documents and that deviations from such standards are controlled.

The applicant should describe measures for ensuring the adequacy of the process of selecting and reviewing for suitability of application of materials, parts, equipment and processes that are essential to the accomplishment of the performance objectives.

The applicant should (1) describe the measures that ensure verification of checking of design adequacy, such as design review, peer review, use of alternate calculation methods or performance of a qualification testing program under the most adverse conditions; and (2) identify the positions or organizations responsible for design verification or checking. Individuals or groups responsible for design verification should be other than the original designer and normally other than the designer's immediate supervisor. Design verification consists of confirming that the design of the structure, system or component is suitable for its intended purpose. Design checking, which must also be performed, includes such things as confirmation of the numerical accuracy of computations and the accuracy of data input to computer codes. Confirming that the correct computer code has been used is part of design verification. Design verification requires that the responsible individual or group has a level of skill at least equal to that of the original designer; design checking, however, can be performed by less skillf" politics. Design verification should be performed by persons other than those performing design checking.

The applicant should describe measures of identifying and controlling design interrelationships, both internal and external, and for providing coordination between participating design organizations. These measures should include provision for establishment of procedures among participating design organizations for the review, approval, release, distribution and revision of documents involving design interfaces.

The applicant should describe how design changes, including field changes, will be subject to design control measures commensurate with those applied to the original design and will be approved by the organization that performed the original design, unless the applicant designates another responsible organization.

The applicant should describe how errors and deficiencies in the design, including the design process, that could adversely affect the performance of any structure, system, component or activity necessary to meet the requirements of 10 CFR Part 61 are to be documented; and corrective action, including root cause evaluation of significant errors and deficiencies, is to be taken to prevent recurrence of errors and deficiencies.

#### 9.1.4 Procurement Document Control

The applicant should describe measures that will be established to assure that applicable regulatory requirements, design bases and other requirements which are necessary to assure adequate quality are suitably included or referenced in the document for procurement of material, equipment and services, whether purchased by the applicant or by its contractors or subcontractors. To the extent necessary, procurement documents should require contractors or subcontractors to provide a QA program consistent with the guidance in this section.

The applicant should describe how procedures are to be established that clearly delineate the sequence of actions to be performed in the preparation, review, approval and control of procurement documents. Procurement documents provide the exchange of information between the applicant and its contractors or between the prime contractors and subcontractors. It is paramount to the success of the design, construction and operation of an LLW facility that these documents be subjected to the utmost care in their planning, release and distribution. For the more important instructions conveyed by procurement documents, it is prudent to also conduct meetings to review the contents and ensure that the resulting actions will take place as planned. Particular care should be exercised in communicating the required management controls to contractors and subcontractors supplying services related to site characterization, to ensure that results can be reliably demonstrated. Procedures that are to be followed and records that are to be generated and retained must be clearly identified in the procurement documents. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure that contractors and subcontractors have the needed information and fully comprehend the information and the significance of its use.

The applicant should describe how it will ensure that qualified personnel will review and concur on the adequacy of quality requirements stated in procurement documents. This review should determine that quality requirements are correctly stated, inspectable and controllable; there are adequate acceptance and rejection criteria; and the procurement document has been prepared, reviewed and approved in accordance with QA program requirements. The review and approval of procurement documents should be documented before they are released and should be available for verification.

The applicant should describe measures for ensuring that procurement documents will identify the documentation (e.g., drawings, specifications, procedures, inspection and fabrication plans, inspection and test records, personnel and procedure qualifications and chemical and physical test results of material) to be prepared, maintained and submitted to the purchaser for review and approval. The description should include measures to ensure that procurement documents will identify those records to be retained, controlled and maintained by the

supplier and those to be delivered to the purchaser before hardware is used or installed or before a service, such as sample testing, is approved and accepted.

Measures should be described to ensure that procurement documents will contain the procuring agency's right of access to the supplier's facilities and records for source inspection and audit.

The applicant should describe measures to ensure that changes and revisions to procurement documents will be subject to the same or equivalent review and approval as the original documents.

#### 9.1.5 Instruction, Procedures and Drawings

The applicant should describe measures to be taken to ensure that activities affecting quality are prescribed and performed in accordance with documented instructions, procedures or drawings. Provisions should be established that clearly delineate the sequence of actions to be performed in the preparation, review, approval and control of instructions, procedures and drawings. Instructions, procedures or drawings should include appropriate quantitative acceptance criteria for determining that important activities have been satisfactorily accomplished.

Two primary reasons exist for maintaining planned and approved instructions, procedures and drawings for the performance of activities related to accomplishing the performance objectives of. The first occurs when there is a need to perform an activity in a specific way and sequence. The formal instruction, procedure or drawing provides not only the specific way and sequence but provides criteria to permit an independent verification that the activity was performed correctly. The second occurs when there is a need to document the tools, methods and in-process results for the benefit of others who will later review the decision process and judge the conclusions reached. The conduct of field and laboratory geotechnical tests requires preplanned procedures to be followed by a scientist, but as the testing progresses, the procedures could be changed to reflect new and different practices dictated by in-process information. At the conclusion, the procedure followed by the scientist and the information gathered will be fully documented for review by others at a later time.

#### 9.1.6 Document Control

The applicant should describe the measures established to control documents that prescribe activities affecting the quality of the design, construction and operation of an LLW facility. The purpose of this control is to ensure that planned directions are understood and in the hands of those responsible for achieving and assuring the project's objectives. The description should cover control measures that ensure the following:

- (1) The review, approval, and issuance of such documents and changes thereto should be procedurally controlled to ensure the contents of the documents are adequate and the quality requirements are appropriately stated.
- (2) Provisions should be established that identify those individuals or groups responsible for reviewing, approving and issuing documents and revisions thereto.

- (3) Changes to documents should be reviewed and approved by the same organizations that performed the original review and approval, or by other qualified responsible organizations delegated by the applicant.
- (4) Approved changes should be included in instructions, procedures, drawings and other documents before the change is implemented.
- (5) Obsolete or superseded documents should be controlled to prevent inadvertent use.
- (6) Documents should be available at the location where the activity will be performed before the work commences.
- (7) A master list or its equivalent should be established to identify the current revision number of instructions, procedures, specifications, drawings and procurement documents. The list should be revised and distributed to predetermined, responsible personnel to prevent use of superseded (outdated) documents.

The applicant should identify the types of documents to be controlled and the organization responsible for the review, approval and issuance of documents and changes thereto.

9.1.7 Control of Purchased Material, Equipment and Services

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that material, equipment and services purchased directly by the applicant or its contractors and subcontractors will conform to procurement document requirements. The description should describe the measures that provide, as appropriate, for the following:

- (1) Evaluation and selection of sources of supply before the procurement order or contract is awarded.
- (2) Surveillance at the supplier's facility by the purchaser or its representative in accordance with written procedures during design, manufacture, inspection and testing of the procured item or service to verify compliance with quality requirements.
- (3) Source and/or receipt inspection of procured items furnished by the supplier in accordance with written procedures and acceptance criteria.
- (4) Documented evidence at the site from the supplier that procured items meet procurement quality requirements such as codes, standards or specifications; and measures established by the applicant to ensure that this documented evidence is (a) examined and accepted during source or receipt inspection; (b) is available at the site before installation or use of the procured item; and (c) will be retained at the facility.
- (5) Periodic verification of the supplier's certificates of conformance to ensure that they are meaningful.

The applicant should describe the measures whereby the applicant or a designated representative will audit and evaluate the effectiveness of the control of quality-related activities of contractors and subcontractors at a frequency and extent consistent with the importance to accomplishment of performance objectives.

#### 9.1.8 Identification and Control of Material, Parts and Components

The purpose of this criterion is to provide for formal control and identification of items such as core, laboratory test samples, raw materials to be used in construction, fabricated parts and assemblies, and material or components found to be defective.

The applicant should describe the measures established to identify and control items such as those listed above. The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that (1) identification of the item (i.e., part number, sample origin, serial number or other appropriate marking) is maintained, either on the item or on records traceable to the item, and is verified, as required, throughout fabrication, erection, installation and use of the item; and (2) the method and location of the identification do not affect the function of quality of the item being identified.

#### 9.1.9 Control of Processes

The applicant should describe the measures established to control processes by formal instructions, procedures, drawings, checklists or other appropriate means. The description should include measures that ensure that the levels of operator skill required is specified and that needed indoctrination and training is provided. The applicant should describe measures to ensure that processes and their controls are detailed in approved procedures. Measures to ensure retention of records of qualification of personnel, processes and equipment should be described.

#### 9.1.10 Inspection

The primary purpose of inspection activities is to accept or reject completed work. Inspection can be performed as a verification activity to ensure that work, including prior inspections, has been properly performed.

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that a program for inspection is established and implemented by or for the organization performing the activity to verify conformance with the documented instructions, procedures and drawings for accomplishing the activity. The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that (1) inspection personnel are appropriately qualified and are independent of the individual or group performing the activity being inspected; (2) inspections or tests are performed for each work operation as necessary to verify quality; (3) indirect control by monitoring processing methods, equipment and personnel is used if direct inspection of processed material or products is impossible or disadvantageous; and (4) both inspection and process monitoring are used when control is inadequate without both.

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that (1) inspection procedures and instructions with necessary drawings and specifications are made available for use before the inspections are performed; (2) inspectors' qualifications or certifications are kept current; (3) replaced or reworked items are inspected in accordance with original inspection requirements; and (4) modified or repaired items are inspected by methods that are equivalent to the original inspection method.

The applicant should describe the system where appropriate documents will identify any mandatory inspection holdpoints that require witnessing or inspecting by the applicant or a designated representative and beyond which work may not proceed without the consent of the designated representative.

#### 9.1.11 Test Control

A test may be conducted to determine if an item or service is acceptable, or it may be conducted to acquire additional information. Test is defined as: an operation employed to resolve an uncertainty; a procedure to ascertain effectiveness, value, proper function, quality or other characteristics; a procedure to understand a system, subsystem, component or structure; or a procedure of submitting a statement to such conditions as will lead to its proof or disproof or to its acceptance or rejection. The description of the test should indicate the purpose of the test.

The applicant should describe the measures that establish a test program that identifies all testing required to demonstrate that the intrinsic characteristics of the site's geologic, hydrologic and geochemical environment is capable of providing long-term isolation to meet the requirements of 10CFR Part 61.

The applicant should describe the measures that establish a test program that (1) identifies all testing required to demonstrate that structures, systems and components will perform satisfactorily in service; (2) is conducted by trained and appropriately qualified personnel in accordance with written test procedures that incorporate or reference the requirements and acceptance limits contained in applicable design documents.

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that test procedures have provisions for ensuring the following:

- (1) All prerequisites for the given test have been met.
- (2) Adequate test instrumentation and equipment are available.
- (3) The test is performed under suitable environmental conditions and with adequate test methods.

The applicant should describe the system whereby test results are documented and evaluated to ensure that test requirements have been satisfied.

#### 9.1.12 Control of Measuring and Test Equipment

All measures that affect the quality of the design, construction or operation of an LLW facility should be taken only with instruments, tools, gauges or other measuring devices that are accurate, controlled, calibrated and adjusted at predetermined intervals to maintain accuracy within necessary limits.

The applicant should describe the measures established to ensure that tools, gauges, instruments and other measuring and testing devices used in activities affecting quality are properly identified, controlled, adjusted and calibrated at specified periods to maintain accuracy within necessary limits. The applicant should describe the measures that ensure (1) that these devices are adjusted and calibrated against certified equipment or reference or transfer standards having known valid relationships to nationally recognized standards; or (2) that if no national standards exist, the basis for calibration is documented. The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that the error of calibration standards is less than the error of production measuring and test equipment.

The applicant should describe the provisions that will apply if measuring and test equipment is found out of calibration (1) for evaluating the validity of previous inspection or test results and the acceptability of items inspected or tested since the last calibration check; and (2) for repeating original inspections or tests using calibrated equipment where necessary to establish acceptability of suspect items. The applicant should describe the measures that ensure the maintenance of records that indicate the calibration status of all items under the calibration system and that identify the measuring and test equipment.

### 9.1.13 Handling, Storage and Shipping

The purpose of this criterion is to control handling, storage, cleaning, packaging, preservation and shipping of items affecting the quality of the design, construction and operation of an LLW facility. It is of particular importance that attention be given to application of this criterion to the control of samples to prevent damage, loss, deterioration and misidentification. When necessary for particular products, special protective environment, such as inert gas thosphere, specific moisture content levels and temperature levels, should be specified and provided.

Procedures should be prepared that provide for the cleaning, handling, packaging, preservation, storage and shipping of samples, materials, components and assemblies, in accordance with design and specification requirements to prevent damage, loss or deterioration by environmental conditions. Qualified individuals should provide special handling, preservation, storage, cleaning, packaging and shipping, in accordance with preplanned work instructions.

The applicant should describe (1) the measures established to control the handling, storage, shipping, cleaning and preservation of material and equipment in accordance with work and inspection instructions to prevent damage or deterioration; and (2) the measures for specifying and providing, when necessary for particular products, special protective environments such as inert gas atmosphere, specific moisture content levels and temperature levels.

### 9.1.14 Inspection, Test and Operating Status

The purpose of this criterion is to identify the inspection and test status of samples, structures, systems and components. Such identification will prevent inadvertent use of a sample, structure, system or component which is yet to be inspected or tested or that has been found to be unacceptable for use.

The applicant should describe the measures established to indicate, by use of markings such as stamps, tags, labels, or other suitable means, the status of inspections and tests performed on individual items of the LLW disposal facility during design, construction and operation. These measures should provide for identifying items that have satisfactorily passed required inspections and tests, where necessary to preclude inadvertent bypassing of such inspections and tests. Measures should also be established for indicating the operating status of structures, systems and components of the LLW disposal facility to prevent inadvertent operation.

# 9.1.15 Nonconforming Materials, Parts or Components

The applicant should describe (1) the measures established to control materials, parts or components that do not conform to requirements in order to prevent their inadvertent use or installation; (2) the measures that provide for, as appropriate, identification, documentation, segregation, disposition and notification to affected organizations; and (3) the measures that ensure that nonconforming items are reviewed and accepted, rejected, repaired or reworked in accordance with documented procedures.

### 9.1.16 Corrective Action

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that conditions adverse to quality such as failures, malfunctions, deficiencies, deviations, defective material and equipment, and nonconformance of items are promptly identified and corrected.

The applicant should describe how, in the case of significant conditions adverse to quality, the cause of the condition will be determined, corrective action will be taken to preclude repetition, and the problems with its determined cause and corrective action will be documented and reported to appropriate management levels. A significant condition adverse to quality is defined as a nonconformance or adverse condition which, if left uncorrected, could have a serious effect on safety, reliability or performance.

## 9.1.17 Quality Assurance Records

The purpose of keeping QA records is to furnish evidence that activities affecting quality have been properly performed. The records should include at least the following: operating logs and the results of reviews, inspections, tests, audits, monitoring of work performance and material analyses. The records should also include closely related data such as qualification of personnel, procedures and equipment. Also, the records should include, for example, the evaluations of the various radiation exposure pathways and the analyzed doses from the pathways included in the license application. Inspection and test records should, at a minimum, identify the inspector or data recorder, the type of observation, the results, the acceptability and the

action taken in connection with any deficiencies noted. Records should be identifiable and retrievable. Consistent with applicable regulatory requirements, the applicant should establish requirements concerning record retention, such as duration, location and assigned responsibility.

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that sufficient records are maintained to furnish evidence of activities affecting quality and how such records (1) include at least the following: test logs, results of reviews, drawings, inspections, tests, audits, monitoring of work performance and materials analyses; and such data as qualifications of personnel, procedures and equipment; (2) identify the type of operation, the inspector or data recorder, the results, the acceptability and the action taken in connection with any deficiencies noted; and (3) provide sufficient information to permit identification of the record with the item or activity to which it applies.

The applicant should describe the measures that ensure that records are identifiable and retrievable.

The applicant should describe the measures that establish requirements (consistent with regulatory requirements and responsibilities concerning record submittal and retention, security and storage facilities) for protecting records from destruction by fire, flooding, tornadoes, insects and rodents and from deterioration caused by extremes in temperature and humidity.

9.1.18 Audits, Surveillance and Managerial Controls

A comprehensive system of planned and periodic surveiliance and audits should be carried out to verify compliance with all aspects of the QA program and to determine the effectiveness of that program. The audits should be performed in accordance with the written procedures or checklists by appropriately trained personnel who do not have direct responsibilities in the area audited. Audit results should be documented and reviewed by management personnel who have responsibility in the area audited. Controls should include documentation, review and record maintenance of the audit program; frequency of audits; and follow-up action, including correction and reauditing of deficient areas.

The purpose of this criterion is to measure and feed back the status of the design, construction and operation activities as they relate to meeting 10CFR61 requirements. Real-time awareness of anomalies permits immediate analysis and correction of identified problems and of the cause of the problems. Demonstration that design, construction and operation activities conform to the requirements of 10CFR Part 61 is enhanced by the use of well planned verification techniques.

The applicant should describe its program and that of the principal contractors for conducting comprehensive planned and periodic audits to verify compliance with all aspects of the QA program and to determine the effectiveness of the program.

The applicant should describe the program features that cover the functions listed below and should identify the positions or organizations that will perform these functions.

- (1) External audits to be performed by the applicant and its principal contractors on their respective suppliers.
- (2) Internal audits to be performed by the applicant and its principal contractors within their respective organizations.
- (3) The planning and scheduling of audits to ensure that they are regularly scheduled on the basis of the status and safety importance of the activities being performed and are initiated early enough to ensure effective quality assurance during design, procurement, manufacturing, construction and inspection.
- (4) Conduct of audits in accordance with written procedures or checklists by appropriately trained and qualified personnel not having direct responsibility in the area being audited.
- (5) Documentation of audit results with review by management personnel responsible for the area audited and, where indicated, follow-up action taken, including re-audit of the deficient areas.

#### 10 FINANCIAL ASSURANCE\*

The applicant should provide (1) sufficient information to demonstrate that its financial qualifications are adequate to carry out the activities for which the license is sought and (2) other financial assurances covered in 10 CFR 61.61 and 10 CFR 61.62. [Details of 10 CFR 61.63 on the institutional control period will be provided at a later date.]

#### 10.1 Financial Qualifications of Applicant

#### General Information Requirements.

The applicant should provide the following information depending on whether it is an established entity, a newly formed entity, a jointly owned entity, or a publicly owned entity:

(1) An established entity should provide its published annual financial report for the last three years, together with such current interim financial statements as are pertinent. If such reports are not published, the balance sheet and operating statement covering the three complete accounting years should be provided, together with all pertinent notes certified by a public accountant. Projections for the three years immediately following the year of projected operation also should be submitted. Joint applicants should provide copies of joint ownership and operational agreements. The financial statements should be audited by a certified public accountant. Projections for the three years immediately following the year of projected operation also should be submitted.

An established entity should provide a statement of the general plan for financing the cost of the land disposal facility, which identifies the source or sources on which it will rely for financing the cost of constructing the facility (internal source such as retained earnings and depreciation accruals or external source such as issuance of debt and equity securities). The applicant should indicate the relative degree to which each source of funds is expected to contribute to the total required funds. The projected overall capital structure of the applicant during construction of the facility should also be indicated. In the case of a joint applicant, the financial responsibilities of each party should be provided.

(2) A newly formed entity should provide a statement of its assets, liabilities, and capital structure certified by a certified public accountant as of the

<sup>\*</sup>Financial assurance guidance continues to be under active review and development (i.e., standby trust and recommended wording for mechanisms) by the NRC staff and future revisions are anticipated to the materials presented here.

The staff requests comment on the financial assurance guidance and will consider such comments in future revisions.

date of the application. Projections for the three years immediately following the year of projected operation also should be submitted. If the applicant is a subsidiary of, or otherwise related to, a parent company or other corporate affiliate, the annual financial report of that organization should be provided. If the applicant has ever filed for bankruptcy, it should provide the specific details.

A newly formed entity should specifically identify the source or sources on which it will rely for financing the cost of constructing the land disposal facility, and the amount to be obtained from each source. With respect to each source, the applicant should describe in detail the legal and financial relationships with stockholders, corporate affiliates, or other institutions on which it is relying for financial assistance. If the sources of the funds include parent companies or other corporate affiliates, the applicant should include information that supports the financial capability of each such company or affiliate to meet its commitments to the applicant. This information should be of the same scope as would be required if the parent companies or affiliates were in fact the applicant.

- (3) Joint entities should provide information for each member of the group according to each member's status and role, The status, role, and responsibilities of each member should be clearly defined.
- (4) A publicly owned entity should submit excerpts from statutes, ordinances, or other legal authority that allow it to issue bonds or other forms of indebtedness and to take other actions necessary to finance the land disposal facility.

### Specific Information Requirements Pursuant to 10 CFR 61.61

10 CFR 61.61 requires an applicant to show that it either possesses the necessary funds or has reasonable assurance of obtaining the necessary funds to cover the estimated costs of conducting all licensed activities over the planned operating life of the project, including costs of construction and disposal.

To satisfy this requirement the applicant must submit the following information:

### (1) Legal Designation of Applicant

- (a) The applicant should supply its exact legal name; its principal place of business; the designation as an individual, corporation, or public authority; the State under whose laws it is incorporated, organized, or authorized; and the name, title, phone number, and mailing address of the person to whom communications concerning the financial information are to be addressed.
- (b) If the applicant is not an individual, it should provide a confirmed copy of its articles of incorporation and bylaws or other similar documents. One certified copy shall be submitted with the original application.

(c) If any persons or organized group of persons, directly or indirectly, own, control, or hold the power to vote 10 percent or more of the outstanding voting securities of the applicant, a detailed explanation of each such relationship should be provided.

#### (2) Description of Applicant's Operations

The applicant should describe the service to be provided and the acquisition, construction, operations, and extension of the facility including the proposed dates for the beginning and completion of construction and operations, as well as the provisions for long-term care.

### (3) Applicant's Financing Plan

The applicant must propose a detailed financing plan for the proposed facility that will enable the staff to determine how the facility will be financed. This should include, but not be limited to the following:

- (a) If a State or compact authority has agreed to finance, guarantee, or underwrite any portions of the construction, operation, closure, or long-term care of the facility, the applicant should provide notarized copies of any such contracts with these parties. It should provide an explanation of the amount, length, and type of financial commitment in regard to this arrangement.
- (b) The applicant should provide a statement explaining the extent to which it will rely on short-term financing in connection with the proposed construction, and statements tending to substantiate the fact that such short-term loans will be made available.
- (c) The applicant should provide a detailed description of its outstanding and proposed securities and liabilities, showing amount (face value and number), interest or dividend rate, dates of issue and maturity, voting privileges, and principal terms and conditions applicable to each.
- (d) The applicant should provide copies of the company's independently audited, financial reports for the past 3 years. As minimum, this must include balance sheets, and income statements (both in consolidated form if available), accumulated retained earnings statement, and a statement of changes in financial position (sources and uses of funds statement).
- (e) The applicant should provide a statement of anticipated cash flow, including provisions during the construction period and the first three full years of operation for paying interest and dividends and for retiring debt issues.
- (f) The applicant should provide a statement showing, over the life of each issue, the annual amount of securities it expects to retire through a sinking fund or other extinguishment of indebtedness.

- (g) The applicant should provide comparative pro forma balance sheets and income statements for the construction period and each of the first three full years of operation giving the effect of the construction and financing of the project.
- (h) The applicant should submit pro forma statements for each of the first three full years of operation showing (i) annual revenues subdivided by type of service to be provided and (ii) annual operating expenses including property and labor costs, depreciation, depletion, taxes, rate of return on net investment, including working capital. If the applicant is a public authority, it should provide similar data and amortization interest schedules for the life of each bond issue related to the facility.
- (i) The applicant should provide a statement of the proposed rates to be charged for the services to be rendered at the facility, including all charges for closure and long-term care.
- (j) The applicant should provide a statement explaining the type and amount of property and liability insurance that will be obtained for the facility, along with copies of such policies and any attached riders.
- (k) The applicant should provide any additional data and information on sources on which it proposes to rely, showing the adequacy and availability of resources for financing the project.

#### (4) Other Applicable Information

- (a) If the applicant has a parent or holding company, it should provide copies of any fiduciary guarantees provided by the parent or holding company with regard to this project.
- (b) If the applicant is required to submit Form 10K or Form 10Q to the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, provide copies of these reports for the last 5 years.
- (c) If the applicant's company is evaluated by a bond rating service such as Moody's Investors Service, Inc., or Standard and Poor's Comporation, it should provide copies of these ratings for the last 3 years.
- (d) The applicant should provide a brief description of any litigation in which it is involved that might have a negative economic effect on the operations at the facility.

## 10.2 Funding Assurances

The applicant should demonstrate that the requirements of 10 CFR 61.62(a) through (g) have been met. Additionally, the party offering a guarantee must demonstrate that it has the legal authority to provide this kind of financial assurance in the State where the proposed low-level waste disposal site is located.

The applicant also should provide an estimate of the cost of disposal site closure and stabilization in accordance with its plan for site closure and stabilization. The applicant should identify the source(s) for the funds necessary to pay the cost of decommissioning and closing the proposed facility. The applicant should provide a debitle breakdown, including an explanation of assurptions used in the cost of low ations.

### Specific Acceptable Financial Assurances

The applicant should follow the guida ce given below on the types of financial assurances the staff has found accept ble.

#### (1) Suretie, or Performance Bonds

A bond is a contract that an applicant (sometimes called the principal) can enter into with a qualified surety company (sometimes called the surety).

Under this contract, the surety company guarantees to the NRC (sometimes called the obligee, that specified activities will be performed. The applicant should pay the surety for this guarantee, since the surety company will be liable for these obligations if the applicant fails to perform the activities.

The surety bond should provide guarantee that funds will be available for alosure of the facility by the applicant in accordance with the Commission-approved plan for site closure and stabilization. The bond must continue to provide coverage during the postclosure observation and maintenance period before a license is terminated.

Sould the applicant default, a surety company may fulfill its obligations under such a bond by securing the performance of activities in accordance with the plan for site closure and stabilization. This bond limits the liability of the surety company to the face amount of the bond, called the penal sum. As cost estimates increase, this penal sum may be increased on agreement of the applicant and the jurety company. The bond may provide, by an optional ridar, that the penal sum can be increased up to 20 percent in any year without a new agreement between the parties.

An acceptable bond for the purposes of thes chapter should meet the following criteria:

- (a) An applicant wishing to use a surety bond should establish a standby trust fund at the same time if it does not wish to have the State as the named beneficiary. Both the bond and standby trust agreement should be submitted as evidence of financial assurance.
- (b) The surety bond should contain terms so that any funds drawn under it would be placed directly into the standby trust fund by the institution making the payment. (In this regard, the Commission is following the approach of the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), which imposed this requirement pursuant to the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act after it found that without such a mechanism, any funds drawn under a surety bond that would be payable

to the EPA would have to be paid into the U.S. Treasury and could not be used specifically to pay for closure and postclosure care of a hazardous waste facility (U.S.C 3303(b).)

- (c) An applicant wishing to use a bond should first enter into a contract with a qualified surety. The NRC staff considers qualified sureties to be those listed by the U.S. Department of the Treasury in Circular 570, which is published annually on approximately July 1, and then updated in the Federal Register. The circular also lists the maximum amount that each surety can guarantee in one bond; this amount is called the underwriting limitation. (A surety company can only issue a surety bond exceeding that amount which it brings another company into the surety agreement to help share the risk. Several sureties acting together, however, may not exceed the total of their individual underwriting limitations.) Finally, Circular 570 lists those States where each qualified surety is licensed to enter into a surety bond; a surety bond used to meet the NRC financial assurance requirements should be signed in one of those States.
- (d) The penal sum of the surety bond must be in an amount at least equal to the cost estimates in the plan for site closure and stabilization, plus the cost estimates for long-term care. An applicant wishing to use this instrument should verify that the amount and the terms and conditions are satisfactory to the NRC during the licensing review. The wording for surety bonds should be similar to that recommended in Appendices 10.A and 10.B.

#### (2) Letters of Credit

A letter of credit is a binding arrangement by which the credit of one party, such as a bank, is extended on behalf of a second party, called the account party, to a third party, the beneficiary. The first party, the issuer, allows the beneficiary to draw funds on the presentation of documents in accordance with the terms of the letter of credit.

The applicant is the account party, the financial institution is the issuer, and the NRC is the named beneficiary. The letter of credit allowed for NRC applicants for financial assurance is different in two major ways from standard commercial versions,

- The NRC version can only be cancelled with 120 days' notice before the current expiration date.
- The NRC version must be extended automatically for at least 1 year if it is not cancelled. Therefore, although many financial institutions may be qualified, it is not certain how many will be willing to provide a letter of credit for this purpose.

The issuer offers this assurance in exchange for a fee paid by the applicant. The applicant also undertakes to repay, with interest, any funds drawn through the letter of credit. Although the NRC suggests that the wording of the letter of credit be similar to the language shown in Appendix 10.C, the terms of the credit arrangement between the applicant and the issuer will depend on individual circumstances and negotiations.

If an applicant has a good relationship with a bank, a letter of credit may be a desirable method of establishing a financial assurance.

An applicant should establish a standby trust fund at the same time if it wishes to use a letter of credit and if it does not wish to have the State named as the beneficiary. Under the terms of the letter of credit, any funds drawn under it are to be placed directly into the standby trust fund by the institution making the payment. (In this regard, the Commission is following the lead of EPA, which imposed this requirement after it found that, without such a mechanism, any funds drawn that would be payable to the EPA would have to be paid into the U.S. Treasury and could not be used specifically to pay for closure and postclosure care of a hazardous waste facility (31 U.S.C. § 3302(b).)

The following terms and conditions should be met by an applicant wishing to use a letter of credit:

- (a) The issuing institution for the letter of credit should be an entity that has the authority to issue a letter of credit and whose letter-of-credit operations are regulated and examined by a Federal or State agency. (All domestic commercial banks and some saving banks, foreign banks operating in the United States, credit unions, and saving and loan associations satisfy this requirement.)
- (b) Guidelines for a letter of credit the applicant should consider are found in regulations issued by the Department of Treasury, Comptroller of the Treasury (12 CFR 7.7016). These guidelines can be summarized as follows:
  - Letters of credit should conspicuously state that they are letters of credit.
  - The bank's undertaking should contain a specified expiration date, or be for a definite term.
  - The bank's obligation to pay should arise only on the presentation of a draft or other documents as specified in the letter of credit, and the bank must not be called on to determine questions of fact or law at issue between the account party and the beneficiary.
  - The bank's customers should have an unqualified obligation to reimburse the bank for payments made under the letter of credit.
- (c) The letter of credit should be effective and irrevocable the entire time it is in effect during the coverage period specified in the license. If the letter of credit ends after 1 year, it should be automatically renewed unless the issuer notifies the NRC and the account party that it is cancelling during the specified notification period.
- (d) The wording of the letter of credit should be similar to that of the sample letter of credit shown in Appendix 10.C and should coincide with the bonding coverage period specified in the license condition.

- (e) The letter of credit should, at a minimum, equal the current cost estimates in the approved plan for site closure and stabilization required by license conditions. The initial amount of coverage may be larger than the cost estimate in order to accommodate expected revisions in the estimate as a result of inflation.
- (f) The applicant should submit the letter of credit itself and a separate letter stating the amount of credit applicable to the licensed site. This letter must also include the number of the letter of credit, the name of the insurer, date, license number, name and address of the facility, and the amount of funds assured.
- (g) The letter of credit should specify an expiration date and a definite time period during which it is effective.
- (h) Within 60 days after an increase in the cost estimates resulting from inflation or changes in plans, the applicant should either increase the amount of the letter and submit documentation of the increase to the NRC or obtain alternative financial assurance to cover the increase.
- (i) If cost estimates decrease, the applicant may reduce the amount of the letter of credit, following written approval by the NRC. Assurance should be maintained until ownership of or operating responsibility for the facility changes and the new owner or operator has met the applicable financial responsibility requirements in the license.
- (j) The NRC or state is the only party authorized to draw on the letter of credit. If the applicant fulfills its obligations, the NRC will not draw on the letter of credit.
- (k) The letter of credit can be terminated by the applicant when alternative financial assurance has been established and approved, or when the applicant has been released from the license.
- (1) On receiving the NRC's written notice of license termination, the applicant should forward a copy to the institution issuing the letter of credit. The letter of credit can only be terminated on receipt of notification of license termination by the NRC.

## 10.3 Corporate Guarantees

The NRC financial assurance requirements for an applicant may be satisfied by the use of a corporate guarantee, whereby the applicant's parent corporation (corporate parent) passes one of the financial tests based upon its own assets and liabilities and agrees to guarantee the performance of or payment for specified activities in the plan for site closure and stabilization.

A corporate guarantee acceptable to the NRC should specify that the parent corporation has adequate resources to cover the costs of the specified activities. The test used to determine that adequate resources are available are patterned after those developed by EPA for sites permitted under the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. (The EPA staff determined that the tests were stringent

enough so that, even in the event of a rapid deterioration of the corporate parent's financial health, sufficient funds would be available to meet the required obligations of the licensee.)

Use of this instrument necessitates that the NRC completely reevaluate every corporate parent at least annually, even if there has been no change in the cost estimates for the facility.

An acceptable corporate guarantee for the purposes of this chapter should meet the following criteria.

- (a) To qualify for a corporate guarantee, the parent corporation should hold at least 51 percent of the voting stock of the applicant's firm.
- (b) The corporate parent's financial statements should be audited by an independent certified public accountant. If the accountant gives an adverse opinion or a disclaimer of opinion of the financial statements, the parent corporation will not qualify for the financial test. Furthermore, if the accountant gives a qualified opinion of the financial statements, the NRC may disallow the use of the financial test.
- (c) The corporate guarantee financial test requirements may be satisfied by meeting either of two alternative financial tests. Appendix 10.D shows the sample requirements of the two alternative tests. The tests have a number of points in common, but there are two important differences. First, Alternative I requires the corporate guarantor to demonstrate financial soundness by meeting at least two of three financial ratios, while Alternative II allows the corporate guarantor to demonstrate financial soundness with an investment-grade bond rating. Second, Alternative I requires the corporate guarantor to have a large amount of working capital relative to the cost estimates, while Alternative II has no such requirements. Both tests require the corporate parent to have a large amount of tangible net worth and U.S. assets relative to the estimates, and a minimum absolute level of tangible net worth (\$10 million).
- (d) To use the corporate guarantee as a means of satisfying its financial requirements for its facility, the applicant should submit the following documents to the NRC:
  - Chief Financial Officer's Letter, Including Cost Estimates and Data From Audited Financial Statements

The corporate parent should provide the NRC with a letter signed by its chief financial officer. The sample wording should be equivalent to the wording in the sample provided in Appendix 10.D. The letter should specifically state the name of the facility for which financial assurance is being demonstrated by the corporate guarantee. The cost estimates should be provided for the facility operation mentioned in the letter.

## Accountant's Opinion

The applicant should submit to the NRC a copy of the independent certified public accountant's opinion of the parent corporation's

year-end financial statements and footnotes for the latest complete fiscal year. An SEC Form 10Q is acceptable. Additionally, the following SEC reports should be submitted, if applicable: SEC Form 8K and SEC Form 13D. There is no NRC-suggested wording for the accountant's opinion.

#### Special Report

The corporate guarantor should submit to the NRC a special report from an independent certified public accountant that confirms that the financial data contained in the letter from the chief financial officer can be derived from the independently audited year-end financial statements and footnotes for the latest complete fiscal year. In the report, the accountant also should state that no matters came to her/his attention that caused her/him to believe that the information in the chief financial officer's letter should be adjusted. See Appendix 10.D for recommended wording.

#### Corporate Guarantee

An applicant wishing to use the corporate guarantee should also submit to the NRC a written guarantee agreement completed by the corporate parent, using the sample language recommended in Appendix 10.D. This should be submitted along with the chief financial officer's letter completed by the corporate parent and the accountant's opinion and special report completed by the corporate parent. The written guarantee should state that the guarantor meets or exceeds all the requirements of the financial test criteria, including the submittal of the accountant's opinion, the special report, and the letter from the chief financial officer. The written guarantee should specify that if the applicant should fail to perform the required specified activities at the facility, the parent company guarantor must do so, or it must set up a standby trust fund in the amount of the costs estimates for these activities.

- (e) The chief financial officer of the parent corporation should certify in a letter that there are grounds to believe that the applicant meets the criteria of the financial test. The letter should also:
  - specify the facilities to be covered by the test, including NRC license number, name, address, and current cost estimates to be covered by the test
  - · indicate the date on which the required documents will be submitted (within 90 days of the end of the fiscal year)
  - certify that the year-end financial statements of the firm will be audited by an independent certified public accountant
- (f) The applicant should submit revised information annually within 90 days of the close of the corporate guarantor's fiscal year. As with the initial submittal, the revised information should consist of a letter from the chief financial officer, the accountant's opinion, and the special

- report from an independent certified public accountant. If the year-end financial statements indicate that the corporate guarantor is still qualified to use the financial test, but can no longer cover all the costs, the applicant may have to supplement other mechanisms in combination with the corporate guarantor.
- (g) If the NRC at anytime determines that an applicant's corporate guarantor no longer satisfies the financial test criteria for the corporate guarantee, the staff may require a report of financial conditions in addition to the annual reports.
- (h) The parent corporation should comply with 10 CFR 40.41(f) regarding bank-ruptcy notification. Appendix G is the <u>Federal Register</u> notice identifying the terms and conditions as they exist in 10 CFR 40.41(f). Also, if either the company holding the facility license, or the corporate parent is sold or merged, the new parent should meet all the criteria of the financial test or provide alternative assurance.
- (i) A parent corporation wishing to cancel its guarantee of financial assurance should notify the NRC and the applicant by certified mail of its intent to cancel. Actual cancellation should not be allowed for 120 days from the date the notice of cancellation was received by both the applicant and the NRC as evidenced by the return receipts.
- (j) The parent corporation may request approval from the NRC to terminate the corporate guarantee in either of the following two situations:
  - when alternative financial assurance has been substituted
  - when the applicant is released from the applicable financial assurance requirements in its license
- (k) As cost estimates are adjusted for inflation or revised because of changes in plans, the applicant should ensure that the financial test criteria are still satisfied.
- (1) The NRC, on the basis of the corporate parent's financial reports or any other materials, may at any time determine that the corporate parent no longer meets the financial test criteria. If so, the applicant should provide alternative financial assurance within 30 days after receiving notification of this determination.
- (m) The corporate parent's guarantee should be executed by all persons and parties who are bound to it including the corporate parent.
- (n) Two corporate officers of the facility and two officers of the parent guarantor who are authorized to bind the respective organizations should sign the agreements. A copy of such authorization for each person signing should be attached to the corporate guarantee. The corporate seal should be affixed.
- (o) Each party should sign his or her own name, and the legal capacity of each part should stated.

(p) The corporate guarantor should certify and demonstrate that it has full authority under the liws of the State under which it is incorporated and its articles of incorporation and bylaws to enter into this guaranty and that it has full approval from its Board of Directors to enter into this guaranty.

#### 10.4 Assets Held by a Third Party Such as in a State Fund

An applicant may demonstrate financial assurance by depositing assets such as cash, certificates of deposit (CDs), or government securities with a third party, such as the State (where the facility will be located), or in a trust fund.

(a) A cash deposit is a financial method for ensuring closure allowed in 10 CFR 61, whereby funds at least equal to the estimated costs are deposited into a special account that could be held by the appropriate State or Federal governmental authority.

Use of the funds in this account would be restricted to covering the costs of closure and postclosure care in the event of applicant default. If the applicant were to default, the regulatory authority could withdraw the funds from the special account and arrange for the necessary closure work to be completed either by itself or by an independent contractor. If this alternative is used, the staff recommends that a special deposit fund, such as an escrow account, be set up so that it can be controlled by the appropriate governmental authority. An escrow account serves as a receptacle for the deposit of goods or property until the applicant completes closure and postclosure activities in accordance with license requirements.

The use of an escrow account would require that the applicant ensure that the amount established in an escrow fund would be sufficient at all times to pay a fixed amount for closure in the event of applicant default. As with all other financial assurances, the types of investment made would have to be examined on a periodic basis by the appropriate governmental authority to ensure that the funds in the escrow account keep pace with inflation. If the applicant were to default, the State or Federal Government could withdraw the funds and use them to conduct closure activities.

An escrow account should meet the following criteria:

- The escrow agreement should specify that the grantor is the applicant and the depository is a bank or other financial institution. The grantee would be the appropriate governmental authority.
- The contract for the escrow account between the applicant and the governmental authority should specify that, on a determination by the Commission of failure by the applicant to satisfactorily perform closure and postclosure activities, the amount in escrow would pass to the grantee. Funds would then be withdrawn for completing all of the activities specified in the plan for site closure and stabilization.

- The escrow agreement also should provide that, on certification of proper closure by the Commission, the escrow account would be terminated and returned to the applicant.
- (b) CDs are another financial assurance mechanism allowed in the financial protection regulations of 10 CFR Part 61. CDs may be issued by any bank. Cash or securities are deposited by the applicant with the bank, and a CD is issued made payable to a government agency. Only the government agency can convert the certificate into funds if the applicant is unable to complete the specified activities. This financial protection mechanism should be for limited time periods (i.e., 1 to 5 years) so that the face value can be adjusted for inflation. At the conclusion of site operations, if the applicant satisfactorily closed the site, the government agency would return the CD to the applicant.
- (c) Government securities that have a current market value at least equal to the highest cost of closure and the site are another acceptable financial assurance mechanism. The applicant should deposit these securities with the appropriate government agency. Theoretically, the securities could be of several different kinds, including long-term U.S. bonds, municipal bonds, or corporate securities.

An applicant wishing to use a deposit of securities as a financial assurance to meet the requirements of 10 CFR 61.62 should have the types of securities and their method for transfer to the appropriate governmental authority approved during the licensing process. The applicant should then transfer the securities to the appropriate regulatory agency before the site becomes operational. Until the staff establishes further guidance on this mechanism, it will evaluate such a mechanism on a case-by-case basis.

## 10.5 Trusts and Standby Trusts

An applicant wishing to use a letter of credit or surety bond should also establish a standby trust fund. The purpose of this standby trust fund is to receive any funds that would be paid by the surety company or the bank issuing the letter of credit. The institution issuing a letter of credit or surety bond would have to deposit into the standby trust fund any drawings by the NRC on the letter of credit or surety bond. Additionally, trusts can also be used by themselves to meet the financial requirements of the applicant.

A trust is a three-party agreement whereby one party, called the grantor (sometimes also called the trustor), transfers some assets to a second party, called the trustee, to hold on behalf of a third party, called the beneficiary. The entire arrangement is governed by a trust agreement that sits out the responsibilities and rights of each party. The applicant is the grantor, a bank or other entity is the trustee, and the NRC (or the State where the facility will be located) is the beneficiary. The applicant, as grantor, deposits assets into the trust fund, which is held in trust by the trustee. The funds are then available, if necessary, to pay for the printed specified activities.

The trustee is empowered to invest the funds during the existence of the trust. The i ments that the trustee may make may be limited by State law. Any

investment income accrues to the trust, and reduces the amount the applicant must put into it. The applicant usually pays a fee for the trust services provided.

An acceptable trust and standby trust for the purposes of this chapter should comply with the following criteria:

- (a) A trustee should be an entity that has the authority to act as trustee and whose trust operations are regulated and examined by a Federal or State agency.
- (b) The wording of the trust language should be irrevocable; that is, it cannot be changed or terminated by the applicant except with the written agreement of the trustee and the beneficiary.
- (c) The trust should contain at all times sufficient assets to complete the specified activities. The applicant remains responsible at all times for the full amount necessary.
- (d) Sample trust and standby trust documents are shown in Appendix 10.E and 10.F respectively. The trust should be revised within 60 days after each revision in cost estimates, either because of adjustments due to inflation or because new cost estimates have been approved.
- (e) The trust agreement should be signed by both the applicant and the trustee. It must also identify the facility and the cust estimates, as well as the property used to establish the trust fund.
- (f) A trust fund can contain more than interest-bearing cash deposits. Property, such as securities or government notes, can be placed in trusts. If other types of assets are allowed, the trustee should agree to pay the governmental authority a stipulated cash amount. If assets other than cash are deposited into the trust fund, it may be necessary for the trustee to buy and sell securities with the approval of the governmental authority or to take other steps to manage the assets in order to maximize their value. However, unless specified under the terms of the trust, a trustee should invest under a "reasonably prudent" investor standard as defined by statute or case law of the jurisdiction where the trust is lucated.
- (g) The NRC staff will consider any individual or organization for the position of trustee in addition to financial institutions, who can succeed in obtaining insurance for the position. (This type of insurance is currently available and is commonly obtained by banks and other financial institutions.)
- (h) The terms of the trust should define the investment responsibilities of the bank.
- (i) The trustee should have possession of the property or fund placed in trust by the party who created the trust. The trustee should have legal interest in the funds, since it has control over it, can sue to protect it, and is responsible for its preservation.

- (j) The trustee should be under a fiduciary duty to comply with the terms of this trust and, unless the trust provides otherwise, is liable for breaches of this duty.
- (k) The trustee is allowed to invest in time or demand deposits of the trustee institution, up to the amount insured by law. The trustee is also permitted to put trust fund assets into any appropriate, common, commingled, or collective trust fund created by the trustee, in other words, a common trust.
- (1) Once the trust fund is established, the applicant should make additional necessary payments into the trust fund so that sufficient funds are available to reflect any changes in the cost estimates.
- (m) The trust agreement should contain language requiring the trustee to submit to the applicant and the NRC a statement of the valuation of the assets in the trust fund, detailing the results of investment activity and the expenses levied against the fund. Securities in the trust fund should be valued at their marked value no more than 60 days before the anniversary date of the fund. The applicant may object, in writing, to the trustee's investment activities or to expenses levied against the trust fund within 90 days of receiving the valuation statement. If objections do exist, the applicant is still obligated to deposit the necessary funds into the trust to ensure that the amount available is equal to the cost estimates in the approved plan for site closure and stabilization.
- (r) Irrangement for a new trustee or other financial assurance should be made by the applicant within 60 days before expiration of the existing trust agreement.
- (o) If the applicant sells or transfers operating responsibility for the facility for which the trust fund provides financial assurance, the trust fund will not automatically transfer to the next owner. The NRC would have to approve a new financial assurance through the license for the facility. The new applicant could enter into an agreement with the old applicant by which the trust fund is transferred to the new owner. This, however, would require amendments to the trust agreement that should be approved by the trustee and the NRC.
- (p) The applicant should alert the trustee that the trustee is responsible for annual valuations of the trust, for notifying the NRC if the applicant fails to make payment when directed to do so by the Commission, and for making payments out of the trust fund at the direction of the NRC.
- (q) A change in trustee does not affect the existence of the trust itself. The trustee may be changed if the applicant is dissatisfied with the performance of the trustee or if the trustee resigns; the trustee should be changed if the trustee institution enters into bankruptcy or ceases to meet the trustee qualifications. Either way, the trustee can be changed only on agreement by the applicant, the trustee, and the NRC.
- (r) The trust agreement should be signed by the applicant and the trustee and should be properly notarized.

(s) The amount of coverage should be based on the cost estimates in the plan for site closure and stabilization.

#### 10.6 Other Financial Assurances

The NRC staff considers the previously described financial assurances to be common, standardized financial mechanisms that would adequately provide financial security for the purposes of this chapter. Additionally, the staff will consider other financial assurances on a case-by-case basis, if the applicant can demonstrate that the method provides an adequate degree of security and also meets the general criteria mentioned earlier. A combination of the financial assurances discussed above may be proposed by the applicant. However, combinations would have to be approved by the NRC.

#### 10.7 Adjustments to Surety Amounts

The applicant should modify its cost estimates annually to account for inflation and changes in plans.

#### (a) Adjustments for Inflation

- The applicant should adjust the cost estimates for inflation within 30 days after each anniversary of the date on which the first cost estimate was prepared. The adjustment should be made using the inflation factor derived from the annual Implicit Price Deflator for Gross National Product as published by the U.S. Department of Commerce in its <u>Survey of Current Business</u>. The inflation factor is the result of dividing the latest published annual deflator by the deflator for the previous year.
- The first adjustment should be made by multiplying the cost estimates by the inflation factor, giving the adjusted cost estimate. Subsequent adjustments should be made by multiplying the latest adjusted closure cost estimate by the latest inflation factor.
- The staff suggests a two-step adjustment procedure because of an inherent time delay (of 9 to 18 months) that exists in the publication of a historical annual Implicit Price Deflator for Gross National Product (AIPD-GNP) by the U.S. Department of Commerce. The procedure will use both the latest published historical figure for AIPD-GNP as well as the latest forecast of AIPD-GNP.

## (b) Changes in Plans

- changes in the process such as size or method of operation
- · applicant-initiated changes in plans
- · adjustments to plans required by the NRC

#### APPENDIX 10.A\*

#### RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR PERFORMANCE BOND

<sup>\*</sup>Financial assurance guidance continues to be under active review and development (i.e., standby trust and recommended wording for mechanisms) by the NRC staff and future revisions are anticipated to the materials presented here.

The staff requests comment on the financial assurance guidance and will consider such comments in future revisions.

#### RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR PERFORMANCE BOND

ite bond executed:
fective date:
rincipal: [legal name and business address of owner or operator]
pe of organization: [insert "individual," "joint venture," "partnership, "corporation"]
ate of incorporation:
rety(ies): [name(s) and business address(es)]
C license number, name, address, and amount(s) for each activity aranteed by this bond:
tal penal sum of bond: \$
rety's bond number:

Know All Persons By These Present, That we, the Principal and Surety(ies) hereto, are firmly bound to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (hereinafter called NRC), in the above penal sum for the payment of which we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns jointly and severally; provided that, where the Sureties are corporations acting as co-sureties, we, the Sureties, bind ourselves in such sum "jointly and severally" only for the purpose of allowing a joint action or actions against any or all of us, and for all other purposes each Surety binds itself, jointly and severally with the Principal, for the payment of such sum only as is set forth opposite the name of such Surety; but if no limit of liability is indicated, the limit of liability shall be the full amount of the penal sum.

WHEREAS, the NRC, an agency of the U.S. Government, pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, and the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, has promulgated regulations in Title 10, Chapter I of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 61, Subpart E, which, applicable to the Grantor, require that an applicant of the facility provide assurance that funds will be available when needed in accordance with the approved Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization; and

WHEREAS, said Principal is required, under these regulations, to have a license in order to own or operate the facility(ies) identified above; and

WHEREAS, said Principal is required to provide financial assurance for activities in the Plan as a condition of the license; and

WHEREAS, said Principal shall establish a standby trust fund as is required when a surety bond is used to provide such financial assurance:

NOW, THEREFORE, the conditions of the obligation are such that if the Principal shall faithfully perform the activities for which this bond guarantees, in accordance with license conditions, pursuant to all applicable laws, statutes, rules, and regulations, as such laws, statutes, rules, and regulations may be amended;

And, if the Principal shall faithfully perform the activities in accordance with license conditions, pursuant to all applicable laws, statutes, rules, and regulations, as such laws, statutes, rules, and regulations may be amended;

Or, if the Principal shall provide alternative financial assurance, and obtain the NRC's written approval of such assurance, within 90 days after the date the notice of cancellation is received by both the Principal and the NRC from the Surety(ies), then this obligation shall be null and void; otherwise it is to remain in full force and effect.

The Surety(ies) shall become liable on this bond obligation only when the Principal has failed to fulfill the conditions described above.

Upon notification by the NRC that the Principal has been found in violation of the license conditions of 10 CFR 61, Subpart E, for which this bond guarantees performance of certain activities, the Surety(ies) or its (their) agents shall either perform in accordance with licensing, or place the amount guaranteed for the facility(ies) into the standby trust fund as directed by the NRC.

Upon notification by the NRC that the Principal has failed to provide alternative financial assurance as specified in License Condition No.

and obtain written approval of such assurance from the NRC during the 90 days following receipt by both the Principal and the NRC of a notice of cancellation of the bond, the Surety(ies) shall place funds in the amount guaranteed for the facility(ies) into the standby trust fund as directed by the NRC.

The Surety(ies) hereby waive(s) notification of amendments to site closure and stabilization plans, permits, applicable laws, statutes, rules, and regulations and agree(s) that no such amendment shall in any way alleviate its (their) obligation on this bond.

The liability of the Surety(ies) shall not be discharged by any payment or succession of payments hereunder, unless and until such payment or payments shall amount in the aggregate to the penal sum of the bond, but in no event shall the obligation of the Surety(ies) hereunder exceed the amount of said penal sum.

The Surety(ies) may cancel the bond by sending notice of cancellation by certified mail to the licensee and to the NRC, provided, however, that cancellation shall not occur during the 120 days beginning on the date of receipt of the notice of cancellation by both the Principal and the NRC, as evidenced by the return receipts.

The Principal may terminate this bond by sending written notice to the Surety(ies), provided, however, that no such notice shall become effective

until the Surety(ies) receive(s) written authorization for termination of the bond by the NRC in which the bonded facility(ies) is (are) located.

[The following paragraph is an optional rider that may be included but is not required.]

The Principal and Surety(ies) hereby agree to adjust the penal sum of the bond yearly so that it guarantees a new amount, provided that the penal sum does not increase by more than 20 percent in any one year, and no decrease in the penal sum takes place without the written permission of the NRC.

In Witness Whereof, the Principal and Surety(ies) have executed this performance bond and have affixed their seals on the date set forth above.

The persons whose signatures appear below hereby cartify that they are authorized to execute this surety bond on behalf of the Principal and Surety(ies).

Principal
[Signature(s)]
[Name(s)]
[Title(s)]
[Corporate seal]
Corporate Surety(ies)
[Name and address]
State of incorporation:
Liability limit: \$
[Signature(s)]
[Name(s) and title(s)]
[Corporate seal]
[For every co-surety, provide signature(s), corporate seal, and other information in the same manner as for Surety(ies) above.]
Bond premium: \$

# APPENDIX 10.B RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE BOND

#### RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR FINANCIAL GUARANTEE BOND

te bond executed:	
fective date:	
incipal: [legal name and business address of owner or operator]	
pe of organization: [insert "individual," "joint venture," "partnership "corporation"]	, 11
ate of incorporation:	
rety(ies) [name(s) and business address(es)]	
C license number, name, address, and amount(s) for each activity aranteed by this bond:	
tal penal sum of bond: \$	
rety's bond number:	

Know All Persons By These Present, That we, the Principal and Surety(ies) hereto, are firmly bound to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (hereinafter called NRC), in the above penal sum for the payment of which we bind ourselves, our heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns jointly and severally; provided that, where the Sureties are corporations acting as co-sureties, we, the Sureties, bind ourselves in such sum "jointly and severally" only for the purpose of allowing a joint action or actions against any or all of us, and for all other purposes each Surety binds itself, jointly and severally with the Principal, for the payment of such sum only as is set forth opposite the name of such Surety; but if no limit of liability is indicated, the limit of liability shall be the full amount of the penal sum.

WHEREAS, the NRC, an agency of the U.S Government, pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, and the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, has promulgated regulations in Title 10, Chapter I of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 61, Subpart E, which, applicable to the Principal, require that an applicant of the facility provide assurance that funds will be available when needed in accordance with the approved Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization;

NOW, THEREFORE, the conditions of the obligation are such that if the Principal shall faithfully, before the beginning of site closure and stabilization of each facility identified above, fund the standby trust fund in the amount(s) identified above for the facility;

Or, if the Principal shall fund the standby trust fund in such amount(s) after an order to begin site closure and stabilization is issued by an NRC or a U.S. district court or other court of competent jurisdiction;

Or, if the Principal shall provide alternative financial assurance, and obtain the NRC's written approval of such assurance, within 60 days after

the date the notice of cancellation is received by both the Principal and the NRC from the Surety(ies), then this obligation shall be null and void; otherwise it is to remain in full force and effect.

The Surety(ies) shall become liable on this bond obligation only when the Principal has failed to fulfill the conditions described above. Upon notification by the NRC that the Principal has failed to perform as guaranteed by this bond, the Surety(ies) shall place funds in the amount guaranteed for the facility(ies) into the standby trust fund as directed by the NRC.

The liability of the Surety(ies) shall not be discharged by any payment or succession of payments hereunder, unless and until such payment or payments shall amount in the aggregate to the penal sum of the bond, but in no event shall the obligation of the Surety(ies) hereunder exceed the amount of said penal sum.

The Surety(ies) may cancel the bond by sending notice of cancellation by certified mail to the Principal and to the NRC provided, however, that cancellation shall not occur during the 90 days beginning on the date of receipt of the notice of cancellation by both the Principal and the NRC, as evidenced by the return receipts.

The Principal may terminate this bond by sending written notice to the Surety(ies), provided, however, that no such notice shall become effective until the Surety(ies) receive(s) written authorization for termination of the bond by the NRC.

[The following paragraph is an optional rider that may be included but is not required.]

The Principal and Surety(ies) hereby agree to adjust the penal sum of the bond yearly so that it guarantees a new amount, provided that the penal sum does not increase by more than 20 percent in any one year, and no decrease in the penal sum takes place without the written permission of the NRC.

In Witness Whereof, the Principal and Surety(ies) have executed this financial guarantee bond and have affixed their seals on the date set forth above.

The persons whose signatures appear below hereby certify that they are authorized to execute this surety bond on behalf of the Principal and Surety(ies).

Principal

[Signature(s)]

[Name(s)]

[Title(s)]

[Corporate seal]

Corporate Surety(ies)
[Name and address]
State of incorporation:
Liability limit: \$
[Signature(s)]
[Name(s) and title(s)]
[Corporate seal]
[For every co-surety, provide signature(s), corporate seal, and other information in the same manner as for Surety(ies) above.]
Bond premium: \$

#### APPENDIX 10.C

RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT

#### RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT

#### IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT NO. [insert no.]

This Credit Expires [insert date]

Issued To:

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

Washington, DC 20555

Dear Sir or Madam:

We hereby establish our Irrevocable Standby Letter of Credit No. your favor, at the request and for the account of [applicant's name and address] up to the aggregate amount of [in words], U.S. dollars \$ available upon presentation of

- (1) your sight draft, bearing reference to this Letter of Credit No. , and
- (2) your signed statement reading as follows: "I certify that the amount of the draft is payable pursuant to regulations issued under authority of

This letter of credit is issued in accordance with regulations issued under the authority of the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), an agency of the U.S. Government, pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended. and the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974. The NRC has promulgated regulations in Title 10, Chapter I of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 61, Subpart E, which require that an applicant of the facility provide assurance that funds will be available when needed in accordance with the approved Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization.

This letter of credit is effective as of [date] and shall expire on [date at least 1 year later], but such expiration date shall be automatically extended for a period of [at least 1 year] on [date] and on each successive expiration date, unless, at least 90 days before the current expiration date, we notify both you and [licensee's name], as shown on the signed return receipts. The bank shall give immediate notice to the applicant and the NRC of any notice received or action filed alleging (1) the insolvency or bankruptcy of the bank or (2) any violations of regulatory requirements that could result in suspension or revocation of the bank's charter or license to do business. It also shall give immediate notice if it, for any reason, becomes unable to fulfill its obligation under the letter of credit.

Whenever this letter of credit is drawn on under and in compliance with the terms of this letter of credit, we shall duly honor such draft upon its presentation to us within 30 days, and we shall deposit the amount of the draft directly into the standby trust fund of [licensee's name] in accordance with your instructions.

Each draft must bear on its face the clause: "Drawn under Letter of Credit No. \_\_\_\_\_, dated \_\_\_\_\_, and the total of this draft and all

other drafts previously drawn under this letter of credit does not exceed [fill in amount]."

[Signature(s) and title(s) of official(s) of issuing institution]

[Date]

This credit is subject to [insert "the most recent edition of the <u>Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits</u>, published by the International Chamber of Commerce," or "the Uniform Commercial Code"].

#### APPENDIX 10.D

RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR DOCUMENTS
RECOMMENDED TO SUPPORT CORPORATE GUARANTEE

RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR LETTER FROM CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF CORPORATE PARENT, INCLUDING COST ESTIMATES AND DATA FROM AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Address to U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission)

I am the chief financial officer of [name and address of firm], a [insert "individual," "joint venture," "partnership," or "corporation"]. This letter is in support of this firm's use of the financial test to demonstrate financial assurance, as specified in 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E.

[Complete the following paragraph regarding facility(ies) and associated cost estimates. For each facility, include its license number, name, address, and current cost estimates for the specified activities.]

This firm guarantees, through the parent company guarantee submitted to demonstrate compliance under 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E, the site closure and stabilization of the following facility(ies) owned or operated by subsidiary(ies) of this firm. The current cost estimates for site closure and stabilization, so guaranteed, are shown for each facility:

Name of Facility

Current Cost Estimates

This firm [insert "is required" or "is not required"] to file a Form 10K with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission for the latest fiscal year.

This fiscal year of this firm ends on [month, day]. The figures for the following items marked with an asterisk are derived from this firm's independently audited, year-end financial statements and footnotes for the latest completed fiscal year, ended [date].

[Insert completed Alternative I or Alternative II.]

I hereby certify that the wording of this letter is true and correct to the best of  $my\ knowledge$ .

[Signature]

[Name]

[Title]

[Date]

### ALTERNATIVE I

1.	Sum of current site closure and stabilization cost estimates for facility [insert license number] (total of <u>all</u> cost estimates shown in paragraphs above)	s	
*2.	Total liabilities (if any portion of the cost estimates for decontamination, reclamation, stabilization, or long-term care is included in total liabilities on your firm's financial statement, deduct the amount of that portion from this line and add that amount to lines 3		
	and 4)	\$	
*3.	Tangible net worth	\$	
*4.	Net worth	\$	
*5.	Current assets	\$	4-1-11
*6.	Current liabilities	\$	
<b>*</b> 7.	Net working capital (line 5 minus line 6)	\$	
*8.	The sum of net income plus depreciation, depletion, and amortization	\$	
*9.	Total assets in United States (required only if less than 90 percent of firm's assets are located in the United States)	\$	
		Yes	No
10.	Is line 3 at least \$10 million?		
11.	Is line 3 at least 6 times line 1?		
12.	Is line 7 at least 6 times line 1?		
13.	Are at least 90 percent of firm's assets located in the United States? If not, complete line 14.		
14.	Is line 9 at least 6 times line 1?		
15.	Is line 2 divided by line 4 less than 2.0?		
16.	Is line 3 divided by line 2 greater than 0.1?		WHITE SERVICE
17.	Is line 5 divided by line 1 greater than 1.5?		-
	Tribad by fine a greater than 1.3!	-	-

<sup>\*</sup>Denotes figures derived from financial statements.

## ALTERNATIVE II

1.	Sum of current site closure and stabilization cost estimates for facility [insert license number] (total of <u>all</u> cost estimates shown in paragraphs above)	\$	
2.	Current bond rating of most recent issuance of this firm and name of rating service	\$	
3.	Date of issuance of bond	\$	
4.	Date of maturity of bond	\$	
*5.	Tangible net worth (if any portion of estimates for the site closure and stabilization is included in total liabilities on your firm's financial statements, add the amount of that portion to this line).	\$	
*6.	Total assets in United States (required only if less than 90 percent of firm's assets are located in the Unites States)	\$	
		Yes	No
7.	Is line 5 at least \$10 million?		
8.	Is line 5 at lest 6 times line 1?		
*9.	Are at least 90 percent of firm's assets located in the United States? If not, complete line 10.		
10.	Is line 6 at least 6 times line 1?		

<sup>\*</sup>Denotes figures derived from financial statements.

I hereby certify that the wording of this letter is true and correct to the best of  ${\rm my\ knowledge}.$ 

[Signature]

[Name]

[Title]

[Date]

## SAMPLE OF AUDITOR'S SPECIAL REPORT BY CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT CONFIRMATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER'S LETTER

We have examined the financial statements of [company name] for the year ended [date], and have issued our report thereon dated [date]. Our examination was made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and, accordingly, included such tests of the accounting records and such other auditing procedures as we considered necessary.

The [company name] has prepared documents to demonstrate its financial responsibility under the NRC's financial assurance regulations, 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E. This letter is furnished to assist the licensee [insert NRC license number and name] in complying with these regulations and should not be used for other purposes.

The attached schedule reconciles the specified information furnished in the chief financial officer's (CFO's) letter in response to the regulations with the company's financial statements. In connection therewith, we have

- 1. agreed the amounts in the column "Per Financial Statements" with amounts contained in the company's financial statements for the year ended [date]
- 2. agreed the amount in the column "Per GEO's Letter" to the letter prepared in response to the NRC's request
- agreed the amounts in the column "Reconciling Items" to analyses prepared by the company setting forth the indicated items
- 4. recomputed the Lotal's and percentages

Because the above procedures do not constitute an examination made in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we do not express an opinion on any amounts or items referred to above. In connection with the procedures referred to above, no matters came to the attention that cause us to believe the schedule should be adjusted.

## SAMPLE SCHEDULE RECONCILING AMOUNTS CONTAINED IN CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER'S LETTER TO AMOUNTS IN FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

#### XYZ COMPANY

#### YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 19X1

Line Number in CFO's Letter		Per Financial Statements	Recon- ciling Items	Per CFO's Letter
2	Total current liabilities Long-term debt Deferred income taxes	X X X XX		
	Accrued site closure and stabilization costs included in current liabilities	XX	X	
	Total liabilities (less accrued site closure and stabilization costs)			X
3	Net worth Less: Cost in excess of of value of tangible assets	XX		
	acquired	$\frac{X}{XX}$		
	Accrued site closure and stabilization costs included in current liabilities		X	
	Tangible new worth (plus accrued site closure and stabilization costs)			XX

(Balance of schedule is not illustrated.)

This illustrates the form of schedule that is contemplated. Details and reconciling items will differ in specific situations.

#### RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEE

Guarantee made this [date] by [name of guaranteeing entity], a [insert "individual," "joint venture," "partnership," or "corporation"] organized under the laws of the State of [insert name of State], herein referred to as "guarantor," to the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), or State agency found acceptable to the NRC, [insert name of State agency], obligee, on behalf of our subsidiary [licensee] of [business address].

#### Recitals

- 1. The guarantor has full authority and capacity to enter into this guarantee [If guarantor is a corporation, add the following phrase "under its bylaws, articles of incorporation, and the laws of the State of [insert guarantor's state of incorporation], its State of incorporation."] [If the guarantor has a Board of Directors, insert the following: "Guarantor has approval from its Board of Directors to enter into this guarantee."]
- 2. This guarantee is being issued to comply with regulations issued by the NRC, an agency of the U.S. Government, pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, and the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974. NRC has promulgated regulations in Title 10, Chapter I of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 61, Subpart E, which require that an applicant of the facility provide assurance that funds will be available when needed in accordance with the approved Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization.
- 3. The guarantor meets or exceeds the following financial test criteria [insert statement indicating which financial test is being used] and agrees to comply with all notification requirements for sureties as specified in 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E.

The guarantor shall meet one of the following two financial tests:

- (a) (i) The guarantor's most recently issued senior credit obligations are "BBB" or higher as rated by Standard and Poor's Corporation, or "Baa" or higher as rated by Moody's Investors Service, Inc.; and
  - (ii) The guarantor's tangible net worth is at least \$10 million and is equal to or greater than six times the sum of the current cost estimates for site closure and stability required by the license; and
  - (iii) The guarantor's assets located in the United States amount to at least 90 percent of its total assets or at least six times the amount of the current cost estimates for site closure and stabilization required by the license.

or

- (b) (i) The guarantor's tangible net worth and net working capital are each equal to or greater than six times the sum of the current cost estimates for site closure and stabilization required by the license; and
  - (ii) The guarantor's assets located in the United States amount to at least 90 percent of its total assets or at least six times the amount of the current cost estimates for site closure and stabilization required by the license; and
  - (iii) The guarantor meets two of the following three ratios: a ratio of total liabilities to net worth that is less than 2.0; a ratio of the sum of net income plus depreciation, depletion, and amortization to total liabilities that is greater than 0.1; and a ratio of current assets to current liabilities that is greater than 1.5; and
  - (iv) The guarantor's tangible net worth is at least \$10 million.
- 4. The guarantor owns 51 percent or more of the voting stock of the following licensee(s) covered by this guarantee. [List for each licensee: name, address, the facility(ies) owned or operated by each licensee, and the corresponding license number(s).]
- Plans for "Site Closure and Stabilization" as used below refers to the plans maintained as required by 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E, for site closure and stabilization of facility(ies) identified above.
- 6. For value received from [licensees], [If the guarantor is a corporation, add "and pursuant to the authority conferred upon the guarantor by ("the unanimous resolution of its directors" or "the majority vote if its shareholders"), a certified copy of which is attached,"] the guarantor guarantees to the NRC that if the licensee fails to perform the activities required in the NRC-approved Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization, as required by License No. [insert license number], the guarantor shall
  - (a) carry out the required activities, or
  - (b) set up a trust fund in favor of the above identified beneficiary in the amount of these current cost estimates for these activities, and

[If a State is the named beneficiary, the guarantee documentation should include written verification from the State agreeing to use the trust funds to carry out the required activities described in the NRC-approved Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization for the named facility(ies).]

7. The guarantor agrees to submit revised financial statements, financial test data, and a special auditor's report and reconciling schedule annually within 90 days of the close of the parent guarantor's fiscal year.

- 8. The guarantor agrees that if, at the end of any fiscal year before termination of this guarantee, it fails to meet the financial test criteria, it shall send within 60 days, by certified mail, notice to the NRC and to [licensee] that it intends to provide alternative financial assurance as specified in 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E, in the name of [licensee]. Within 90 days after the end of the fiscal year, the guarantor shall establish such financial assurance unless [licensee] has done so.
- 9. The guarantor also agrees to notify the beneficiary promptly if the ownership of the licensee or the parent firm is transferred and to maintain this guarantee until the new parent firm or the licensee provides alternative financial assurance acceptable to the beneficiary.
- 10. The guarantor agrees to notify the NRC, by certified mail, of a voluntary or involuntary proceeding under Title 11 ("Bankruptcy") of the U.S. Code naming the guarantor as debtor, within 10 days after commencement of the proceeding.
- 11. The guarantor agrees that within 30 days after being notified by the NRC of a determination that it no longer meets the financial test criteria or that it is disallowed from continuing as a guarantor for the facility under License No. [insert license number], it shall establish an alternative financial assurance as specified in 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E, as applicable, in the name of [licensee] unless [licensee] has done so.
- 12. The guarantor agrees to remain bound under this guarantee notwithstanding any or all of the following: amendment or modification of license or NRC-approved Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization for that facility, the extension or reduction of the time of performance of required activities, or any other modification or alteration of an obligation of the licensee pursuant to 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E.
- 13. The guarantor agrees to remain bound under this guarantee for as long as [licensee] must comply with the applicable financial assurance requirements of 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E, for the previously listed facility(ies), except that the guarantor may cancel this guarantee by sending notice by certified mail to the NRC and to [licensee], such cancellation to become effective no earlier than 90 days after receipt of such notice by both the NRC and [licensee] as evidenced by the return receipts.
- 14. The guarantor agrees that if [licensee] fails to provide alternative financial assurance as specified in 10 CFR Part 61, Subpart E, as applicable, and obtain written approval of such assurance from the NRC within 60 days after a notice of cancellation by the guarantor is received by the NRC from the guarantor, the guarantor shall provide such alternative financial assurance in the name of [licensee].
- 15. The guarantee expressly waives notice of acceptance of this guarantee by the NRC or by [licensee]. The guarantor also expressly waives notice of amendments or modifications of the Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization and of amendments or modifications of the license.

16. If the guarantor files financial reports with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, then it shall promptly submit them to the NRC during the year in which this guarantee is in effect.
I hereby certify that this guarantee is true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Effective date:

[Name of guarantor]

[Authorized signature for guarantor]

[Name of person signing]

[Title of person signing]

Signature of witness or notary:

# APPENDIX 10.E RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR TRUST FUND AGREEMENT

#### RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR TRUST FUND AGREEMENT

TRUST AGREEMENT, the Agreement entered into as of [date] by and between [name of NRC licensee], a [name of State] [insert "corporation," "partnership," "association," or "proprietorship"], the "Grantor," and [name of corporate trustee], [insert "incorporated in the State of \_\_\_\_\_\_ or "a national bank"], herein referred to as the "Trustee."

WHEREAS, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), an agency of the U.S. Government, pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, and the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, has promulgated regulations in Title 10, Chapter I of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 61, Subpart E. These regulations, applicable to the Grantor, require that an applicant of the facility provide assurance that funds will be available when needed in accordance with the approved Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization of the facility.

WHEREAS, the Grantor, has elected to establish a trust to provide all or part of such financial assurance for the facilities identified herein; and

WHEREAS, the Grantor, acting through its duly authorized officers, has selected the Trustee to be the trustee under this agreement, and the Trustee is willing to act as trustee,

NOW, THEREFORE, the Grantor and the Trustee agree as follows:

Section 1. Definitions. As used in this Agreement:

- (a) The term "Grantor" means the NRC licensee who enters into this Agreement and any successors or assigns of the Grantor.
- (b) The term "Trustee" means the Trustee who enters into this Agreement and any successor Trustee.

Section 2. Identification of Facilities and Cost Estimates. This Agreement pertains to the facilities and cost estimates identified in License Number [insert license number] and shown in Schedule A. [On Schedule A, for each facility, list the NRC license number, name, address, and the current site closure and stabilization estimates or portions thereof, for which financial assurance is demonstrated by this Agreement.]

Section 3. Establishment of Fund. The Grantor and the Trustee hereby establish a trust fund (the Fund) for the benefit of the NRC. The Grantor and the Trustee intend that no third party have access to the Fund except as provided herein. The Fund is established initially as consisting of the property, which is acceptable to be Trustee, described in Schedule B attached hereto. Such property and any other property subsequently transferred to the Trustee are referred to as "the Fund," together with all earnings and profits thereon, less any payments or distributions made by the Trustee pursuant to this Agreement. The Fund shall be held by the Trustee, IN TRUST, as hereinafter provided. The Trustee shall not be responsible nor shall it undertake any responsibility for the amount of adequacy of, nor any duty to collect from the Grantor, any payments necessary to discharge any liabilities of the Grantor established by the NRC.

Section 4. Payment for Required Activities Specified in the Plan. The Trustee shall make payments from the Fund as the NRC shall direct, in writing, to provide for the payment of the costs of required activities covered by this Agreement. The Trustee shall reimburse the Grantor or other persons as specified by the NRC from the Fund for expenditures for required activities in such amounts as the NRC shall direct in writing. In addition, the Trustee shall refund to the Grantor such amounts as the NRC specifies in writing. Upon refund, such funds shall no longer constitute part of the Fund as defined herein.

Section 5. Payments Constituting the Fund. Payments made to the Trustee for the Fund shall consist of cash or securities acceptable to the Trustee.

Section 6. Trustee Management. The Trustee shall invest and reinvest the principal and income of the Fund and keep the Fund invested as a single fund, without distinction between principal and income, in accordance with general investment policies and guidelines which the grantor may communicate in writing to the Trustee from time to time, subject, however, to the provisions of this section. In investing, reinvesting, exchanging, selling, and managing the Fund, the Trustee shall discharge its duties with respect to the Fund solely in the interest of the beneficiary and with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing which persons of prudence, acting in alike capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims; except that:

- (a) Securities or other obligations of the Grantor, or any other owner or operator of the facilities, or any of their affiliates as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (15 U.S.C. 80a-2 (a)), shall not be acquired or held, unless they are securities or other obligations of the Federal or a State government;
- (b) The Trustee is authorized to invest the Fund in time or demand deposits of the Trustee, to the extent insured by an agency of the Federal or State government; and
- (c) The Trustee is authorized to hold cash awaiting investment or distribution uninvested for a reasonable time and without liability for the payment of interest thereon.

Section 7. Commingling and Investment. The Trustee is expressly authorized in its discretion

- (a) To transfer from time to time of any or all of the assets of the Fund to any common, commingled, or collective trust fund created by the Trustee in which the Fund is eligible to participate, subject to all of the provisions thereof, to be commingled with the assets of other trusts participating therein; and
- (b) To purchase shares in any investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-1 et seq.), including one that may be created, managed, underwritten, or to which investment advice is rendered, or the shares of which are sold by the Trustee. The Trustee may vote such shares in its discretion.

Section 8. Express Powers of Trustee. Without in any way limiting the powers and discretions conferred on the Trustee by the other provisions of this Agreement or by law, the Trustee is expressly authorized and empowered:

- (a) To sell, exchange, convey, transfer, or otherwise dispose of any property held by it, by public or private sale. No person dealing with the Trustee shall be bound to see to the application of the purchase money or to inquire into the validity or expediency of any such sale or other disposition;
- (b) To make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any and all documents of transfer and conveyance and any and all other instruments that may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the powers herein granted;
- (c) To register any securities held in the Fund in its own name or in the name of a nominee and to hold any security in bearer form or in book entry, or to combine certificates representing such securities with certificates of the same issue held by the Trustee in other fiduciary capacities, or to deposit or arrange for the deposit of such securities in a qualified central depository, even though, when so deposited, such securities may be merged and held in bulk in the name of the nominee of such depository with other securities deposited therein by another person, or to deposit or arrange for the deposit of any securities issued by the U.S. Government, or any agency or instrumentality thereof, with a Federal Reserve bank, but the books and records of the Trustee shall at all times show that all such securities are part of the Fund.
- (d) To deposit any cash in the Fund in interest-bearing accounts maintained or savings certificates issued by the Trustee, in its separate corporate capacity, or in any banking institution affiliated with the Trustee, to the extent insured by an agency of the Federal or State government; and
- (e) To compromise or otherwise adjust all claims in favor of or against the Fund.

Section 9. Taxes and Expenses. All taxes of any kind that may be assessed or levied against or in respect of the Fund and all brokerage commissions incurred by the Fund shall be paid from the Fund. All other expenses incurred by the Trustee in connection with the administration of this Trust, including fees for legal services rendered to the Trustee, the compensation of the Trustee to the extent not paid directly by the Grantor, and all other proper charges and disbursements of the Trustee shall be paid from the Fund.

Section 10. Annual Valuation. The Trustee shall annually, at least 30 days before the anniversary date of establishment of the Fund, furnish to the Grantor and to the NRC a statement confirming the value of the Trust. Any securities in the Fund shall be valued at market value as of no more than 60 days before the anniversary date of the establishment of the Fund. The failure of the Grantor to object in writing to the Trustee within 90 days after the statement has been furnished to the Grantor and the NRC shall constitute a conclusively binding assent by the Grantor, barring the Grantor from asserting any claim or liability against the Trustee with respect to the matters disclosed in the statement.

Section 11. Advice of Counsel. The Trustee may from time to time consult with counsel, who may be counsel to the Grantor, with respect to any question arising as to the construction of this Agreement or any action to be taken hereunder. The Trustee shall be fully protected, to the extent permitted by law, in acting on the advice of counsel.

<u>Section 12</u>. <u>Trustee Compensation</u>. The Trustee shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for its services as agreed upon in writing from time to time with the Grantor. (See Schedule C.)

Section 13. Successor Trustee. The Trustee may resign or the Grantor may replace the Trustee, but such resignation or replacement shall not be effective until the Grantor has appointed a successor Trustee and this successor accepts the appointment. The successor Trustee shall have the same powers and duties as thuse conferred upon the Trustee hereunder. Upon the successor Trustee's acceptance of the appointment, the Trustee shall assign, transfer, and pay over to the successor Trustee the funds and properties then constituting the Fund. If for any reason the Grantor cannot or does not act in the event of the resignation of the Trustee, the Trustee may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee or for instructions. The successor Trustee shall specify the date on which it assumes administration of the trust in a writing sent to the Grantor, the NRC, and the present Trustee by certified mail 10 days before such change becomes affective. Any expenses incurred by the Trustee as a result of any of the acts contemplated by this section shall be paid as provided in Section 9.

Section 14. Instructions to the Trustee. All orders, requests, and instructions by the Grantor to the Trustee shall be in writing, signed by such persons as are designated in the attached Exhibit A or such other designees as the Grantor may designate by amendment to Exhibit A. The Trustee shall be fully protected in acting without inquiry in accordance with the Grantor's orders, requests, and instructions. All orders, requests, and instructions by the NRC to the Trustee shall be in writing, signed by the NRC, or its designees, and the Trustee shall act and shall be fully protected in acting in accordance with such orders, requests, and instructions. The Trustee shall have the right to assume, in the absence of written notice to the contrary, that no event constituting a change or a termination of the authority of any person to act on behalf of the Grantor or the NRC hereunder has occurred. The Trustee shall have no duty to act in the absence of such orders, requests, and instructions from the Grantor and/or the NRC, expect as provided for herein.

Section 15. Notice of Nonpayments. The Trustee shall notify the Grantor and the NRC by certified mail within 10 days following the expiration of the 30-day period after the anniversary of the establishment rethe trust, if no payment is received from the Grantor during that period. Fiter the pay-in period is completed, the Trustee shall not be required to send a notice of nonpayment.

Section 16. Amendment of Agreement. This Agreement may be amended by an instrument in writing executed by the Grantor, the Trustee, and the NRC, or by the Trustee and the NRC, if the Grantor ceases to exist.

Section 17. Irrevocability and Termination. Subject to the right of the parties to amend this Agreement as provided in Section 16, this Trust shall be irrevocable and shall continue until terminated at the written agreement of the Grantor, the Trustee, and the NRC or by the Trustee and the NRC, if the Grantor ceases to exist. Upon termination of the Trust, all remaining trust property, less final trust administration expenses, shall be delivered to the Grantor.

Section 18. Immunity and Indemnification. The Trustee shall not incur personal liability of any nature in connection with any act or omission, made in good faith, in the administration of this Trust, or in carrying out any directions by the Grantor or the NRC issued in accordance with this Agreement. The Trustee shall be indemnified and saved harmless by the Grantor or from the trust fund, or both, from and against any personal liability to which the Trustee may be subjected by reason of any act or conduct in its official capacity, including all expenses reasonably incurred in its defense in the event the Grantor fails to provide such defense.

Section 19. Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be administered, construed, and enforced according to the laws of the State of [insert name of State].

Section 20. Interpretation. As used in this Agreement, words in the singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular. The descriptive headings for each section of this Agreement shall not affect the interpretation or the legal efficacy of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by their respective officers duly authorized and their corporate seals to be hereunto affixed and attested as of the date first written above.

ATTEST:

[Signature of Grantor]
[Title]

[Title] [Seal]

[Signature of Trustee]
[Title]

ATTEST:

[Title] [Seal]

### SAMPLE SCHEDULE A

This Agreement demonstrates financial assurance for the following cost estimates for the following facilities:

U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION LICENSE NUMBER

NAME OF FACILITY ADDRESS OF FACILITY COST ESTIMATES FOR REGULATORY ASSURANCES DEMONSTRATED BY THIS AGREEMENT

The cost estimates listed here were last adjusted and approved by the NRC on [date].

### SAMPLE SCHEDULE B

The Fund is established initially as consisting of the following property: [\$ dollar amount] as evidenced by [property].

SAMPLE SCHEDULE C

\_\_\_\_\_, Trustee's fees shall be \$\_\_\_\_.

# EXHIBIT A

[The following is an example of the certification of acknowledgement that must accompany the trust agreement for a trust fund.]
STATE OF
COUNTY OF
On this [date], before me, personally came [name of licensee], known, who, being by me duly sworn did depose and say that she/he resides at [address]; that she/he is [title] of [corporation], the corporation described herein and which executed the above instrument; that she/he knows the seal of said association; that the seal affixed to such instrument is such corporate seal; that it was so affixed by order of the Board of Directors of said corporation; and that she/he signed her/his name thereto by like order.
[Signature of notary public]
My Commission Expires: [Date]

# APPENDIX 10.F RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR STANDBY TRUST AGREEMENT

#### RECOMMENDED WORDING FOR STANDBY TRUST AGREEMENT

TRUST AGREEMENT, the Agreement entered into as of [date] by and between [name of NRC licensee], a [name of State] [insert "corporation," "partnership," "association," or "proprietorship"], herein referred to as the "Grantor," and [name of a national bank], the "Trustee."

WHEREAS, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC), an agency of the U.S. Government, pursuant to the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as amended, and the Energy Reorganization Act of 1974, has promulgated regulations in Title 10, Chapter I of the Code of Federal Regulations, Part 61, Subpart E. These regulations, applicable to the Grantor, require that an applicant of the facility provide assurance that funds will be available when needed in accordance with the approved Plan for Site Closure and Stabilization.

WHEREAS, the Grantor has elected to establish a [insert "letter of credit," "surety bond," or "parent guarantee"] to provide all or part of such financial assurance for the facilities identified herein; and

WHEREAS, when payment is made under a [insert "letter of credit," "surety bond," or "parent guarantee"], this standby trust shall be used for the receipt of such payment; and

WHEREAS, the Grantor has elected to establish a standby trust to provide all or part of such financial assurance for the facilities identified herein; and

WHEREAS, the Grantor, acting through its duly authorized officers, has selected the Trustee to be the trustee under this Agreement, and the Trustee is willing to act as trustee,

NOW, THEREFORE, the Grantor and the Trustee agree as follows:

Section 1. Definitions. As used in this Agreement:

- (a) The term "Grantor" means the NRC licensee who enters into this Agreement and any successors or assigns of the Grantor.
- (b) The term "Trustee" means the trustee who enters into this Agreement and any successor Trustee.
- <u>Section 2</u>. <u>Identification of Facilities and Cost Estimates</u>. This Agreement pertains to the facilities and cost estimates identified in License Number [insert license number] and shown in Schedule A.
- Section 3. Establishment of Fund. The Grantor and the Trustee hereby establish a standby trust fund (the Fund) for the benefit of the NRC. The Grantor and the Trustee intend that no third party have access to the Fund except as provided herein.
- Section 4. Payments Constituting the Fund. Payments made to the Trustee for the Fund shall consist of cash or securities acceptable to the Trustee. The Fund is established initially as consisting of the property, which is

acceptable to the Trustee, described in Schedule B attached hereto. Such property and any other property subsequently transferred to the Trustee are referred to as the "Fund," together with all earnings and profits thereon, less any payments or distributions made by the Trustee pursuant to this Agreement. The Fund shall be held by the Trustee, IN TRUST, as hereinafter provided. The Trustee shall not be responsible nor shall it undertake any responsibility for the amount or adequacy of, nor any duty to collect from the Grantor, any payments necessary to discharge any liabilities of the Grantor established by the NRC.

Section 5. Payment for Required Activities Specified in the Plan. The Trustee shall make payments from the Fund as the NRC shall direct, in writing, to provide for the payment of the costs of required activities covered by this Agreement. The Trustee shall reimburse the Grantor or other persons as specified by the NRC from the Fund for expenditures for required activities in such amounts as the NRC shall direct in writing. In addition, the Trustee shall refund to the Grantor such amounts as the NRC specifies in writing. Upon refund, such funds shall no longer constitute part of the Fund as defined herein.

Section 6. Trustee Management. The Trustee shall invest and reinvest the principal and income of the Fund and keep the Fund invested as a single fund, without distinction between principal and income, in accordance with general investment policies and guidelines which the Grantor may communicate in writing to the Trustee from time to time, subject, however, to the provisions of this section. In investing, reinvesting, exchanging, selling, and managing the Fund, the Trustee shall discharge its duties with respect to the Fund solely in the interest of the beneficiary and with the care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstance then prevailing which persons of prudence, acting in a like capacity and familiar with such matters, would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims; except that:

- (a) Securities or other obligations of the Grantor, or any other owner or operator of the facilities, or any of their affiliates as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (15 U.S.C. 80a-2(a)), shall not be acquired or held, unless they are securities or other obligations of the Federal or a State government;
- (b) The Trustee is authorized to invest the Fund in time or demand deposits of the Trustee, to the extent insured by an agency of the Federal or State government; and
- (c) The Trustee is authorized to hold cash awaiting investment or distribution uninvested for a reasonable time and without liability for the payment of interest thereon.

<u>Section 7. Commingling and Investment.</u> The Trustee is expressly authorized in its discretion:

(a) To transfer from time to time any or all of the assets of the Fund to any common, commingled, or collective trust fund created by the Trustee in which the Fund is eligible to participate, subject to all of the

- provision thereof, to be commingled with the assets of other trusts participating therein; and
- (b) To purchase shares in any investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940 (15 U.S.C. 80a-1 et seq.), including one that may be created, managed, underwritten, or to which investment advice is rendered, or the shares of which are sold by the Trustee. The Trustee may vote such shares in its discretion.

Section 8. Express Powers of Trustee. Without in any way limiting the powers and discretions conferred upon the Trustee by the other provisions of this Agreement or by law, the Trustee is expressly authorized and empowered:

- (a) To sell, exchange, convey, transfer, or otherwise dispose of any property held by it, by public or private sale. No person dealing with the Trustee shall be bound to see to the application of the purchase money or to inquire into the validity or expediency of any such sale or other disposition;
- (b) To make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any and all documents of transfer and conveyance and any and all other instrument that may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the powers herein granted;
- (c) To register any securities held in the Fund in its own name, or in the name of a nominee and to hold any security in bearer form or in book entry, or to combine certificates representing such securities with certificates of the same issue held by the Trustee in other fiduciary capacities, or to deposit or arrange for the deposit of such securities in a qualified central depository even though, when so deposited, such securities may be merged and held in bulk in the name of the nominee of such depository with other securities deposited therein by another person, or to deposit or arrange for the deposit of any securities issued by the U.S. Government, or any agency or instrumentality thereof, with a Federal Reserve bank, but the books, and records of the Trustee shall at all times show that all such securities are part of the Fund;
- (d) To deposit any cash in the Fund in interest-bearing accounts maintained or savings certificates issued by the Trustee, in its separate corporate capacity, or in any other banking institution affiliated with the Trustee, to the extent insured by an agency of the Federal or State gov~~nment;
- (e) To compromise or otherwise adjust all claims in favor of or against the Fund.

Section 9. Taxes and Expenses. All taxes of any kind that may be assessed or levied against or in respect of the Fund and all brokerage commission incurred by the Fund shall be paid from the Fund. All other expenses incurred by the Trustee in connection with the administration of this Trust, including fees for legal services rendered to the Trustee, the compensation of the Trustee to the extent not paid directly by the Grantor, and all other proper charges and disbursements of the Trustee shall be paid from the Fund.

Section 10. Annual Valuation. After payment has been made into this standby trust fund, the Trustee shall annually, at least 30 days before the anniversary date of receipt of payment into the standby trust fund, furnish to the Grantor and to the NRC a statement confirming the value of the Trust. Any securities in the Fund shall be valued at market value as of no more than 60 days before the anniversary date of the establishment of the Fund. The failure of the Grantor to object in writing to the Trustee within 90 days after the statement has been furnished to the Grantor and the NRC shall constitute a conclusively binding assent by the Grantor, barring the Grantor from asserting any claim or liability against the Trustee with respect to the matters disclosed in the statement.

Section 11. Advice of Counsel. The Trustee may from time to time consult with counsel, who may be counsel to the Grantor, with respect to any question arising as to the construction of this Agreement or any action to be taken hereunder. The Trustee shall be fully protected, to the extent permitted by law, in acting on the advice of counsel.

<u>Section 12</u>. <u>Trustee Compensation</u>. The Trustee shall be entitled to reasonable compensation for its services as agreed upon in writing from time to time with the Grantor. (See Schedule C.)

Section 13. Successor Trustee. The Trustee may resign or the Grantor may replace the Trustee, but such resignation or replacement shall not be effective until the Grantor has appointed a successor Trustee and this successor accepts the appointment. The successor Trustee shall have the same powers and duties as those conferred upon the Trustee hereunder. Upon the successor Trustee's acceptance of the appointment, the Trustee shall assign, transfer, and pay over to the successor Trustee the funds and properties then constituting the Fund. If for any reason the Grantor cannot or does not act in the event of the resignation of the Trustee, the Trustee may apply to a court of competent jurisdiction for the appointment of a successor Trustee or for instructions. The successor Trustee shall specify the date on which it assumes administration of the trust in a writing sent to the Grantor, the NRC, and the present Trustee by certified mail 10 days before such change becomes effective. Any expenses incurred by the Trustee as a result of any of the acts contemplated by this section shall be paid as provided in Section 9.

Section 14. Instructions to the Trustee. All orders, requests, and instructions by the Grantor to the Trustee shall be in writing, signed by such persons as are designated in the attached Exhibit A or such other designees as the Grantor may designate by amendment to Exhibit A. The Trustee shall be fully protected in acting without inquiry in accordance with the Grantor's orders, requests, and instructions. All orders, requests, and instructions by the NRC to the Trustee shall be in writing, signed by the NRC, or its designees, and the Trustee shall act and shall be fully protected in acting in accordance with such orders, requests, and instructions. The Trustee shall have the right to assume, in the absence of written notice to the contrary, that no event constituting a change or a termination of the authority of any person to act on behalf of the Grantor or the NRC hereunder has occurred. The Trustee shall have no duty to act in the absence of such orders, requests, and instructions from the Grantor and/or the NRC, except as provided for herein.

Section 15. Amendment of Agreement. This Agreement may be amended by an instrument in writing executed by the Grantor, the Trustee, and the NRC, or by the Trustee and the NRC, if the Grantor ceases to exist.

Section 16. Irrevocability and Termination. Subject to the right of the parties to amend this Agreement as provided in Section 15, this trust shall be irrevocable and shall continue until terminated at the written agreement of the Grantor, the Trustee, and the NRC, or by the Trustee and the NRC, if the Grantor ceases to exist. Upon termination of the trust, all remaining trust property, less final trust administration expenses, shall be delivered to the Grantor.

Section 17. Immunity and Indemnification. The trustee shall not incur personal liability of any nature in connection with any act or omission, made in good faith, in the administration of this trust, or in carrying out any directions by the Grantor or the NRC issued in accordance with this Agreement. The Trustee shall be indemnified and saved harmless by the Grantor or from the trust fund, or both, from and against any personal liability to which the Trustee may be subjected by reason of any act or conduct in its official capacity, including all expenses reasonably incurred in its defense in the event the Grantor fails to provide such defense.

Section 18. Choice of Law. This Agreement shall be administered, construed, and enforced according to the laws of the State of [insert name of State].

Section 19. Interpretation. As used in this Agreement, words in the singular include the plural and words in the plural include the singular. The descriptive headings for each section of this Agreement shall not affect the interpretation or the legal efficacy of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have caused this Agreement to be executed by the irrespective officers duly authorized and the incorporate seals to be hereunto affixed and attested as of the date first written above.

ATTEST:

[Signature of Grantor]
[Title]

[Title] [Seal]

[Signature of Trustee]
[Title]

ATTEST:

[Title] [Seal]

## SAMPLE SCHEDULE A

This Agreement demonstrates estimates for the following	financial facilities	assurance	for	the	following cost
U.S. NUCLEAR					COST ESTIMATES

U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION LICENSE NUMBER

NAME OF FACILITY ADDRESS OF FACILITY

COST ESTIMATES FOR REGULATORY ASSURANCES DEMONSTRATED BY THIS AGREEMENT

The cost estimates listed here were last adjusted and approved by the NRC on  $[date]. \label{eq:nrc}$ 

## SAMPLE SCHEDULE B

AMOUNT

AS EVIDENCED BY

## SAMPLE SCHEDULE C

\_\_\_\_\_, Trustee's fees shall be \$ \_\_\_\_\_.

# EXHIBIT A

[The following is an example of the certification of acknowledgement that must accompany the trust agreement for a standby trust fund.]
STATE OF
To Wit:
CITY OF
On this day of, before me, a notary public in and for the city and State aforesaid, personally appeared, and she/he did depose and say that she/he is the [title], of [], national banking association, Trustee, which executed the above instrument; that she/he knows the seal of said association; that the seal affixed to such instrument is such corporate seal; that it was so affixed by order of the association; and that she/he signed her/his name thereto by like order.
[Signature of notary public]
My Commission Expires: [Date]

#### References

- U.S. Department of Commerce, <u>Survey of Current Business</u>, Bureau of Economic Analysis, Wash., D.C. 02230, <u>Monthly</u>.
- U.S. Department of the Treasury, Circular 570, "Companies Accepted on Federal Boards," Washington, D.C., 20220. Annual published in <u>Federal Register</u>, always in July.

Code of Federal Regulations, Title 10, "Energy"; Title 12, "Banks and Banking"; and Title 49, "Transportation," U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C., revised annually.

International Chamber of Commerce, Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits, Paris, France, 1983 (updated about every 8 years).

Lawyers' Cooperative Publishing Co., "Uniform Commercial Code," Rochester, N.Y., 1985 updated annually through 1987.

#### 11 REFERENCES

Code of Federal Regulations, Title 10, "Energy," and Title 49, "Transportation," U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC, revised annually.

International Commission on Radiological Protection, Publication 30, <u>Limits for Intakes of Radionuclides by Workers</u>, Part 1, Pergamon Press, Oxford, England, July 1978.

Low-Level Waste Policy Act (Public Law 96-573), December 22, 1980.

National Fire Protection Association, NFPA 801-1986, "Recommended Fire Protection Practice for Facilities Handling Radioactive Materials," Quincy, MA.

- ---, NFPA 901-1981, "Uniform Coding for Fire Protection," Quincy, MA.
- U.S. Atomic Energy Commission, WASH-1283, "Guidance on Quality Assurance Requirements During Design and Procurement Phase of Nuclear Power Plants," Rev. 1, June 24, 1974.
- ---, WASH-1284, "Guidance on Quality Assurance Requirements During the Operations Phase of Nuclear Power Plants," October 1973.
- ---, WASH-1309, "Guidance on Quality Assurance Requirements During the Construction Phase of Nuclear Power Plants," May 10, 1974.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, EPA-520/1-75-001, "Manual of Protective Action Guides and Protective Actions for Nuclear Incidents," draft revision, June 1980.
- U.S. Geological Survey and U.S. Bureau of Mines, "Principles of a Resource/Reserve Classification for Minerals," USGS Circular 831, 1980.
- U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Draft Regulatory Guide, "Guidelines for Site Closure and Stabilization of LLW Disposal Sites," August 1985.
- ---, Draft Regulatory Guide Task ES 401-4, "Onsite Meteorological Measurement Program for Uranium Recovery Facilities Data Acquisition and Reporting," September 1985.
- ---, NUREG-0902, "Site Suitability, Selection, and Characterization," April 1982.
- ---, NUREG-1293, "Quality Assurance Guidance for Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility," Dreft November 1987.
- ---, NUREG/CR-1918, "Dose Rate Conversion Factors for External Exposure to Photons and Electrons," D. C. Kocher, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, August 1981.

- ---, NUREG/CR-3756, "Seismic Hazard Characterization of the Eastern United States, Ten Sites," D. L. Bernreuter, J. B. Savy, R. W. Mensing, and D. H. Chung, Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, April 1984.
- ---, NUREG/CR-5041, "Recommendations to the NRC for Review Criteria for Alternative Methods of Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal," Vols. 1 and 2, R. H. Denson, R. D. Bennett, R. M. Wamsley, D. L. Bean, and D. L. Ainsworth, U.S. Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, December 1987 (V.1) and January 1988 (V.2).
- ---, Regulatory Guide 1.59, "Design Basis Floods for Nuclear Power Plants."
- ---, Regulatory Guide 1.69, "Concrete Radiation Shields for Nuclear Power Plants."
- ---, Regulatory Guide 1.86, "Termination of Operating Licenses for Nuclear Power Reactors."
- ---, Regulatory Guide 1.109, "Calculation of Annual Doses to Man From Routine Releases of Reactor Effluents for the Purpose of Evaluating Compliance With 10 CFR Part 50, Appendix I."
- ---, Regulatory Guide 1.132, "Site Investigations for Foundations of Nuclear Power Plants."
- ---, Regulatory Guide 1.138, "Laboratory Investigations of Soils for Engineering Analysis and Design of Nuclear Power Plants."
- ---, Regulatory Guide 4.18, "Standard Format and Content of Environmental Reports for Near-Surface Disposal of Radioactive Waste."
- ---, Regulatory Guide 8.8, "Information Relevant to Ensuring That Occupational Radiation Exposures at Nuclear Power Stations Will Be As Low As Is Reasonably Achievable."
- ---, "Standard Review Plan for UMTRCA Title 1 Mill Tailing Remedial Action Plans," October 1982.
- ---, Technical Position Paper, "Low-Level Waste Burial Ground Site Closure and Stabilization," Rev. 1, May 17, 1979.
- ---, Technical Position Paper, "Funding Assurances for Closure, Postclosure, and Long-Term Care of a Low-Level Waste Disposal Facility," June 1982.
- ---, Technical Position Paper, "Near-Surface Disposal Facility Design and Operation," November 1982.

IRC FORM 336 2-84) IRCM 1102. 201, 3202 BIBLIOGRAPHIC DATA SHEET	NUREG-1199, Rev. 1			
EE INSTRUCTIONS ON THE REVERSE				
TITLE AND SUBTITLE	3 LEAVE BLANK			
Standard Format and Content of a License Application for a Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal		Liberton L		
Facility	4 DATE REPORT COMPLETED			
AUTHOR(S)	January	1988		
	6. DATE REPORT ISSUED			
	MONTH	YEAR		
	January	1988		
PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS (Include 2.0 Code)	8 PROJECT/TASK/WORK UNIT	NUMBER		
Division of Low Level Waste Management and Decommissioning Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, DC 20555	9 FIN OR GRANT NUMBER			
10. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS (Include Zip Code)	11. TYPE OF REPORT			
	Technical			
SAME AS ABOVE	b. PERIOD COVERED (Inclusive dates)			
12 SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES				

The standard Format and Content of a License Application for a Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility, NUREG-1199, discusses the information to be provided in the Safety Analysis Report and establishes a uniform format for presenting the information required to meet the licensing requirements for land disposal of radioactive waste as required by 10 CFR 61.

The use of the Standard Format will (1) help ensure that the Safety Analysis Report (SAR) contains the information required by 10 CFR 61, (2) aid the applicant in ensuring that the information is complete, (3) help persons reading the SAR to locate information, and (4) contribute to shortening the time required for the review process.

The standard Format and Content (NUREG-1199) ensures that the information

format while the ew process.
15 AVAILABILITY STATEMENT
Unlimited
16 SECURITY CLASSIFICATIO
(This page)
Unclassified (The report)
Unclassified
18 PRICE